
 

 

TUSCARORA TOWNSHIP 
3546 S. Straits Hwy, Indian River, MI  49749 

November 11, 2025   7:00 PM REGULAR MEETING 
PROPOSED AGENDA 

1. Call to order  
2. Pledge to flag 
3. Roll call 
4. Board member conflict of interest statement (if applicable) 
5. Public comment on agenda items (3 minutes per individual)  
6. Approval of meeting agenda 
7. Approval of previous minutes from October 14, 2025 Regular Meeting 
8. Reports 

a. Sewer update from Performance Engineers 
b. Update with Mead & Hunt 
c. Bills 
d. Treasurer report 
e. Correspondence - 0 
f. Airport 
g. DDA-Dan Nivelt, DDA Board member 
h. FOIA - 4 
i. Library-Kelsey Rutkowski, Director 
j. Parks-Stacey Cole  
k. Police-Chief Gordon Temple  

9. Old business 
a. Transient merchant ordinance, updated application and guidelines 
b. RFP for legal 
c. RFP for O&M  
d. Update on sewer rate study with Bendzinski 
e. Boiler repair options 
f. Change in trash service companies & purchase of dumpster 
g. CIP updates – road project 
h. RFB for WWTP cold storage 
i. Update on health insurance policy for deceased employees 
j. 250th celebration – fireworks 
k. Review of July 8, 2025 budget amendments 

10. New business  
a. Sewer construction bills & change orders – Phase I, Phase II, WWTP 
b. Northstar road abandonment  
c. Sewer Ordinance No 28 – clarification of connection date 
d. Credit card 
e. Election workers and rate of pay 
f. Office coverage 

11. Public comments (3 minutes per individual) 
12. Board comments 
13. Adjournment 



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Meeting Minutes 

  



 

 

TUSCARORA TOWNSHIP 
3546 S. Straits Hwy, Indian River, MI  49749 

October 14, 2025   7:00 PM REGULAR MEETING 
PROPOSED MEETING MINUTES 

 
Call to order: Supervisor Maves called the meeting to order at 7:05 pm and led the pledge of 
allegiance.  
 
Roll call: Present: Fisher, Maves, Hutchison, and Smith. Absent: Decker. There is a quorum. 
 
Board member conflict of interest statement (if applicable) – none. 

 
Public comment on agenda items (3 minutes per individual)  
10d – Charter where did the equipment go. 
 
Approval of meeting agenda with changes of 10b - adding invoice for Performance Engineers, 
9k – add estimate for basins, and before 8a – Steve update on sewer. 
Motion: Fisher   Support: Hutchison  Approved: All in favor 

 
Approval of previous minutes from September 25, 2025 Special Meeting. 
Motion: Fisher   Support: Smith  Approved: All in favor 
 
Steve from Performance Engineers gave an update on the sewer project and change orders. 
 
Bills – 12 invoices for a total of $17,338.98 & payroll for November 2024 – October 14, 2025.  
Motion: Fisher   Support: Hutchison  Approved: All in favor 
Requesting a breakdown of the Plante Moran bill be presented at the November board 
meeting and where do we stand on the 4 items in the engagement letter.  
 
Treasurer report – Pool account balanced through September. KCI bill for $2,980.72 for 
winter taxes. Need to pay $2,151.40 upfront for postage. Check with KCI to see if they can 
group tax bills for the same person together to save on postage. 
Motion: Smith   Support: Hutchison  Approved: All in favor 
 
Correspondence - 2 
 
DDA – continuing to work on safe pathway. 
 
Airport – provided training space for several different sheriff and police departments. The 
contractors did a nice job on terminal building.  
 
FOIA - 2  
 
Library – Helen Miller, board of trustees reported on events for October and November. 
Christmas in Indian River will be November 28. Plans for the reading garden include breaking 
ground in the spring. 



 

 

Parks – both scoreboards are here and being installed. Remaining grant money to be spent 
on updating to LED lights. Hoodies have been ordered for parks employees. The new 
dumpster is ready. A new employee hired for fall cleanup. Parks meeting on 11/4 will be in the 
library due to elections. 
 
Police – Chief Gordon Temple reported that they are still looking for another police officer. 
Grant money has been made available for the police academy. The boilers will need to be 
replumbed for about $800 so they do not receive water softener water.  
 
Old business: 
Update on airport water damage claim – the terminal building has been completed. The 
airport has some ideas to increase usage. Total received on insurance claim $23,257 (total 
claim $24,257, less $1,000 deductible). Ask the auditors how this can be presented in 
financial reports. Currently most of the revenue shows up in one fiscal year and most of the 
expenses in a different fiscal year. 
 
Library quit claim deed signed and notarized.  
 
Update on health insurance policy for deceased employees. FOP letter of understanding to 
be added to their contract. Township will piggyback off that letter. Tabled to November. 
 
Transient merchant ordinance, updated application and guidelines. A handout was given to 
board members for review. Attorney review will be needed. Tabled to November.  
 
Pumps & communications lift stations transfer from RRI $42,189.91 to sewer pool. 
Motion: Fisher   Support: Hutchison  Approved: All in favor 
 
Update on WWTP well pump replacement – To accept the estimate for $22,976.00 from 
Ramsby Drilling, Inc. 
Motion: Fisher   Support: Hutchison  Approved: All in favor 
 
Transfer funds for 2 quarterly RRI payments for a total of $14,440 from Addtl REU monies. 
Motion: Smith   Support: Hutchison  Approved: All in favor 
 
RFP for legal – submit last years RFP again this time for 3 years. 
Motion: Smith   Support: Hutchison  Approved: All in favor 
 
RFP for O&M (separate contracts for WWTP expansion, consulting) 
Bring back an official proposal for the November meeting with the $3,000 increase per month 
for O&M. (New rate $9,800 per month.) 
 
RFB for WWTP cold storage – bring back to November meeting. 
 
Contract for WWTP rapid infiltration basins cleanout for 3 ribs this fall. Award the contract to 
GFL and take the money from Addtl REU. 
Motion: Fisher   Support: Smith  Approved: All in favor 



 

 

 
New business:  
250th Celebration. For the subcommittee have a representative from the DDA, parks, 
chamber, school, and member from the general public. (current budget $15,000) 
Motion: Fisher   Support: Smith  Approved: All in favor 
 
Sewer construction bills & change orders – Phase I, Phase II, WWTP. 
Elmer’s - $125,981.20 
Grand Traverse Construction - $248,740.61 
Matt’s Underground - $84,437.28 
Walton Contracting - $138,202.11 
Performance Engineers, Inc. - $43,757.25 
Change orders #3 for Elmer’s, #5 for Matt’s, and #1 Waltons. 
Motion: Smith   Support: Hutchison  Approved: All in favor 
 
Sewer rate study proposal – to hire Bendzinski & Co. for sewer rate and special assessment 
analysis. For 2025, $9,750 from Addtl REU. Start working on proposal as soon as Bendzinski 
can schedule the meeting. Maybe have a special meeting or workshop for the whole board 
can be included. 
Motion: Smith   Support: Fisher  Approved: All in favor 
 
Charter franchise renewal – received letter of intent to renew that expires in July, 2028. 
 
DDA bylaw changes included changes of requirement of a resident within the district, added 
requirement of taking the oath of office, added the number of years in a term of office, and 
removal of requirement that members may not serve in the same office for more than two 
consecutive terms and added a timeline if election is missed in May. 
Motion: Hutchison   Support: Smith  Approved: All in favor 
 
Public comments (3 minutes per individual)  
Update on county planning commission survey for Cheboygan County. 
 
Board comments – none. 
 
Motion to adjourn at 8:49 pm. 
Motion: Smith      Approved: All in favor 
 
Recording Secretary, Chris Green 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Laura Decker, Clerk 
Trudy Maves, Supervisor 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Reports 

  



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bills/Invoices/Revenue & Expenditure Report 

  



















































































BALANCE SHEET FOR TUSCARORA TWP 1/14Page:11/06/2025 01:43 PM
User: CHRIS
DB: Tuscarora

Period Ending 10/31/2025

                                     Fund 101 GENERAL FUND

BalanceDescriptionGL Number

*** Assets ***

642,235.32 POOL101-000-001.02
250.00 PETTY CASH101-000-004.00

1,250.00 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE101-000-040.00
57,221.00 DUE FROM STATE OF MICHIGAN101-000-078.00
(87,449.22)DUE FROM SOM COMMUNITY CENTER GRANT101-000-078.01
(37,112.48)DUE FROM OTHER UNITS OF GOVT.101-000-081.00

2,729.23 DUE FROM OTHER FUNDS101-000-084.00
(144,809.13)DUE FROM TAX FUND101-000-084.02
351,220.12 DUE FROM SEWER101-000-084.90
49,117.20 PREPAID EXPENDITURES101-000-123.00
124,885.00 LEASE RECEIVABLE101-000-189.00

959,537.04 Total Assets

*** Liabilities ***

52,264.87 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE101-000-202.00
78.56 DUE TO LOCAL SCHOOLS101-000-225.00

1,600.00 DUE TO CUSTOMER - MR OVERPAYMENTS101-000-275.00
(51,606.25)UNEARNED REVENUE YOUTH GRANT101-000-339.00
(87,449.22)UNEARNED REVENUE COMMUNITY GRANT101-000-339.01
122,617.00 LEASE DEFERRED INFLOW101-000-361.00

37,504.96 Total Liabilities

*** Fund Balance ***

16,554.18 V.P. BRICK FUND BALANCE-ASSIGNE101-000-388.00
1,106,357.14 FUND BALANCE101-000-390.00

1,122,911.32 Total Fund Balance

* Year Not Closed

1,088,517.07 *24-25 End FB/25-26 Beg FB

1,122,911.32 Beginning Fund Balance - 24-25

(166,484.99)Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - Current Year
922,032.08 Ending Fund Balance
959,537.04 Total Liabilities And Fund Balance

(34,394.25)Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - 24-25



BALANCE SHEET FOR TUSCARORA TWP 2/14Page:11/06/2025 01:43 PM
User: CHRIS
DB: Tuscarora

Period Ending 10/31/2025

                                     Fund 206 FIRE FUND

BalanceDescriptionGL Number

*** Assets ***

(9,653.55)POOL206-000-001.02
(5.02)DUE FROM TAX FUND206-000-084.02

(9,658.57)Total Assets

*** Liabilities ***

0.00 Total Liabilities

*** Fund Balance ***

24.77 FUND BALANCE RESTRICTED206-000-375.00

24.77 Total Fund Balance

* Year Not Closed

(9,658.57)*24-25 End FB/25-26 Beg FB

24.77 Beginning Fund Balance - 24-25

0.00 Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - Current Year
(9,658.57)Ending Fund Balance
(9,658.57)Total Liabilities And Fund Balance

(9,683.34)Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - 24-25



BALANCE SHEET FOR TUSCARORA TWP 3/14Page:11/06/2025 01:43 PM
User: CHRIS
DB: Tuscarora

Period Ending 10/31/2025

                                     Fund 207 POLICE FUND

BalanceDescriptionGL Number

*** Assets ***

468,084.46 POOL207-000-001.02
200.00 PETTY CASH ACCOUNT207-000-004.00

27,729.18 PREPAID EXPENDITURES207-000-123.00

496,013.64 Total Assets

*** Liabilities ***

35,478.00 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE207-000-202.00
735.00 DUE TO OTHER UNITS OF GOVT.207-000-230.00

4,000.00 UNEARNED REVENUE207-000-339.00

40,213.00 Total Liabilities

*** Fund Balance ***

745,717.82 POLICE FUND BALANCE RESTRICTED207-000-375.00

745,717.82 Total Fund Balance

* Year Not Closed

877,329.99 *24-25 End FB/25-26 Beg FB

745,717.82 Beginning Fund Balance - 24-25

(421,529.35)Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - Current Year
455,800.64 Ending Fund Balance
496,013.64 Total Liabilities And Fund Balance

131,612.17 Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - 24-25



BALANCE SHEET FOR TUSCARORA TWP 4/14Page:11/06/2025 01:43 PM
User: CHRIS
DB: Tuscarora

Period Ending 10/31/2025

                                     Fund 219 STREET LIGHTING FUND

BalanceDescriptionGL Number

*** Assets ***

7,574.33 POOL219-000-001.02

7,574.33 Total Assets

*** Liabilities ***

194.39 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE219-000-202.00

194.39 Total Liabilities

*** Fund Balance ***

13,291.46 FUND BALANCE - RESTRICTED219-000-375.00

13,291.46 Total Fund Balance

* Year Not Closed

15,384.01 *24-25 End FB/25-26 Beg FB

13,291.46 Beginning Fund Balance - 24-25

(8,004.07)Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - Current Year
7,379.94 Ending Fund Balance
7,574.33 Total Liabilities And Fund Balance

2,092.55 Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - 24-25



BALANCE SHEET FOR TUSCARORA TWP 5/14Page:11/06/2025 01:43 PM
User: CHRIS
DB: Tuscarora

Period Ending 10/31/2025

                                     Fund 248 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

BalanceDescriptionGL Number

*** Assets ***

114,580.76 POOL248-000-001.02
10,043.89 DDA USDA LOAN IMMA248-000-002.01
32,400.00 DDA USDA BOND RESERVE248-000-002.04

157,024.65 Total Assets

*** Liabilities ***

0.00 Total Liabilities

*** Fund Balance ***

119,064.88 FUND BALANCE248-000-390.00

119,064.88 Total Fund Balance

* Year Not Closed

432,705.10 *24-25 End FB/25-26 Beg FB

119,064.88 Beginning Fund Balance - 24-25

(275,680.45)Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - Current Year
157,024.65 Ending Fund Balance
157,024.65 Total Liabilities And Fund Balance

313,640.22 Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - 24-25



BALANCE SHEET FOR TUSCARORA TWP 6/14Page:11/06/2025 01:43 PM
User: CHRIS
DB: Tuscarora

Period Ending 10/31/2025

                                     Fund 271 LIBRARY FUND

BalanceDescriptionGL Number

*** Assets ***

204,613.45 POOL271-000-001.02
28,151.52 CNB IMMA 5108271-000-002.02
44,034.57 READING GARDEN - LIBRARY271-000-002.03

300.00 PETTY CASH271-000-004.00
63,094.55 COMMUNITY FOUNDATION (DONOR)271-000-005.00
54,061.37 COMMUNITY FOUNDATION (AGENCY)271-000-017.00
57,431.23 INVESTMENTS - LPL271-000-017.03
52,625.34 INVESTMENTS - MICHIGAN CLASS271-000-017.04

241.22 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE271-000-040.00
964.66 DUE FROM SOM271-000-078.00

3,110.85 PREPAID EXPENDITURES271-000-123.00

508,628.76 Total Assets

*** Liabilities ***

3,795.49 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE271-000-202.00

3,795.49 Total Liabilities

*** Fund Balance ***

505,295.68 FUND BALANCE271-000-390.00

505,295.68 Total Fund Balance

* Year Not Closed

502,892.97 *24-25 End FB/25-26 Beg FB

505,295.68 Beginning Fund Balance - 24-25

1,940.30 Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - Current Year
504,833.27 Ending Fund Balance
508,628.76 Total Liabilities And Fund Balance

(2,402.71)Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - 24-25



BALANCE SHEET FOR TUSCARORA TWP 7/14Page:11/06/2025 01:43 PM
User: CHRIS
DB: Tuscarora

Period Ending 10/31/2025

                                     Fund 282 ARPA FUND

BalanceDescriptionGL Number

*** Assets ***

1,226.93 POOL282-000-001.02

1,226.93 Total Assets

*** Liabilities ***

1,226.48 UNEARNED REVENUE282-000-339.00

1,226.48 Total Liabilities

*** Fund Balance ***

0.45 FUND BALANCE ARPA282-000-390.00

0.45 Total Fund Balance

* Year Not Closed

0.45 *24-25 End FB/25-26 Beg FB
0.00 Fund Balance Adjustments - 24-25

0.00 Fund Balance Adjustments

0.45 Beginning Fund Balance - 24-25

0.00 Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - Current Year

0.45 Ending Fund Balance
1,226.93 Total Liabilities And Fund Balance

0.00 Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - 24-25



BALANCE SHEET FOR TUSCARORA TWP 8/14Page:11/06/2025 01:43 PM
User: CHRIS
DB: Tuscarora

Period Ending 10/31/2025

                                     Fund 502 BOAT LAUNCH

BalanceDescriptionGL Number

*** Assets ***

153,941.98 POOL502-000-001.02

153,941.98 Total Assets

*** Liabilities ***

0.00 Total Liabilities

*** Fund Balance ***

127,884.37 FUND BALANCE (RESTRICTED)502-000-390.00

127,884.37 Total Fund Balance

* Year Not Closed

143,407.46 *24-25 End FB/25-26 Beg FB

127,884.37 Beginning Fund Balance - 24-25

10,534.52 Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - Current Year
153,941.98 Ending Fund Balance
153,941.98 Total Liabilities And Fund Balance

15,523.09 Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - 24-25



BALANCE SHEET FOR TUSCARORA TWP 9/14Page:11/06/2025 01:43 PM
User: CHRIS
DB: Tuscarora

Period Ending 10/31/2025

                                     Fund 590 SEWER FUND

BalanceDescriptionGL Number

*** Assets ***

(109,135.14)POOL - SEWER OPERATING590-000-001.02
342,041.43 SEWER SPECIAL ASSESSMENT590-000-002.00
56,903.46 RRI ACCOUNT590-000-003.01
476,597.14 SEWER ADDL REU590-000-003.02

500.00 PNC SEWER PHASE 1 CONSTRUCTION590-000-003.11
2,338.48 PHASE 1 SPECIAL ASSESSMENT590-000-003.12

500.00 PNC SEWER PHASE 2 CONSTRUCTION590-000-003.21
173.57 PHASE 2 SPECIAL ASSESSMENT590-000-003.22
106.25 SEWER PHASE II - EPA FUNDS590-000-003.23

23,722.96 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE590-000-033.01
7,181.32 RECEIVABLE DEL O & M590-000-033.02

1,669,945.19 SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS RECEIVABLE590-000-045.00
(18,759.83)DUE FROM SOM - EGLE590-000-078.00

2,374,061.74 DUE FROM USDA '24 PHASE 2590-000-080.02
209,788.96 DUE FROM USDA GRANT PHASE 1590-000-081.00
202,293.28 DUE FROM TAX FUND590-000-084.02

7,594.76 PREPAID EXPENDITURES590-000-123.00
178,618.00 LAND590-000-130.00

6,107,004.60 SEWER PLANT590-000-154.00
(1,038,705.60)ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION-SEWER PLANT590-000-155.00

6,681.00 SOFTWARE590-000-156.00
7,494,829.27 CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS590-000-158.00
2,341,497.84 CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS PHASE II590-000-158.02

20,335,778.68 Total Assets

*** Liabilities ***

7,217.38 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE590-000-202.00
353,949.35 DUE TO OTHER FUNDS590-000-214.00
63,000.00 CURRENT PORTION LONG TERM DEBT590-000-250.00
5,000.00 CURRENT DEBT USDA - '24 SEWER PHASE 1590-000-250.01

(7,564.37)ACCRUED INTEREST590-000-251.00
1,540,000.00 USDA LOAN - '14 BUSINESS590-000-307.00
3,476,000.00 USDA LOAN - '24 NEW PHASE 1590-000-307.01
3,441,000.00 USDA LOAN - '24 PHASE 2590-000-307.02

(11,259.83)DEFERRED REVENUE590-000-339.00

8,867,342.53 Total Liabilities

*** Fund Balance ***

1,647,284.00 DEBT SERVICE FUND BALANCE RESTRI590-000-392.00
96,470.00 RRI FUND BALANCE RESTRICTED590-000-393.00
257,754.00 ADDL REU FUND BALANCE RESTRICTED590-000-394.00

3,883,895.91 NET ASSETS590-000-399.00

5,885,403.91 Total Fund Balance

* Year Not Closed

10,110,206.95 *24-25 End FB/25-26 Beg FB
(43,814.88)Fund Balance Adjustments - 24-25

0.00 Fund Balance Adjustments

5,929,218.79 Beginning Fund Balance - 24-25

1,358,229.20 Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - Current Year

11,468,436.15 Ending Fund Balance
20,335,778.68 Total Liabilities And Fund Balance

4,224,803.04 Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - 24-25



BALANCE SHEET FOR TUSCARORA TWP 10/14Page:11/06/2025 01:43 PM
User: CHRIS
DB: Tuscarora

Period Ending 10/31/2025

                                     Fund 591 WATER FUND

BalanceDescriptionGL Number

*** Assets ***

150.00 POOL591-000-001.02

150.00 Total Assets

*** Liabilities ***

0.00 Total Liabilities

*** Fund Balance ***

0.00 Total Fund Balance

* Year Not Closed

3,950.00 *24-25 End FB/25-26 Beg FB

0.00 Beginning Fund Balance - 24-25

(3,800.00)Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - Current Year
150.00 Ending Fund Balance
150.00 Total Liabilities And Fund Balance

3,950.00 Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - 24-25



BALANCE SHEET FOR TUSCARORA TWP 11/14Page:11/06/2025 01:43 PM
User: CHRIS
DB: Tuscarora

Period Ending 10/31/2025

                                     Fund 703 CURRENT TAX COLLECTION FUND

BalanceDescriptionGL Number

*** Assets ***

792,312.13 CHECKING703-000-001.00

792,312.13 Total Assets

*** Liabilities ***

509,146.37 DUE TO COUNTY703-000-222.00
226,802.02 DUE TO LOCAL SCHOOLS703-000-225.00
55,941.82 DUE TO GENERAL FUND703-000-226.01

421.92 DUE TO STATE OF MICHIGAN703-000-228.00

792,312.13 Total Liabilities

*** Fund Balance ***

0.00 Total Fund Balance

* Year Not Closed

0.00 *24-25 End FB/25-26 Beg FB

0.00 Beginning Fund Balance - 24-25

0.00 Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - Current Year
0.00 Ending Fund Balance

792,312.13 Total Liabilities And Fund Balance

0.00 Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - 24-25



BALANCE SHEET FOR TUSCARORA TWP 12/14Page:11/06/2025 01:43 PM
User: CHRIS
DB: Tuscarora

Period Ending 10/31/2025

                                     Fund 860 SPECIAL ASSESSMENT

BalanceDescriptionGL Number

*** Assets ***

(2,729.23)POOL860-000-001.02
18,827.00 SAD WAHBEE860-000-045.01
72,558.64 SAD PROSP/CHIPPEWA860-000-045.02
72,033.23 DUE FROM OTHER FUNDS860-000-084.00

160,689.64 Total Assets

*** Liabilities ***

18,827.00 SAD WAHBEE860-000-361.01
72,558.64 SAD PROSP/CHIPPEWA860-000-361.02

91,385.64 Total Liabilities

*** Fund Balance ***

125,046.83 FUND BALANCE RESTRICTED860-000-379.00

125,046.83 Total Fund Balance

* Year Not Closed

72,033.23 *24-25 End FB/25-26 Beg FB

125,046.83 Beginning Fund Balance - 24-25

(2,729.23)Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - Current Year
69,304.00 Ending Fund Balance
160,689.64 Total Liabilities And Fund Balance

(53,013.60)Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - 24-25



BALANCE SHEET FOR TUSCARORA TWP 13/14Page:11/06/2025 01:43 PM
User: CHRIS
DB: Tuscarora

Period Ending 10/31/2025

                                     Fund 901 ASSETS

BalanceDescriptionGL Number

*** Assets ***

2,713,402.68 LAND IMPROVEMENTS - PARKS901-000-132.00
74,200.00 LAND IMPROVEMENTS - TWP901-000-132.01
9,147.00 LAND IMPROVEMENTS - AIRPORT901-000-132.04

(1,921,763.16)ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION - PARKS901-000-133.00
(40,084.47)ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION - TWP901-000-133.01
(9,147.00)ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION - AIRPORT901-000-133.04
505,228.00 BUILDINGS - PARKS901-000-136.00

1,252,163.86 BUILDINGS - TWP901-000-136.01
7,200.00 BUILDINGS - CEMETERY901-000-136.03

32,044.00 BUILDINGS - AIRPORT901-000-136.04
(101,348.98)ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION - BLDG PARKS901-000-137.00
(966,400.79)ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION-BLD TWP901-000-137.01

(7,200.00)ACCUMULATED DEPTRECIATION-BLDG CEMETERY901-000-137.03
(8,370.12)ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION - AIRPORT BLDG901-000-137.04
255,778.89 EQUIPMENT - YARD & STORAGE - PARKS901-000-144.00

4,438.00 EQUIPMENT - AIRPORT901-000-144.04
(168,770.19)ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION-YARD & STORAG901-000-145.00

(4,438.00)ACCUMULATED DEPARECIATION-YARD-AIRPORT901-000-145.04
222,322.78 OFFICE EQUIPMENT - TWP901-000-146.01
27,090.00 EQUIPMENT - ELECTIONS901-000-146.05
(91,788.91)ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION-EQUIP TWP901-000-147.01
(21,834.75)ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION - ELECTIONS901-000-147.05
126,386.00 VEHICLES - PARKS901-000-148.00
(54,766.51)ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION - VEHICLES901-000-149.00

1,833,488.33 Total Assets

*** Fund Balance ***

1,386,482.83 FUND BALANCE901-000-399.00
418,076.37 NET ASSETS901-000-399.01
23,673.88 NET ASSETS - AIRPORT901-000-399.04
5,255.25 NET ASSETS - ELECTIONS901-000-399.05

1,833,488.33 Total Fund Balance

* Year Not Closed

1,833,488.33 *24-25 End FB/25-26 Beg FB

1,833,488.33 Beginning Fund Balance - 24-25

0.00 Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - Current Year
1,833,488.33 Ending Fund Balance
1,833,488.33 Total Liabilities And Fund Balance

0.00 Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - 24-25



BALANCE SHEET FOR TUSCARORA TWP 14/14Page:11/06/2025 01:43 PM
User: CHRIS
DB: Tuscarora

Period Ending 10/31/2025

                                     Fund 902 ASSETS

BalanceDescriptionGL Number

*** Assets ***

15,600.00 LAND IMPROVEMENTS - POLICE902-000-132.00
(8,320.00)ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION - POLICE902-000-133.00
109,869.00 BUILDINGS - POLICE902-000-136.00
(18,311.50)ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION - BLDG902-000-137.00
88,829.36 EQUIPMENT - POLICE902-000-140.00
(47,092.90)ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION - EQUIP902-000-141.00
239,969.47 VEHICLES - POLICE902-000-148.00
(47,267.81)ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION - VEHICLES902-000-149.00

333,275.62 Total Assets

*** Fund Balance ***

333,275.62 FUND BALANCE902-000-399.00

333,275.62 Total Fund Balance

* Year Not Closed

333,275.62 *24-25 End FB/25-26 Beg FB

333,275.62 Beginning Fund Balance - 24-25

0.00 Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - Current Year
333,275.62 Ending Fund Balance
333,275.62 Total Liabilities And Fund Balance

0.00 Net of Revenues VS Expenditures - 24-25



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Treasurer Report 

  



CASH SUMMARY BY BANK FOR TUSCARORA TWP 1/3Page: 11/06/2025 01:25 PM
User: CHRIS
DB: Tuscarora

FROM 07/01/2025 TO 11/06/2025

Ending
Balance

11/06/2025
Total 

Credits 
Total 

Debits 

Beginning
Balance

07/01/2025Description
Bank Code
Fund

SPAS  2016 SPECIAL ASSESSMENT
0.00 0.65 0.65 0.00 SPECIAL ASSESSMENT860

0.00 0.65 0.65 0.00 2016 SPECIAL ASSESSMENT

TXIMM  CNB TAX
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 CURRENT TAX COLLECTION FUND703

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 CNB TAX

CFAGE  COMMUNITY FOUNDATION AGENCY
54,061.37 0.00 0.00 54,061.37 LIBRARY FUND271

54,061.37 0.00 0.00 54,061.37 COMMUNITY FOUNDATION AGENCY

CFDON  COMMUNITY FOUNDATION DONOR
63,094.55 0.00 0.00 63,094.55 LIBRARY FUND271

63,094.55 0.00 0.00 63,094.55 COMMUNITY FOUNDATION DONOR

DDASV  DDA IMMA
10,043.89 256,443.45 10,024.11 256,463.23 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY248

10,043.89 256,443.45 10,024.11 256,463.23 DDA IMMA

DDARD  DDA USDA RD BOND
32,400.00 6,000.00 16,000.00 22,400.00 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY248

32,400.00 6,000.00 16,000.00 22,400.00 DDA USDA RD BOND

POOL  GENERAL - ALL
623,250.98 420,357.01 381,250.07 662,357.92 GENERAL FUND101
(9,653.55)0.00 0.00 (9,653.55)FIRE FUND206

429,939.67 522,344.97 50,929.75 901,354.89 POLICE FUND207
7,379.94 10,292.03 0.00 17,671.97 STREET LIGHTING FUND219

114,580.76 551,176.80 511,882.90 153,874.66 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY248
198,220.19 102,027.42 49,421.09 250,826.52 LIBRARY FUND271

1,226.93 2,798.14 2,798.14 1,226.93 ARPA FUND282
153,902.69 1,140.81 11,594.66 143,448.84 BOAT LAUNCH502

(112,958.52)3,255,467.94 3,405,075.52 (262,566.10)SEWER FUND590
150.00 0.00 0.00 150.00 WATER FUND591

1,705.78 162,614.78 164,320.56 0.00 IMPREST PAYROLL FUND704
(2,729.23)5,820.67 7,590.79 (4,499.35)SPECIAL ASSESSMENT860

1,405,015.64 5,034,040.57 4,584,863.48 1,854,192.73 GENERAL - ALL

LIBIN  IRAL INVESTMENT ACCOUNT
57,431.23 0.00 13.43 57,417.80 LIBRARY FUND271

57,431.23 0.00 13.43 57,417.80 IRAL INVESTMENT ACCOUNT

LIBSP  LIBRARY SPECIAL



CASH SUMMARY BY BANK FOR TUSCARORA TWP 2/3Page: 11/06/2025 01:25 PM
User: CHRIS
DB: Tuscarora

FROM 07/01/2025 TO 11/06/2025

Ending
Balance

11/06/2025
Total 

Credits 
Total 

Debits 

Beginning
Balance

07/01/2025Description
Bank Code
Fund

28,151.52 0.00 7.10 28,144.42 LIBRARY FUND271

28,151.52 0.00 7.10 28,144.42 LIBRARY SPECIAL

MICLA  MICHIGAN CLASS
52,625.34 0.00 195.06 52,430.28 LIBRARY FUND271

52,625.34 0.00 195.06 52,430.28 MICHIGAN CLASS

NRRI2  PNC PHASE 2 SEWER RRI
173.57 29,242.48 27,794.81 1,621.24 SEWER FUND590

173.57 29,242.48 27,794.81 1,621.24 PNC PHASE 2 SEWER RRI

NRRI1  PNC RRI SEWER PHASE 1
2,338.48 51,945.99 25,000.00 29,284.47 SEWER FUND590

2,338.48 51,945.99 25,000.00 29,284.47 PNC RRI SEWER PHASE 1

SWRC1  PNC SEWER PHASE 1 CONSTRUCTION
500.00 865,066.28 864,943.51 622.77 SEWER FUND590

500.00 865,066.28 864,943.51 622.77 PNC SEWER PHASE 1 CONSTRUCTION

SWRC2  PNC SEWER PHASE 2 CONSTRUCTION
500.00 531,525.30 397,380.55 134,644.75 SEWER FUND590

500.00 531,525.30 397,380.55 134,644.75 PNC SEWER PHASE 2 CONSTRUCTION

LIBRG  READING GARDEN - LIBRARY
44,034.57 39,033.93 83,068.50 0.00 LIBRARY FUND271

44,034.57 39,033.93 83,068.50 0.00 READING GARDEN - LIBRARY

ADDRE  SEWER ADD REU
476,597.14 19,103.00 8,000.00 487,700.14 SEWER FUND590

476,597.14 19,103.00 8,000.00 487,700.14 SEWER ADD REU

SEPA  SEWER PHASE II - EPA FUNDS
106.25 1,384,659.45 1,321,839.77 62,925.93 SEWER FUND590

106.25 1,384,659.45 1,321,839.77 62,925.93 SEWER PHASE II - EPA FUNDS

RRI  SEWER RRI
56,903.46 90,889.91 63,100.00 84,693.37 SEWER FUND590

56,903.46 90,889.91 63,100.00 84,693.37 SEWER RRI

SEWER  SEWER SPEC ASSESSMENT
342,041.43 435,290.42 186,288.40 591,043.45 SEWER FUND590



CASH SUMMARY BY BANK FOR TUSCARORA TWP 3/3Page: 11/06/2025 01:25 PM
User: CHRIS
DB: Tuscarora

FROM 07/01/2025 TO 11/06/2025

Ending
Balance

11/06/2025
Total 

Credits 
Total 

Debits 

Beginning
Balance

07/01/2025Description
Bank Code
Fund

342,041.43 435,290.42 186,288.40 591,043.45 SEWER SPEC ASSESSMENT

TXCHK  TAX CHECKING
792,312.13 4,930,139.02 5,722,451.15 0.00 CURRENT TAX COLLECTION FUND703

792,312.13 4,930,139.02 5,722,451.15 0.00 TAX CHECKING

3,418,330.57 13,673,380.45 13,310,970.52 3,780,740.50 TOTAL - ALL FUNDS





Correspondence 

 

 

Airport 

 

 

Assessor 

 

 

DDA 

 

 

FOIA 

 

 

Library 

 

 

Parks 

 

 

Police 





 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Old Business 

  



 

 

 

 

DATE OF MEETING: November 11, 2025 
 
TITLE:  Transient Merchant Ordinance no. 7 

SUMMARY:  Review of Transient Merchant Ordinance no. 7 to evaluate for duplicity 
clarification, and/or for necessity.  

FINANCIAL IMPACT: TBD 

RECOMMENDATION: Discuss 

PREPARED BY:   Trustee Fisher 

DEPT/BOARD/COMMISSION: Board of Trustees 

ATTACHMENTS:   Ordinance No. 7, Transient Merchants Act 51 of 1925, Application 
from Scio Township, Application from Charter Township of Huron. 

 



TUSCARORA TOWNSHTP

ORDINANCE NO. 1

Sectl-on 1. A translentnerchant is any peison; or corporatlon whether as

AN ORDINANCE Tq-REPEAL ORDINANCE NO. 7 OT' TUSCARORA TOWNSH]PKNOWN AS rHE IIVENDORIS gofiEir AND iEPLACi^SAIO ORDTNANCE WITHA TRANSIENT MERCHANT ORDINANCE DEFININC_NiEUUTTNG ANDLICENSTNG TRANSIENT I'TERCrrAirrS AND PiOViOrirE PENALTIES FORITS VIOLATION.

THE TOWNSHIP OF TUSCARORA ORDAINS:

oYl-ef, agent conslgnee orw:.rnLn the township, that:
employeer or whether a 

-i"stA""t

(a) Engaqes tl " temporary buslness of selllng and./ordellverlng goodsl wiilr o, ,.,.rr1r."r-or who conducts. meetinqrs open to' the qenerar p"[ir"'where--i.urr"tiJ"=,distrlbutorshlps, .oni,i.cte oi tuJrn"ss opportunitiesare offered to-partlclpants; or--
(b) sells, offers or.exhlblts for sare any goods, wares orservlces, 

-franchil:g, at=tiirutiilirip", contracts orbusiness opporrunltles-a;;il;-;;;";;il.se or or any timewlLhln slx-montirs ai[er.a re6tur. oi--public meetriq onlald goods, wares, servlJ.;;-;;;;"ti=.=, busJ_nessopportunltles, contractg or'ai=iiriiiiorsrrtps.
Il:-I:::so lns n.orwlrhsrandins,
merchant, for the purposes oi'incrude the rorlowln;;---" -

however, a Lransientthls section, I sEelT;oE

(a) A person, fLrm or sorporatlon who sha1l occupy any ofthe aforesald.praces-i;;-;h. purpose of conductlng a- permanent buslness thereln; ni."iai"g-ioi",r"", that noperson, flrm or. corporitr"n inurr"'r.'r.ii"rr"d, from theprovlslons of . trre oi'ai;il;; -ry- ieaso"-"i" a tenporaryassociatlon wlth u"y 1o-ii-d,ealer, trader, merchant orauctloneer. oT by c8naucilng such'temporary ortranslent 6usrne;"-i;-;;riii6tl"i"*i;ii';;'"" u parr oror ln the name or any i;;1 dealer, trader, merchant orauctloneeri or
Any sares of merchandrse damageg by smoke or flrer oror bankrupt concernsr. where such stocks have beenacquired trom merchairtJ -oi-tt" 

township thereforeregularly llcensed and ensag;J f""il"=ifi"==; provlded,however, no such stocks oi frerchunaf="""f,a11 be :augmented by nevr goods; or

(b)



'.1

(c) A person, flrm or corporatlon exhlbltlng goods for sale
concurrent, rrrlth and as an adJunct to a. group dlsplay,
meeting or convention duly authorlzed to be held ln a
publlcly owned bulldlng and authorl-zed and llcensed
pursuant to thls ordlnance.

(d) A person who sel-Is hls own property which was not
acquired for resale, barter or exchange and who does
not conduct such sales or act as a particlpant by
furnlshing goods ln such a sal-e more than twlce during
any calendar year.

(e) Art exhl-blts, where partlclpatlng art,ists sel-l- their
orlglnal works and whlch do not contaln any sales of
art works purchased elsewhere and held for resale,
provldlng sald art exhlblts are sponsored by a 1ocal,
responslble organlzation, Each organlzatlon whlch
seeks an exemptlon under thls paragraph shall submlt a
petltlon to the pollce department speclfylng the
sponsorlng organlzatlon, tha locatlon where sald show
ls to be held, the purposes of tha show, and the names

. of partlclpating arLIsLs. 'rfre pollce department shaI1,
upon recelpt of the petitlon, revlew the petltlon and
grant or deny the exemptlon. A person agrgrleved by the
declslon may petltLon the townshlp board for their
determlnatlon.

(f). Any sales of vegetables, frults or perlshable farm
. prod.ucts by farrners selIlng thelr own product.

Sectlon 2. Llcense requlred,. It shall be unlawful for any
person or for any agent, servant or employee of any person
to engage ln, carry on or conduct the buslness of a
transl-ent merchant without flrst obtalnlng a llcense to do
so. Licenses shall be obtalned from the Tuscarora fownshlp
Pollce Department and the receipt for the payment of the fee
shall 6erve as evidence of the lssuance of a lLcense.

Sectlon ,3r_ L,lgense fee. The llcense fee for engaglng,
carrylng on or conductlng buslneEis as a transient merchant
shal1 be as follows:

I Jr, do
loo,06
35o. D o

All such fees- sEeIf-Ee

day Par- Loa-a*'to6
week
nonth
in advance.

$
$

per
per
per

payable

Sectlon 4. Penally. Any person, flrm or corporatlon
vlolatlng any of the provlslone of thls ordinance shall upon
convlctlon be punlshed by a fine not to exceed $500'00 or by
lmprlsonment not to exceed 90 days or by both such flne and
imprlsonment at the dlscretlon of the Court. Each day:1i169
a vlolation shall contlnue ehall constitute a separate
vlolatlon.



$ectlon 5. RepSaI. Ordlnance No. 7 passed July 23, L9751
ls hereby repealed in lts entlrety"
Section 6. Publlcatlon and Effeqtlve Date-. Thls ordlnance

Resorterr a
newspaper pubtlshed and clrculating ln said townshlp and
sha11 become effectLve 30 days after publlcatlon.

Adopted and ordalned thls )t!.day of fr,J60sT , 1986.

I



TUSCARORA TOWNSHIP

ORDINANCE NO. 7 A

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE TRANSIENT MERCHANT ORDINANCE

NO. 7 OF TUSCARORA TOWNSHIP DATED AUGUST 12, 1986.

REVISING FEE'S AND ADDING TIME LIMITS.

T}IE TOWNSHIP OF TUSCAROR*A ORDAINS:

Section 3. License fee, The license fee for Engagtng carrying on or conducting business,

as a bansient merchant shall be as follows:

$50.00 Psr day

$200.00 per week
All such fees shall be payable in advance'

Seotion 3 a. Time limit. A limit of fou*een days a year per vendor. Can be used daily or

weekty. The weekly is 7 consecutive days.

This change shall be published once in the Staitsland Resorter, a Newspaper published

and ciroulated in said township and shatl become effective fhirty (30) days after

publication.

Enacted and ordained on the l3tt day of August 2002.



TRANSIENT MERCHANTS
Act 5l of 1925

AN ACT to license and regulate the business of tlansient rnerchants, to provide penalties for the violation
ofthis act, and to repeal cerlain inconsistent acts.

History: 1925, Act 51, Eff. Aug. 27,1925.

The People ctf the Stute of Michigan enact,

445.371 Definitions.
Sec. 1. As used in this act
(a) "Transient merchant" means any person, fim, association, or corporation engaging tempolarily in a

letail sale of goods, wares, or merchandise, in any place in this state and who, for the purpose of conducting
business, occupies any lot, building, room, t>1' structure of any kind. The term shall not apply to any of the
following:

(l) A person selling goods, wares, or rnerchandisc of any description raised, produced, or manufactured by
the individual offering the same for sale.

(li) A person soliciting orders by sample, brochure, ol sales catalog for future delivery or making sales at
residential pretnises pursuaut to an invitation issued by the owner or legal occupant of the prernises.

(ili) A person handling vegetables, fiuits, or perishable farm products at any established city or village
market.

(lv) A person operating a stole or refreshrnent stand at h rcsolt ol having a booth on or adjacent to the
propefty owned or occupied by him or her'.

(v) A person operating a stand on al"ry fairgrounds.
(vl) A person selling at an art l'air or festival or sirnilar event at thc invitation of the event's sponsor if all of

the following conditions ale met:
(A) The sponsor is a govenrmental entity or nouprotit organization.
(B) The person provides tl.rc sponsor with the person's sales tax license number.
(C) The sponsor provides a list of the event's vendors and their sales tax license numbet's to the county

treasurer and the state treasurel'.
(b) "Person" includes any corporation, 01' partnership, or 2 or rnore persons having a joint or common

interest.

History: 1925, Act 51, Eff. Aug, 27, )925;--1L 1929,9748;-{.L 1948,445.37|;-Am. 1988, Acr292,lnrd. Eff. Aug.4, 1988.

Former larv: See Act 259 of 1899; Act l9l of I90i, being CL t915, g$ 6984 to 7000; Acr 294 of lL)13, being CL 1915, gg 7001 to
7009; Act l9l of 1915; and Act 383 of 1921.

445.37 2 Transient merchants ; I icense requ ired.
Sec. 2. It shall be unlawful for any persorl, either as principal or agent, to engage in business as a transient

merchant in the state of Michigan without having first obtained a license in the manner helein provided.
Histor),: 1925, Act51, Eff. Aug.27,1925;-1.L1929,9149;---CL1948,445.372.

445.373 Application for license; contents; attachment; service of process; deposit or surety
bond; fee; issuance and expiration of license; copies to state treasurer; display of license.
Sec. 3. Any person desiring to engage in a business shall makc arrd file with the coullty treasurer of the

county in which he or she intends to do business a written application stating the applicant's name, r'csidence,
federal taxpayer ider.rtification nurnber, uumbel of employebs, state er.nployer identification number, place
where l.re or she intends to do business, and kind of business. A copy of the applicant's Michigan sales tax
license shall be attached to the application, except for an applicant selling only food for human consumption
as defined in section 49 of Act No. 167 of the Pr"rblic Acts of 1933, being sectior.r 205.54g of the Michigan
Compiled Laws. If the applicant is acting as agent for another person, the applicant shall cause to be filed with
the county treasu[er a powel' of attotney appornting the county treasurer the agent of the principal on whom
service of plocess rnay be made in any suit cornmenced against the principal. The applicant shall at the sante
time deposit $500.00 with the county treasurer, or file a surety company bond for that amount. The applicant
shall also pay the county tl'easurel'a $25.00 license fee. Upon leceiving the fees, tlie county treasurer shall
issue to the applicant the license ifsatisfied that the busincss to be conducted by thc person is not intended to
cheat or defraud the public. A license issued undel this section shall expire on the Decernber thirty-first after
its issuauce. Not mot'e than 10 days after issuing a license, the courty treasurer shall send a copy of the
Iicense and the completed application to the state treasurer'. The license shall be displayed in full view at thc

Rendered Monday, July 7, 2025

o
Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 5 of 2025

C o u rtesy of wvvw. leg is la tu re. m i. gov

Page '1



place ol busincss.

llistort':192-5,Act5l,Iiff.ALrg.2't.1t)25;--{L, 192(),9'750:--i.)t-1948,445.373;-Anr.tgiiij, Act292,turcl.EflA1g.4, 1988.

445.374 License; deposit; subjection to claims; balance, deposit.
Sec. 4. Deposits made with such collnty treasurer as requred by tire precedrng section shall be subject to

clainrs of crcditol's and clairns fbl local license fecs on behalf of any iity, viilagc clr torvnship in aii cascs
whcre a.iudgrncnt has been obtained agarnst such transient mcrchant in any coLrr.t ii this statc r,.r,l th. tirne flor.
appealing such .judglnent has expilcd. ln such cases garnishrrent proceedings rnay be commeucecl in such
court against said cor.rnty tlcasul'cr. It shall thercupon be thc dLlty oithe cor-rnry treiisurer to renrit lo a1y sr.lch
court any balance of said cash clcposit lcmaining in his harids not exccecling tlie amor-rnt of said juclgrnent, for.
the puqlose of satisfying the satne. AIry balance of' said cash ileposit lernaining in the hancis of tire county
treastrlcr4 rnonths aftcr thc cxpiratiorr of said Iicorsc shallbe remitted to saicl rlansient merchant, provided, ii
at such datc, the coullty treaslll'cl' shall have leccived notice of any suit then pcnding against said tra,sient
nrerchant, saicl dcposit shall not bc returned until 60 days alter the teirninatiol of-spch suit.

History: l925, Acr 51, EfL Aug. 27,1925; iL t929,9151;-1L j918,445.374.

445.375 License; invalidation, exhaustion of deposit; revocation,
Sec. 5. Any suclt license shall be void as soon as the cleposit rnade witir thc county treasurer as provrdecl in

sectiotl 3 hcreof shall have becn exhaustcd becausc of garnishrnent suits as nrentionec.l in the prcceding
section. Sr-lch county tt'easulel'may t'evokc any license issriecl by hinr hereunder, for goocl cause shown, after.
giving thc Iicensee leasonablc notice ancl oppot.tunity to be hearci,

I{istory: 1925, Act 51, I.)ft. Aug. 27, t925;-..l(). )929,().t52._J\. i948.445.375.

445.37 6 Transient merchants; evidence.
Sec. 6. Tlansaclion of bttsincss as dcllnccl in section I o1'this act by any person lbr a pcriod of lcss tlran 6

nlonths cotrsecutively shall be prirna l-acte eviclence that such p.rroir *r. a tralsieut urercSant within the
intent and meaning hereof .

Ilistory:l925,Act5l,trif.Aug.2j,)925.,-<)t_1929,9753;_J,.t.1948,445.176.

445.377 violation as misdemeanor; penalty; impounding goods; recovery or sale of
impounded goods; notice; conduct of sale; disposition of proceeds; liability.
Sec.-7 (l) A person who violates this act is guilty o1-a misdcmcanoi, punishiiblc by a frne of Ii1,000.00 oL

10% ofthe value of any propetty irnpoLrndecl pursuaut to this section, *hi.h.u., anloirnt is greater.and cor.rrt
costs. If thc county sherifl or local larv en{blcernent olficer has probablc caLrse to belicve that a pcrsol is
engaging in business as a transient melchant without having fir'st obtained a licensc in the manner. providecl
fbr in this act. the cotlnty sheliif or local lar,v enfolcernent officel shall imnrediately take into clsiody ancl
in.ipotrnd all goods o{fcrcd lcrr sale by the tlansient rrerchant until thc matter has beeir ad.judicated 5y a courl
of proper julisdictron.

(2) Thc transient mcrchatrt nray obtain his or her irnpoundecl goocls prior to a<ljuciication by paying, eithcr
in cash or by secLrrity bond, $1,000.00 ol an arnount ccliral to thc valuc ol.thc irnpoundccl proplriy, whicheyer.
amor-lltt is greater.

(3) If the transient merchant is convictcd ol violating this act ancl fails to pay the flnc ancl cor.1.t costs
provicled in sLlbscction (l) within 7 clays afler the date of convrotion, the sherilior local law enfbr.ccrncnt
officel shall sell the inrpounded goods by publishing notice in a llewspaper of general cir.culation i, the
county at least 5 days bcforc the sale. Thc noticc shall describe the property ancl shall state the tirne ancl pJacc
of public sale at which the irnpoundcd property may bc pulchasecl by the highcst bidcler.

(4)'l'he sheriff ol local law enforceuent ofllcer shall conduct the sale ur,l shoil cleposit fron.r the pr-oceecls
of the sale arl amourtt eqr.ral to the fine and court costs providecl in subsection (1) lvith the court in which the
transient t.nerchant was convicted. Any ploceecls of the sale which excced the fine shall bc returned to the
tt'ansient merchant. Any sheriff or local law enfolcement otficer disposing of ploperty in the manner pr.ovidecl
in this act shall not be liable to thc transient merchant lor the salc.

History:1925.Act51,8f1 Aug.27,1925;--1'.L1929,9754;-JC1.1948,445.377:-Am l98ft,Act292, Inrrl. llff.Aug 4, lggg

445.378 Etfect of act as to local license or regulation.
Sec. 8. Nothiltg in this act contained shall interlele with the licensing or rcgulation of said business by any

nittnicipality, township, or county in this state not incousistent with the provisions her.col'.
Histrrrl,: 1925, Act 5 1 , Elll Aug. 21 , 1925;-1L 1929,97 55;-JL I 948, 44_5.378.

Rendered Monday, July 7, 2025

o
Page 2 Michigan Compiled Laws Conrplete Through pA 5 ot ZO2S

Co u rtesy o f www. le g i s la tu re. m i. gov



SCIO TOWNSHIP
PEDDLERS, SOLICITORS, TRANSIENT VENDORS

L!CENSE APPLICATION
An applicant for a license must file a sworn application with the Township Clerk as well as provide the following information:

Applicant's Name:[,.-
r_"_ -_- -_"---_

EmailAddress: i

i Hrtr cotor' !

l- | t-
Weight: | _ j Height: I

i'-

Residence Address: l_
1"",-""

Business Address: i

De_s911q]1o1 o-f the-nature of the business and

Eyg Colo' i 
.,

tf',. good, t" b; .; ;

I

lf employed in the capacity of a transient merchant, a letter from the employer stating the applicant's relationship
with employer must be included with this application:

l'-----*---'
EmployerName: { - iphone: ]| - -- '--'
Employer Address: L

Dates vou are requestinq to do business (not to exceed one year)

Hours of Operation:
itMonday i i

iTuesday t I

I

i

_i
From:l I ro,i

Wednesday

Thursday

Friday

Additional Requirements and/or Attachments (Compliance with the Scio Township Codification for Transient Merchants
section 1 2-22 required):

' List of all persons involved in the activity, which person(s) will be driving, and email addresses for the
purpose of consenting to a background check

' lf handling or selling anything for human consumption, proof of a valid permit issued by the Washtenaw
County Health Deparlment

' Proof of public liability and personal injury insurance with Scio Township as named insured
' lf a vehicle is being used, list make, model, year, color, license plate number, state where registered, and

attach proof of insurance
r lf a temporary structure is involved, the clerk must have verification of zoning compliance
' A comprehens-ive criminal history issued by relevant law enforcement agenc(ies). Or, consent to and pay

the Township for the cost of a criminal background check and review of the lnternet Criminal History
Access Tool (tCHAT)

Food Truck Vendors:
lf vending food that requires heating (or if the vehicle has any form of cooking facilities) a valrd certificate of
inspection from the Scio Township Fire Department, or from another Fire Defiartment approved by Scio Fire
Department ltttps://www.sciotownship.orq/communitv/fire-department/fooct_iructs

I

I

Saturday

Sunday

Title:
I
I
t...-._-.

Date:
rii......1i..--.i

S,glglgg el-tq:l'lg !o the above (print and sign):
T- -*---tli-*.-*j

Completed application and support materials may be submitted at Scio Townsh ip Hall, 827 N. Zeeb Rd., or emailed
t o : r-'le rli(cD. s. ci o j.g 

1 v. 4.t-1 5 l t 4.1 q 
1 t. y 1 1.r Lty

OFFICE USE ONLY
i

Date Received: I Date lssued or Denied: i
I

I

.!

I

j

l



PEDDLERS LICENSE
CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF' HURON

22950 Huron River Dr. New Boston, MI 48 164-9791

734-7 53-4466
DATE,:

LICENSE#:

FEE PAID:
NAME OF COMPANY OR ORG

FULL ADDR

APPLICANT'S
NAME PHONE

APPL]CANT'S FULL
ADDR

LOCATION OF SALES

NAME & ADDR OF EMPLOYEES IF APPLICABLE

PROPERTY IS: OWNED- RENTED LEASED BY APPLICANT

If other than owned, attach a signed letter of approval from the property owncr including the tax iclentification number of
thc properly to this application. off road parking must be providccl for patrons.

ITE,MS HOME GROWN OR HAND MADE, BY SELLER

IF NO, PLEASE EXPLAIN

NAME TO APPEAR ON LICENSE

DESCRIPTION OF ITEMS TO BE
SOLD

DESCRIPTION OF VEHICLE & LICENSE #

x
APPLICANTS SIGNATURE

OFFICE USE ONLY (below)

NON-RESIDENT

DATE

PROPERTY OWNERRESIDENT

APPROVED/DENIED

CLERK, CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF HURON

License in effect: From

I inprce iccrre,-l hrr.

t()

DATE



 

 

 

 

DATE OF MEETING:November 11, 2025 
 
TITLE: Food Truck Ordinance    

SUMMARY: Clarify where a food truck may sell food to the public. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: TBD 

RECOMMENDATION: Discuss. 

PREPARED BY:   Supervisor 

DEPT/BOARD/COMMISSION: Board of Trustees 

ATTACHMENTS:   Food Truck Ordinance, Redacted Food Truck Application from 2025. 

 



TOWNSHIP OF TUSCARORA

CHEBOYGAN COUNTY, MICHIGAN

ORDINANCE NO, 39

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND TITLE XI BUSINESS REGULATIONS BY CREATING

CHAPTER 114 ENTITLED "FOOD TRUCKS/MOBILE FOOD VENDING UNIT LICENSE"
OF THE TOWNSHIP OF TUSCARORA CODE OF ORDINANCES PROVIDING FOR THE
LICENSING OF MOBIL. FOOD VENDING UNITS WITHIN THE TOWNSHІР.

REPEALEAR. SEVERALABILITY, PENALTIES AND EFFECTIVE DATE.

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED BY THE TOWNSHIP OF TUSCARORA:

Section 1. Title XI. Chapter 114. Section of the Code of Ordinances, Township of Tuscarora,
Michigan shall be created to read as follows:

Sec.14.01. - Intent.

The intent of this section is to encourage mobile food vendors that will provide food service

options in underserved areas. promote entrepreneurial activity, and increase vibrancy and culture
to the township.

Sec.14.02. - Definitions.

Mobile food vending shall mean vending. serving, or offering for sale food and/or beverages
from a mobile food vending unit which meets the definition of a food service establishment

under Public Act 92 of 2000, which may include the ancillary sales of branded items consistent

with the food, such as a tee shirt that bears the name of the organization engaged in mobile food
vending.

Mobile food vending unit shall mean any motorized or non-motorized vehicle, trailer, or other

device designed to be portable and not permanently attached to the ground from which food is
vended, served, or offered for sale.

Operate shall mean all activities associated with the conduct of business, including set up and

take down and/or actual hours where the mobile food vending unit is open for business.

Vendor shall mean any individual engaged in the business of mobile food vending; if more than

one individual is operating a single stand, cart or other means of conveyance, then vendor shall
mean all individuals operating such single stand, cart or other means of conveyance.

Village Center Indian River District (VC-IR) means that zoning district as defined the

Cheboygan County Zoning Ordinance 200 as amended.



Village Center Indian River Overlay District (VC-IR-O) means that zoning district as defined the

Cheboygan County Zoning Ordinance 200 as amended.

Sec. 14.03. Mobile food vending locations.

(a) Public property. Mobile food vending shall only be allowed on public property as permitted
uses within the Village Center Indian River District VC-IR pursuant to Cheboygan County
Zoning Ordinance 200 and amendments thereto, when part of an approved public or private
event.

(b) Mobile food vending units are prohibited on any property within the Village Center Indian

River Overlay District (VC-IR-O) pursuant to Cheboygan County Zoning Ordinance 200 and
amendments thereto.

(c) Private property. Mobile food vending on private property shall only be allowed in

commercial or industrial districts and must include a parking plan review.

In a residential district, mobile food vending on private property shall only be allowed as part of
a private event and shall only serve food to event attendees and not members ofthe public.
Mobile food vending on private property shall not be allowed to utilize public property

including, but not limited to, street rights-of-way and Village Center Indian River Overlay
District (VC-IR-O).

Sec. 14.04. Local License required.

(1) No vendor shall engage in mobile food vending without a license issued by the Township
authorizing such operation. No vending through a mobile food vending unit of food and/or other
human consumables shall be licensed unless it meets the definition of mobile food vending as
defined by this chapter from the township clerk authorizing such vending. The township clerk

shall prescribe the form of such licenses and application for such license in accordance with the
mandates of this chapter.

(2) All mobile food vending units must be inspected and obtain approval by the Cheboygan
County Health Department prior to any license being granted by the Township.

(3) All licenses, including any required Federal or State and other local permits or licenses to

operate the Mobile Food Vending Unit shall be prominently displayed on the mobile food

vending unit.

Sec.14.05. Duration; non-transferability.

Licenses may be issued by the township clerk expiring at the end of each calendar year. Any
license issued under this chapter is non-transferable from vendor to vendor or from food

truck/mobile food vending unit to food truck/mobile food vending unit.



Sec. 14.05. Application.

Every vendor desiring to engage in mobile food vending shall submit a completed application to

the township clerk for a license under this chapter. In the event there results a change in the

approved location of the mobile food vending unit, an applicant shall submit an amended

application to the township clerk and Cheboygan County Zoning department for administrative

review/approval or denial.

The applicant shall truthfully state, in full, all information requested by the township clerk and be

accompanied by a fee established by resolution of the township board. The application shall be

approved as to form and substance by the Township Board.

Sec. 14.06. Fees.

An application for a license under this chapter shall be accompanied by a fee in the amount

established by resolution of the Township Board. There shall be no proration of fees. Fees are

non-refundable once a license has been issued by the township clerk. No one shall hire or

subcontract such vendors to evade the provisions of this chapter.

Sec. 14.07. Requirements.

Any vendor engaging in mobile food vending shall comply with the following requirements:

(1) A mobile food vending unit shall mect applicable requirements of the Cheboygan County

Health Department, including but not limited to the requirements for inspections and plan

reviews as well as the regulations and standards forth in Cheboygan County Zoning Ordinance
200, as amended, regarding Mobile Food Units.

(2) No food shall be sold, prepared or displayed outside of the mobile food vending unit while

on the location approved for the license.

(3) Provide appropriate waste receptacles as required by Cheboygan County Zoning Ordinance
200. as amended, at the site of the mobile food vending unit and remove all litter, debris and

other waste attributable to the vendor or customers ona daily basis.

(4) Mobile food vendors shall not use any flashing. blinking or strobe lights, or similar effects to

draw attention to the mobile food vending unit: all exterior lights over 60 watts shall contain

opaques, hood shields to direct the illumination downward.

(5) Mobile food vendors shall not use loud music, amplification devices, or any other audible

methods to gain attention which causes a disruption or safety hazard as determined by the

township.



(6) There shall be no signage used by mobile food vendors except for what is allowed on the

mobile food vending unit itself in accordance with Cheboygan County Zoning Ordinance 200, as
amended.

(7) Mobile food vending units shall not utilize any electricity or power without the prior written

authorization of the power customer: no power cable or similar device shall be extended across
any street, alley or sidewalk.

(8) Mobile food vendors shall comply with all applicable township ordinances. as well as

applicable county and state laws.

Sec. 14.08. Impoundment.

Any equipment associated with food vending that is not in compliance with this chapter and left
on public property may be impounded at the owner's expense.

Sec. 14.09. Other licenses.

A license obtained under this chapter shall not relieve any vendor of the responsibility for
obtaining any other license. or authorization required by any other ordinance, statute, or
administrative rule.

Sec. 14.09. Revocation and appeal.

The township clerk shall revoke the license of any vendor engaged in mobile food vending who

ceases to meet any requirement of this chapter or violates any other federal, state or local

regulation, makes a false statement on their application, or conducts activity in a manner that is

detrimental to the protection of the public health. safety and welfare.

Immediately upon such revocation, the township clerk shall provide written notice of revocation

and the time requirements for an appeal of revocation to the license holder by certified mail to

their place of business or residence as indicated on the application. Immediately upon such

revocation. the license shall become null and void. The licensee may appeal such revocation by

requesting a hearing within 30 days of notice of revocation.

Sec. 14.10. Complaints and appeal.

(1) If a written complaint is filed with the township clerk alleging a food vendor has violated

the provisions of this chapter, the township clerk shall promptly send a copy of the written

complaint to the vendor together with a notice that an investigation will be made as to the truth

of the complaint. The vendor shall be invited to respond to the complaint and present evidence

and respond to evidence produced by the investigation. If the township clerk, after reviewing all

relevant material, finds the complaint to be supported by a preponderance of the evidence, the
complaint shall be certified.



(2) The Township Clerk shall revoke the license of any mobile food vendor engaged in
mobile food vending who ceases to meet any requirement of this chapter or violates and any
other federal. state. or local law, ordinance, or regulations. makes a false statement on the permit
application or conducts activity in a manner that is adverse to the protection of the public health
safety. and welfare. Immediately upon such revocation, the Township Clerk shall provide written
notice to the license holder by certified mail to the address indicated on the application.

(3) If a license is denied or revoked by the township clerk, or if a written complaint is
certified pursuant to this chapter, the applicant or holder of a license may appeal to and have a
hearing before the Township Board. The Township Board shall make a written determination,
after presentation by the applicant and investigation by the township clerk, as to whether or not
the grounds for denial, revocation or complaint are true. If the Township Board determines that
such grounds are supported by a preponderance of the evidence, the action of township clerk or
filing ofthe complaint shall be sustained and the applicant may appeal the Township Board's
decision to a court of competent jurisdiction.

Sec. 14.11 - Violation and penalty.

A violation of this chapter is responsible for a municipal civil infraction and subject to a fine not
to exceed $500.00. Each day that a violation continues shall be deemed to be a separate
violation.

Section 2. SEVERABILITY

If any section. subsection, clause, phrase or portion of this Ordinance is for any reason held
invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such portion shall be deemed
a separate. distinct, and independent portion of this Ordinance, and such holding shall not affect
the validity of the remaining portions of this Ordinance.

Section 3 REPEAL

All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this Ordinance are hereby repealed.

Section 4. EFFECTIVE DATE

This Ordinance shall be effective thirty (30) days from the date of publication hereof.



CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify the foregoing is a true and complete copy of Ordinance No. 39 duly
adopted by the Board of Trustees of the Township of Tuscarora at a Regular Meeting held on

May 11 2021. pursuant to and in full compliance with the Open Meetings Act, being Act 267,
Public Acts of Michigan. 1976, as amended, and that the minutes of said meeting were kept and will

be made available as required by said Act.

Relu
Dolly Rodriguez, Clerk

Adoption Date: May 11, 2021_

Publication Date: May 20, 2021_

Effective Date: June 20, 2021



Supervisor
Highlight

Supervisor
Highlight

Supervisor
Highlight

Supervisor
Highlight

Supervisor
Highlight

Supervisor
Highlight

Supervisor
Highlight

Supervisor
Highlight

Supervisor
Highlight

Supervisor
Highlight





 

 

 

 

DATE OF MEETING: November 11, 2025  
 
TITLE:  Legal Services 

SUMMARY: RFP for legal services, 3-year contract. See attached responses from Fahey 
Schulz Burzych Rhodes, Kirk Huth Lange Badalamenti, Foster Swift.  

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  TBD 

RECOMMENDATION:  Discuss 

PREPARED BY:   Supervisor 

DEPT/BOARD/COMMISSION: Board of Trustees 

ATTACHMENTS:   two proposals 

 



PROPOSAL TO PROVIDE LEGAL 
SERVICES TO TUSCARORA

TOWNSHIP



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
ABOUT US ............................................................................................................................................................. 1

WHAT WE DO ..................................................................................................................................................... 2

SEMINARS, PRESENTATIONS AND PUBLICATIONS .............................................................................. 5

RECENT PROJECTS ............................................................................................................................................. 5

TEAM OF TOWNSHIP ATTORNEYS ............................................................................................................ 6

Member, Christopher S. Patterson .............................................................................................................. 6

Member, Helen “Lizzie” Mills......................................................................................................................... 7

Member, Ross K. Bower II ............................................................................................................................. 7

Senior Attorney, Wayne Beyea, AICP ......................................................................................................... 8

Senior Associate, Kyle A. O’Meara .............................................................................................................. 8

Associate, Lindsey Gergel ............................................................................................................................... 8

Associate, Trent J. Cunningham .................................................................................................................... 9

Associate, Madalin Sholtz ................................................................................................................................ 9

FEES AND CHARGES .......................................................................................................................................... 9

NO CONFLICTS OF INTEREST .................................................................................................................... 10

NON-DISCRIMINATION ................................................................................................................................. 10

REFERENCES ........................................................................................................................................................ 10

SUMMARY ............................................................................................................................................................ 11



  

1 

Fahey Schultz Burzych Rhodes PLC is pleased to present this proposal to provide general 
municipal legal services to Tuscarora Township. With our extensive experience representing more 
than 150 municipalities across Michigan, our firm is well-equipped to guide and protect Tuscarora 
Township's interests.  

ABOUT US 

Welcome to Fahey Schultz Burzych Rhodes PLC, a distinguished law firm headquartered in 
Okemos, Michigan. Renowned for our excellence in municipal law, we offer municipalities a distinct 
advantage through a comprehensive, full-service approach. With nearly 200 years of combined 
experience in municipal law, our attorneys are well-equipped to proactively address any issues the 
Township may encounter. 
 
Our work is recognized in several nationally respected publications. Most recently, we were listed 
in the 2025 Best Lawyers “Best Law Firms.” That recognition highlights firms known for professional 
excellence with consistently strong ratings from clients and peers; a tiered ranking signals a 
combination of quality law practice and breadth of legal expertise. We are proud to be ranked as a 
Tier 1 law firm in Municipal Law, Litigation – Municipal, Labor Law – Management, Land Use and 
Zoning Law, Appellate Practice, and Administrative/Regulatory Law. 
 
To support that depth, our dynamic team of more than 35 lawyers continues to grow to meet client 
needs—ensuring both efficiency and reliability. This team structure helps guarantee that a qualified 
attorney is available when you need assistance. Our firm was also honored as one of the 2024 Top 
50 Companies to Watch by Michigan Celebrates Small Business, reflecting our growth and results. 
 
Client satisfaction is our top priority, and we are committed to delivering practical, timely solutions 
to unique and complex municipal legal challenges. Because our practice is focused on Michigan 
municipal law, we resolve common issues efficiently and know where to find the answer fast. Our 
attorneys use comprehensive Michigan and federal online databases, supported by a cloud-based 
repository spanning more than 40 years of research, documents, and legal opinions—ensuring a 
wealth of knowledge is at hand when you reach out. 
 
We staff matters for responsiveness and value. Our municipal team structure allows us to scale as 
needed, cover meetings and deadlines, and keep work moving without delay. We pair disciplined 
matter management with modern technology to streamline drafting and reviews, delivering high-
quality work within a reasonable, predictable cost framework. We’re prepared to address your 
legal needs with the subject-matter familiarity and turnaround you expect.



  

2 

WHAT WE DO
We have the expertise and solutions to address the problems that municipalities face daily. Our 
firm’s expertise extends to all the areas in which municipalities may require legal counsel, including: 
  
Act 425 Agreements 
Annexation & Detachment 
Appeals 
Arbitration & Mediation 
Battery Energy Storage 
Cemeteries 
Code Enforcement 
Dangerous Buildings 
Data Centers 
Easements 
Economic Development 
Elections 
Emergency Services 

Employment & Personnel 
Environmental Issues 
Freedom of Information 
Incompatible Offices 
Joint Agreements 
Lake Improvements 
Libraries 
Liquor Licensing 
Litigation  
Marihuana 
Open Meetings  
Ordinance Drafting  
Personal Property Tax 

Planning Law  
Right to Farm Act 
Renewable Energy Zoning 
Resolutions & Contracts 
Solar Ordinances 
Sanitary & Storm Sewers  
Special Assessments 
Tax Appeals 
Utilities 
Water/Sewer Authorities 
Water Systems 
Wetlands 
Zoning & Land Use 

  
You can count on our lawyers’ expertise and solutions to assist Tuscarora Township in dealing with 
the full array of municipal legal challenges, including: 
 
Advice and Counsel. A wealth of legal opinions and practical advice are available when you call us. 
We respond by telephone, email, text or formal opinion letters, as you prefer. Municipalities rely 
on us for sound legal advice, as well as for our practical experience. When called upon, we provide 
immediate advice and counsel or written legal opinions addressing the question you face, including 
issues of authority, statutory and ordinance construction, constitutionality of existing and proposed 
legislation, conflicts of interest, compliance with the FOIA and OMA, contracts, policies, rules of 
order and any other issues you may encounter. Although even our most experienced lawyers still 
learn something new every day, we are usually able to answer your questions without lengthy delay 
and expensive research, since we have represented so many municipalities for so many years. 
 
Annexation and Boundary Issues. No lawyers are better equipped to assist the Township in 
disputes over your boundaries. We have worked with communities across the state to protect 
their territory. We handled the litigation of nearly every Michigan appellate case involving boundary 
adjustments and Act 425 issues over the last forty years. We have the experience and unique 
solutions to proactively address the boundary challenges and opportunities. Although we strive to 
reach favorable agreements on boundary issues, our lawyers appear in the Boundary Commission 
more often than any lawyers in this state. 
 



  3 

Appeals. Strong expertise and success in appellate litigation distinguish our lawyers from others 
who represent municipalities. Over our long and very active history of representing municipalities 
in Michigan, we have addressed countless issues before the Michigan appellate courts. Our lawyers 
frequently handle the most important municipal cases before the Michigan Court of Appeals and 
Supreme Court. We know municipal law very well, in part, because we actively participated in the 
shaping of that law in the appellate courts for more than four decades.  
 
Employment and Personnel Issues. Municipal employment and personnel issues require sensitivity 
to employment relations handled in the public eye. They often involve special statutes or unique 
public interest issues not faced by private sector employers. Our proactive approach to 
employment relations, including proper personnel policies and in-service training, can improve 
employee morale, reduce miscommunication and lower your potential liability from employment-
related claims. We will work with you to address employment issues early, when all may benefit 
from practical advice. We specialize in the representation of public employers, and specifically 
municipalities. We have dozens of years of experience in this area, and regularly present seminars 
for the Michigan Townships Association (“MTA”) and Michigan Association of Township 
Supervisors (“MATS”) on personnel issues. We are skilled in representing municipalities before 
state and federal civil rights agencies on employment discrimination and retaliation matters. We 
have the ability to forcefully advocate on your behalf, while maintaining a reasoned perspective on 
public employment.  
 
Joint Authorities and Inter-Municipal Agreements. Long before the current interest in increased 
municipal cooperation, we were forming and advising joint municipal enterprises, preparing 
intergovernmental contracts, articles and bylaws for multi-unit sewer and water authorities, joint 
police and fire departments, building code authorities, waste disposal and recycling authorities, 
telecommunications regulatory consortia and district libraries. We frequently negotiate sewer and 
water service contracts and other intergovernmental agreements between municipalities and help 
create and amend area-wide police, fire and ambulance departments.  
 
Litigation. Our lawyers handle a wide array of complex litigation. In addition to land use and zoning 
litigation, we frequently defend municipalities in cases involving constitutional issues, labor and 
employment matters, issues of authority, FOIA and OMA matters, sewer and water litigation and 
the resolution of virtually every dispute that the Township may encounter. In addition to our 
litigation skills, we are trained mediators. We strive to reach appropriate and inexpensive 
resolutions of pending disputes in the best interests of the Township whenever possible. 
 
Medical and Recreational Marihuana. Navigating the complexities of commercial and 
recreational marihuana is a significant challenge for many communities. As this area of law continues 
to evolve, new and unique issues arise that require innovative solutions. We work with 



  4 

municipalities to address these challenges, offering a comprehensive set of recommendations and 
model ordinances tailored to each township’s needs. Whether a municipality chooses to adopt 
stringent regulations or a more lenient approach, we provide the most current strategies and 
information to ensure they are well-prepared for the future.  
 
Ordinance and Code Development. We review, draft, update, interpret and enforce ordinances. 
As experience or trends dictate, we proactively suggest amendments or changes to improve your 
existing ordinances. We prepare or review zoning ordinances, nuisance and noise ordinances and 
ordinances regulating a wide variety of matters, including public and private roads, site 
condominiums, telecommunications, cemeteries, signs, wetlands, adult businesses, mobile homes, 
abandoned and dilapidated structures and vehicles, water and wastewater systems and surface 
water drainage. Our lawyers can also help you establish or improve current systems to improve 
the efficiency and economy of your ordinance violation prosecutions.  
 
Personal Property Tax Collection. Municipal treasurers often benefit from our legal assistance in 
the collection of delinquent personal property taxes. The success of these collections largely 
depends on your treasurer receiving timely support to move quickly at the first sign of a potentially 
delinquent account. We will provide your treasurer access to our advice, knowledge, systems and 
forms, allowing for a quick and efficient response to these potential tax collection problems. 
 
Renewable Energy Land Uses. Our firm has been on the cutting-edge of assisting clients regulate 
renewable energy land uses consistent with community values. We have direct experience both 
drafting ordinances and assisting clients with considering applications for utility-scale wind, solar, 
and battery storage projects. Notably, our firm aided a township to impose a condition requiring 
implementation of the first active aircraft detection lighting system on a wind project in Michigan. 
We have experience applying and advising clients on the new standards within the “state siting 
legislation” of PA 233 of 2023. 
 
Special Assessments and Public Improvements. We assist municipalities with public improvement 
financing through special assessments and connection fees, and we can help draft rate ordinances 
and user charge systems for your water and wastewater systems, if necessary. We also conduct 
property acquisition for public projects and public facilities. We handle condemnation litigation and 
will work with you to acquire necessary easements without litigation, if possible. We use creative 
strategies for recreation land and open space acquisition, including tax-advantaged gifts and 
installment purchase contracts.  
 
Tax Appeals. We have extensive experience before the Michigan Tax Tribunal in property tax 
assessment and special assessment appeals, including major commercial and industrial cases. One 
of our attorneys was formerly a licensed general real estate appraiser, which gives the Township 



  5 

the benefit of additional expertise on tax valuation matters unlike any other law firm representing 
municipalities in this state.  
 
Zoning and Planning. Our reputation in land use and zoning matters is well-recognized across the 
state. We frequently draft or review land use plans, zoning ordinances and amendments, wetlands 
regulations, growth management measures, land division ordinances, subdivision regulations and 
site condominium ordinances. We will work closely with the Township and your professional 
planners to review proposed land developments, especially when litigation is possible. We monitor 
and defend land use disputes in both the trial and appellate courts. 
 
SEMINARS, PRESENTATIONS AND PUBLICATIONS 
Our attorneys are called upon by municipal and professional organizations like the MTA and MATS, 
Government Law Section of the State Bar, MAMA, MAC, MAMC, MPSI, and the like to provide 
seminars and presentations to elected and appointed officials and others. We also present seminars 
for individual clients and sponsor our own seminars for municipal officials.  
 
We regularly prepare client updates regarding changes in law. For examples, see our website for 
publications that have been provided via email and posting online:  https://fsbrlaw.com/our-feed/. 
Our service on the Council of the Government Law Section of the State Bar, Administrative Law 
Section, and the local county bar association leadership also enables us to get the newest 
information to our clients in a timely, informed fashion.  
 
RECENT PROJECTS
Examples of some of our recent projects include: 

 Dozens of successful zoning, building and nuisance prosecutions. 
 Comprehensive zoning ordinance revisions for several municipalities. 
 Review and advice on complex zoning approvals or decisions, including special land uses, 

site plans, variances, and appeals. These include renewable energy projects. 
 Removal of dangerous buildings and recovery of removal costs. 
 Multi-million-dollar water and sewer projects with Rural Development financing. 
 Developed unique wind park zoning ordinance amendment. 
 Intergovernmental police and fire agreements. 
 Disincorporation of a joint fire authority to the municipality’s advantage. 
 FOIA case against Department of Treasury to obtain “secret” criteria for review of 

municipality’s assessing practices, recovering 100% of the municipality’s attorney fees. 
 Truck route ordinance to control truck traffic from gravel pits. 
 Joint planning commission and land use plans. 
 Dozens of commercial and industrial tax appeals in the Tax Tribunal and appellate courts. 



  6 

 Halted state tax foreclosure through swift judicial action, protecting municipality from the 
loss of $1 million in unpaid water and sewer assessments. 

 Unique special assessment mechanism for police, fire and emergency services.  
 Collective bargaining agreements for several police, firefighter, public works and clerical 

units, with significant wage and benefit savings for municipalities. 
 Successfully litigated Act 312 proceedings for two police units where pension costs were 

the primary focus of the employer’s position. 
 Resolution of serious internal governing body disputes. 
 Formation of special assessment districts for lake improvement projects. 
 Prepared complex regulations to address new legislation on telecommunications towers. 
 Negotiated drain easement across a fragile municipal-owned natural area. 
 Minimized cemetery costs; allocated grave sales between general fund and cemetery fund. 
 Ballot proposals for new and renewal millage; municipal police assessments; and zoning.  
 Defended discipline and termination of police and fire union employees. 

 
TEAM OF TOWNSHIP ATTORNEYS
Meet the outstanding team of notable and experienced municipal attorneys who will serve the needs 
of your Township—and know that there are many others in the wings, ready to serve if needed! 
 

Member, Christopher S. Patterson leads the firm’s municipal 
law practice group. He focuses his practice on small/medium 
sized urban settings and rural contexts, particularly in land use 
regulations, zoning and planning implementation, utility rates 
and issues, and municipal governance issues. Chris has been 
practicing law for 14 years. He assists dozens of municipalities 
on a variety of matters and serves as lead counsel to several of 
the firm’s municipal clients. Prior to joining our firm, he was a 
law clerk for federal Judge Lawrence P. Zatkoff in Port Huron, 
where he gained valuable experience in hearings and trials. He 
graduated magna cum laude from Michigan State University 
College of Law, focusing on studies of real property and urban 
planning, which complemented his undergraduate studies in real 
estate regulation, appraisal and investment. Chris is currently 

ranked in the publication Best Lawyers for his practice of municipal law. Chris has also been 
recognized by Super Lawyers as a Michigan Rising Star in State, Local and Municipal Law. 
Chris has served as an adjunct professor at Michigan State University College of Law, 
teaching a Land Use Planning Course. Chris is a member of the Inns of Court-MSU Chapter. 
He is a member of the Ingham County Bar Association’s Real Estate Section and is a 
Michigan real estate licensed salesperson, which assists with taking a practical, 



7

knowledgeable approach to real property matters, including the transfer of real property 
and related litigation. cpatterson@fsbrlaw.com

Member, Helen “Lizzie” Mills brings over a decade of 
specialized expertise in municipal law as well as management-side 
labor and employment law. She regularly advises public sector 
clients on the full spectrum of municipal legal issues ranging from 
policy development to regulatory compliance, governance and 
communication challenges among governing bodies, while also 
guiding them through employment matters, collective bargaining 
agreement administration and negotiations. With Lizzie’s practical 
counsel, public employers are equipped to address both day-to-
day municipal operations and complex workplace issues, allowing 
them to focus on delivering effective services to taxpayers. Lizzie 
is passionate about municipal matters and is often asked to present 
at municipal conferences, seminars, and other speaking 
engagements statewide. As a certified mediator, Lizzie places great emphasis on dispute 
prevention and prompt resolution. Recognized by Best Lawyers and Super Lawyers, 
including a recent selection as the 2026 “Lawyer of the Year” in Municipal Law in Lansing, 
Lizzie’s dedication and leadership have earned her a reputation as a trusted expert in the 
field. Lizzie’s leadership extends beyond her legal practice. She dedicated 6 years to serving 
on the Highfields Board of Directors, including a term as chair. She also actively contributes 
as a Council member of the Government Law Section of the State Bar of Michigan, where 
she has served in various capacities, including Treasurer, Secretary, Vice-Chair, Chair, and 
she has also served as the editor of the Section’s regular publication, Briefly. 
hmills@fsbrlaw.com

Member, Ross K. Bower II has practiced law for 16 years. He 
counsels many of our municipal clients on day-to-day issues, 
focusing on Michigan municipal, property tax and drain law with 
an emphasis on property tax appeals and special assessments. 
Ross also focuses on municipal litigation in administrative, trial, 
and appellate courts. Ross has been named a “Rising Star” by 
Michigan Super Lawyers annually since 2010 and was recognized 
as one of the “Top 5” attorneys in Ingham County under the 
age of 35 in 2012. Ross graduated cum laude from Thomas M. 
Cooley Law School and received his undergraduate degree from 
Kalamazoo College. While in law school, he served on law 
review and was a member of the national moot court litigation 
team. rbower@fsbrlaw.com



8

Senior Attorney, Wayne Beyea, AICP enhances our zoning 
and planning services with over two decades of expertise in 
community planning and land use law. As a former faculty 
member and senior specialist at the MSU School of Planning, 
Design and Construction, Wayne has a specialized focus in 
regional planning. His impact, however, extends far beyond 
academia as he has not only taught but also implemented 
programs that delve into the science and policy of green 
community planning, renewable energy siting and infrastructure, 
sustainable development and climate change law. Notably, he 
directed the American Citizen Planner Collaborative, an online 

training program for planning officials nationwide in partnership with land grant universities. 
wbeyea@fsbrlaw.com

Senior Associate, Kyle A. O’Meara joined FSBR in 2018 after 
spending the previous summer as a summer associate with the 
firm. He is a member of the firm’s Municipal Group and also 
supports the Water Resources Group in various matters related 
to the governance of inland lakes. Kyle’s work focuses on public 
entities in need of advice on many issues, but he has specialized in 
land use and planning as well as renewable energy projects. He has
also aided numerous municipalities with various special assessment 
improvement projects. Fact-finding, problem-solving, and 
brainstorming are among Kyle’s favorite parts of his work, and he 
enjoys helping clients tackle their challenges. Kyle is a graduate of Notre Dame Law School 
and the University of Michigan. Kyle has served as the prior Chairperson of the
Administrative and Regulatory Law Section of the State Bar of Michigan
komeara@fsbrlaw.com

Associate, Lindsey Gergel is driven by her passion for municipal 
law and her commitment to shaping thriving communities 
through her work. Lindsey has experience in a variety of matters, 
including drafting and amending ordinances to examining 
marihuana establishment applications and defending municipal 
policies. She provides valuable legal perspectives on complex 
issues such as municipal assets, short-term rentals, public 
meetings, and permitting. Lindsey is a graduate of Michigan State 
University. lgergel@fsbrlaw.com



9

Associate, Trent J. Cunningham is a member of the firm’s 
Municipal Group, with experience handling a broad array of issues, 
ranging from the Freedom of Information Act and Open Meetings 
Act to drafting zoning ordinance amendments and conducting zoning 
compliance reviews. Trent enjoys researching new and emerging
issues—such as short-term rentals, marihuana licensing, and changes 
in constitutional precedent—and how those cutting-edge legal issues 
impact local governments. His goal is to simplify complex issues into 
an easily understood explanation that can be used by a municipality 
to make informed and defensible decisions. Trent graduated summa 
cum laude from Michigan State University College of Law, where he 
was a Managing Editor on the Michigan State Law Review. 
tcunnningham@fsbrlaw.com

Associate, Madalin Sholtz found a passion in municipal law, 
stemming from her involvement in local governance from a young 
age and continuing throughout her career. Madi advises public 
entities on a range of legal issues, from property and zoning matters 
to ordinance development and inter-municipal agreements. She has 
a variety of experiences but has found particular interest in analyzing 
complex zoning issues, such as those involving legal nonconforming 
uses and the Right to Farm Act. Madi is a proud two-time alumnus 
of Michigan State University and strives to assist each client in making 
the most informed decision for their community. 
msholtz@fsbrlaw.com

FEES AND CHARGES
We serve townships efficiently and economically. We know that townships must carefully manage 
their legal expenses. To that end, we propose the following rates and billing practices for the 
Township.

Although our standard hourly rates currently range up to $310, for Tuscarora Township we 
propose a $295 capped rate for legal services. So, if the lawyer’s standard rate is less than 
$295, the Township will receive the lower rate, but if the lawyer’s rate is more than $295, you will 
not be billed more than $295 per hour. We bill for our legal services based on hourly rates that 
are assigned to each lawyer according to their years of experience and expertise. Hourly rates are 
subject to periodic review and adjustment at least annually. Lawyers primarily handling your matters 
would bill at the following hourly rates:



  10

Christopher Patterson  $295 
Helen Mills   $295 

 Ross K. Bower II  $295 
Wayne Beyea   $285 

Kyle O’Meara   $260 
Lindsey Gergel   $225 
Trent Cunningham  $190 
Madalin Sholtz   $175 

 

We will assign the right professional to each matter based on experience, efficiencies and abilities. 
If a matter requires only the experience of an associate, we would assign an associate. When a 
partner is required, we will assign a partner. When a particular specialty is required, an attorney 
with that specialty would be assigned. Our expertise in municipal law helps us manage the amount 
time spent accomplishing projects for our clients 

On request, we provide estimates of our anticipated fees on a matter when that is practicable. We 
can also set budgets on specific matters at your request. But unless we agree in writing to perform 
a specific service for a fixed fee, an estimate will not represent a maximum, minimum or agreed fee.  

Our rates are inclusive of all overhead costs. We will not charge you separate “cost” items for 
mileage, facsimiles, emails, telephone charges, overtime, photocopying within our office and other 
similar costs. Any additional costs we charge are limited to our actual, out-of-pocket cost (without 
a markup) for such items as witness fees, title work, third party messenger or overnight delivery 
services, process servers, court transcripts, court and government filing fees, outside printing, 
newspaper notices and similar third-party charges.  

We will invoice you at the beginning of each month for hourly rates and costs. Payment within 30 
days is expected, and we may charge you interest of 1% per month on accounts not paid within 30 
days. Invoices can be paid by check (to Fahey Schultz Burzych Rhodes PLC), cash, money order or 
electronic transfer (ACH). Please refer to our standard terms attached to the engagement letter 
for more detailed information on time and costs charged. 

NO CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
There are no pending matters or client relationships that would present a conflict of interest in the 
representation of Tuscarora Township.  
 
We avoid conflicts of interest wherever possible by not accepting clients that may likely have 
disputes with municipalities. Before engaging with new clients or opening new matters for a client, 
we conduct a search to determine whether a conflict may arise with an existing client. We have an 
electronic software that runs the names of adverse parties, clients, and potential clients. We also 
run a search of our entire file system. We abide by the Michigan Professional Rules of Conduct, 



  

10

which prohibits our lawyers from the representation of a client that will be directly adverse to that 
of another client. In the event that a conflict would arise in the future, the Township would be 
involved as required by the rules of conduct. Because we devote such a large percentage of our 
time to the representation of municipalities, we take this challenge very seriously. 
 
NON-DISCRIMINATION
We do not discriminate against any individual because of race, color, national origin, sex, age, height, 
weight, marital status, handicap or any other reason prohibited by applicable laws in our 
consideration for employment, selection of training, promotion, transfer, recruitment, rates of pay 
or other forms of compensation, demotion or separation. 

REFERENCES
We serve more than 150 municipalities and many other municipal governments, including cities, 
villages, counties, district libraries, lake improvement districts and drain commissioners. You are 
welcome to contact any of our clients, including the following municipal references nearby. We are 
happy to provide you with more references upon request. 
 
Mullett Township 
Laz Surabian, Supervisor 
231-290-3146 
 
Mullett Township 
Bobbie Balazovic, Treasurer 
231-290-3149 
 
Beaver Creek-Grayling Charter 
Townships Utility Authority  
Robert Lawe 
989- 745-8928 
 
Pine River Township  
Kevin Beson, Supervisor 
989-859-1754 
 
Peninsula Township 
Becky Chown, Clerk 
231-223-7321 
 
Hayes Township (Clare Co.)  
Debra Hoyt, Clerk  
989-539-7128 
 
 
 

Pinconning Township  
JoAnna Morin, Township Manager 
989-879-4018 
 
Arcada Township  
Doug Merchant, Supervisor 
989-289-7420 
 
Roscommon Township  
Diane Randall, Supervisor 
989-588-2552 
 
Big Creek Township 
Randy Booth, Supervisor 
989-390-0716 
 
Negaunee Township  
Nick Leach, Manager 
906-475-7869 
 
Breitung Charter Township  
Denny Olson, Supervisor 
906- 779-2050 
 
East Bay Township 
Beth Friend, Supervisor 
231-633-1110



11

A visual representation of our statewide reach

SUMMARY
Fahey Schultz Burzych Rhodes PLC and its lawyers are excited about the opportunity to represent 
Tuscarora Township. Our focus on serving municipalities, our depth and breadth of legal skills and 
our years of municipal experience will benefit the Township in ways that no other law firm can 
match. We look forward to assisting Tuscarora Township.

Sincerely,

CHRISTOPHER S.  PATTERSON

MEMBER

Direct: 517.381.3205
cpatterson@fsbrlaw.com



October 31, 2025 
 
 
Tuscarora Township Via Email 
Attn: Trudy Maves, Supervisor 
3546 S. Straits Hwy, PO Box 220 
Indian River, MI 49749 
 
Dear Township Board:  
 
 Re: Engagement re General Municipal Legal Services  
 
Thank you for selecting Fahey Schultz Burzych Rhodes PLC to represent Tuscarora Township.  
 
The scope of our engagement includes legal services as needed. We will do our best to provide 
timely legal advice and representation within the scope of the engagement. This letter confirms 
the terms of our agreement to represent Tuscarora Township. 

You will be our primary contact in this engagement, and I will be the primary attorney responsible 
for this engagement. Our time and costs will be charged as described in the enclosed Standard 
Terms, which are incorporated in this letter. My current hourly rate is $295. 

Although our normal hourly rates range up to $310 per hour, for Tuscarora Township our rates 
will be capped at $295 per hour. In other words, you will be billed at the lower of the capped 
rate or the standard hourly rate for any attorney. Our rates and rate cap may be adjusted 
annually.   

We appreciate the confidence you have in us and look forward to working with you. If you have 
any questions about this letter, please do not hesitate to call me. If you agree with the above, 
please return a signed copy of this letter so we can officially begin to represent Tuscarora 
Township’s interests. 
 
  



2 

Sincerely,  
 
 
 
 
CHRISTOPHER S.  PATTERSON 

MEMBER 

Direct: 517.381.3205 
cpatterson@fsbrlaw.com 

Acknowledged and Agreed: 

By: ______________________________   Dated: ___________, 2025 
 Trudy Maves, Supervisor 

Tuscarora Township 
 
 



STANDARD TERMS OF ENGAGEMENT 

Thank you for retaining Fahey Schultz Burzych Rhodes PLC (“Firm”) for legal services. These Standard 
Terms govern our engagement unless otherwise stated in your engagement letter or by the Rules of 
Professional Conduct. Please review these Standard Terms carefully and retain them in your files. If you have 
any questions about our legal representation or invoices, please contact your primary attorney promptly. 
 
1. SCOPE OF OUR SERVICES.  Our engagement letter states specific matter(s) where we represent 
you and the scope of our services, which can only be varied by express written agreement. Our services do 
not include tax advice unless specified in the engagement letter. If you request opinions of law or outcomes, 
our opinions are limited by known facts and law at the time our opinion is rendered, subject to factors unknown 
or beyond our control. We use our best professional judgment, but cannot guarantee any outcome. 
 
2. PRIMARY ATTORNEY.  The primary attorney responsible for your representation may use other 
attorneys, paralegals or non-legal professionals with the Firm in the exercise of professional judgment. 
Attorneys outside the Firm may be consulted to serve as legal advisors to the Firm based on their licensed 
status in other jurisdictions or expertise in particular legal specialties. 
 
3.  CLIENT.  The Firm will provide representation only to the person(s) or entity identified in our engagement 
letter. In matters for corporations, partnerships and other legal entities, unless otherwise agreed in writing, 
our representation does not extend to officers, directors, employees, shareholders, partners, members, 
individuals or any affiliates (such as parent, sister or subsidiary corporations). 
 
4.  OUR FEES.  Unless other arrangements are made, we will bill for our legal services at our hourly rates, 
which are available on request. Hourly rates are subject to periodic review and adjustment at least annually. 
On request, we provide estimates of our anticipated fees on a matter when, in our professional judgment, they 
can be made; but unless we agree in writing to perform a specific service for a fixed fee, an estimate will not 
represent a maximum, minimum or agreed fee. We may also consider the following factors as appropriate to 
submit invoices in excess of our standard hourly rates: novelty and difficulty of the question involved; skill 
requisite to perform the legal services; likelihood that acceptance of a particular matter will preclude other 
representation; fee customarily charged in the locality for similar services; risk assumed by the Firm in 
performing certain types of work; amount involved and results obtained; and any time limitations imposed by 
the Client or by other circumstances. 
 
5.  COSTS.  In addition to hourly rates, you must reimburse us for costs such as filing and recording, experts 
and expert witnesses, deposition transcripts, overnight or special delivery service, certified mail, mileage 
exceeding twenty-five (25) miles from our office and lodging (all without any mark-up). These costs will not 
include copies we make in-house, regular US postage, faxes or other costs that we typically consider as 
overhead. We submit costs in excess of $1,500.00 by third parties to you for direct payment.  
 
6.  INVOICES.  We will invoice you at the beginning of each month for hourly rates and costs. Payment 
within 30 days is expected, and we may charge you interest of 1% per month on accounts not paid within 30 
days. Invoices can be paid by check (to Fahey Schultz Burzych Rhodes PLC), cash, money order or electronic 
transfer (ACH). If you have questions on any invoice, contact your primary attorney as soon as possible. 
 



2 

7.  RETAINERS. Unless otherwise stated in the engagement letter, we may withdraw amounts from a 
retainer at any time as necessary to satisfy unpaid invoices. If the retainer becomes insufficient to cover past 
due invoices or falls below the agreed amount, you will be required to replenish the retainer. Any portion of 
the retainer remaining after all legal services have been paid for will be refunded to you. 
 
8. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST.  We try to identify existing and potential conflicts at the outset of any 
engagement. We may ask you to sign a conflict waiver prior to an engagement. Other clients or prospective 
clients may ask us to seek a conflict waiver from you to represent them, but that doesn’t mean we will represent 
you less zealously. If a conflict arises or appears after we begin an engagement, we will do our best to address 
and resolve the conflict consistent with our professional responsibilities. We will not represent any other client 
on a matter where we represent you unless you expressly agree and we can do so under the Rules of 
Professional Conduct. We may represent another client who is one of your market competitors. 
 
9.  INSURANCE COVERAGE.  You must determine if you are covered by insurance for liability or legal 
expenses. Please notify your insurer(s) of any claim or potential claim and our involvement as soon as possible. 
Please inform us if you have insurance coverage for the matter(s) for which we are retained. With your approval 
and cooperation of your insurer(s), we can work with or serve as assigned insurance counsel as appropriate. 
 
10. TERMINATION OF REPRESENTATION.  You may terminate our representation at any time, 
with or without cause. We may terminate your representation if you fail to pay us any amount invoiced, fail to 
cooperate with us, or we determine that your representation would violate the Rules of Professional 
Responsibility or be impractical. Termination of the representation does not relieve you of the obligation to 
pay for legal services we provided prior to termination or need to provide for orderly transfer to your new 
counsel. On termination of representation for any reason, we will return your papers, documents and other 
property to you at your request, but may retain a copy for our own files. If any unpaid invoices are owed to 
us, we may retain your documents if they are subject to a lien. When we complete the work for which you 
retained us, our representation will end. Any further or additional work will be subject to these Standard 
Terms unless otherwise expressly agreed in writing. 
 
11. RECORDS RETENTION.  Subject to the above, we will return your materials at the end of the 
engagement. After the engagement, in accordance with these Standard Terms, applicable law and the Rules of 
Professional Conduct, we will hold your files for seven (7) years, when they may be destroyed. We will attempt 
to notify you before destroying any files and may charge you to dispose of or retain your files. 
 
12.  ELECTRONIC DATA COMMUNICATION AND STORAGE.  We may communicate with 
you and others by email or fax, send data over the Internet, store electronic data via computer software 
applications hosted remotely on the Internet, or allow access to data through third-party vendors’ secured 
portals or clouds. Electronic data confidential to your matters(s) may be transmitted or stored using these 
methods. In using these data communication and storage methods, the Firm will make a reasonable effort to 
keep such communications and data secure in accordance with our obligations under applicable laws and 
professional standards. You agree that we have no control over the unauthorized interception or breach of 
any communications or data once it has been sent or has been subject to unauthorized access, notwithstanding 
all reasonable security measures employed by us or our third-party vendors. 
 
Please contact your primary attorney if you have any questions regarding these Standard Terms. 



LEGAL SERVICES BID FOR 
TUSCARORA TOWNSHIP

MICHAEL D. HOMIER
1700 East Beltline, N.E. Suite 200
Grand Rapids, MI 49525
616.726.2230

FOSTERSWIFT.COM



  

 

Bid for  1 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 Collins & Smith PC (“ ”) is a full- with 101  and 

with Grand Rapids, Lansing, 
 

  -in-
, K

interest  

 

libraries, and intergovernmental units, 
Township, and Boardman Township to name a few. 

  with land use and zoning, 

environmental issues, 

(“FOIA” “OMA”).  

 “ABA” are 
. 

 ’    

o Throughout our 
,  

o ’
 

o s’ 
’  

o 
 

  
 

 ’

review our  - -and- -
-group.html. 

 , a shareholder ’  will 
be the single point-of-  ’s phone number is 
616.726.2230, and his email is .



  

 

 Bid for  2 

STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS 
 

(“the Township“
 

 ’
-

 

 ’

intergovernmental units. 

FIRM EXPERIENCE 

1. FIRM NAME 
 

2. PRINCIPAL ADDRESS 
1700 East Beltline, N.E., Suite 200, Grand 

Rapids, MI 49525-7044. 

3. AREAS OF PRACTICE 
-

 

 

1.  
2.  
3. ’  
4.  
5.  
6. Trusts and Estates 

4. STAFFING 
As noted in the , is the single 
point-of- proposal.  

I  will serve as the Township 
While the Township will have a single point-of-

  will assign and oversee all Township 
 

 

 



  

 

 Bid for  3 

  
 

Leslie Abdoo   

   

   

Keith Brown   

   

   

 Environmental Law  

    

 
 

 

 

-
Township 

Township. 

 

. 



Bid for 4 

Overview
As the leader of the firm's Municipal Practice Group, Mike Homier focuses his 
practice in the areas of municipal law, public finance, zoning and land use as 
well as related litigation. Mike serves as general counsel for municipalities 
throughout Michigan, and has extensive experience representing counties, 
cities, villages, townships, libraries and municipal authorities facing a wide 
array of different legal challenges. In this capacity, he regularly handles high 
profile and sensitive issues.

Distance is not an obstacle to providing efficient and effective services, as Mike 
and his colleagues address day-to-day legal needs through the use of the 
telephone, video-conference, email and the Internet.

Mike has successfully helped municipalities in the planning and regulation of 
many commercial and residential developments. In addition to his planning 
and zoning expertise, he has gained significant experience in public finance 
and has served as issuer's counsel and bond counsel in several sophisticated 
projects. To keep on the cutting edge of this ever-changing discipline, Mike is 
a member of the National Association of Bond Lawyers and is listed in the 
"Red Book."

Mike is a skilled litigator who has extensive municipal litigation and 
prosecution experience. For many years, he was assigned as a special 
prosecutor by the Michigan Department of Labor and Economic Growth 
prosecuting occupational code violations and currently serves as lead 
prosecutor for many of the firm's municipal clients. Regardless of the type of 
litigation, Mike concentrates on obtaining client-driven results working closely 
with the municipality's administration to obtain the best results at the lowest 
reasonable cost.

Practices

Public Finance - Bond

Zoning & Land Use

Property Tax

Construction Law

Municipal & Public Entity 
Law

Municipal Litigation

Renewable Energy

Education
Michigan State University 
College of Law, J.D., 1999, 
magna cum laude

University of Arizona, B.A., 
1995

Bar & Court 
Admissions
Michigan

U.S. District Court for the 
Western District of Michigan

U.S. District Court for the 
Eastern District of Michigan

U.S. Sixth Circuit Court of 
Appeals

Michael D. 
Homier 
Administrative & Municipal Practice 
Group Leader

Grand Rapids, MI
Lansing, MI
616.726.2230
mhomier@fosterswift.com



Michael D. Homier 

Bid for 5

Experience
In Pegasus Wind LLC v. Tuscola County, on April 10th, 2024, the Michigan 
Supreme Court upheld Tuscola County and the Tuscola Area Airport Zoning 
Board of Appeals (ZBA) previous decision blocking Pegasus Wind LLC’s 
request to expand a wind farm after evidence showed that additional 
windmills would have posed a safety risk to aviators at a nearby airport. 
Homier was part of the team that represented Tuscola County and the ZBA 
Board and praised the court’s decision.

In a unanimous opinion issued April 13, 2023, the Michigan Court of Appeals 
held in favor of the City of East Lansing in a class-action lawsuit related to 
electric franchise fees. Heos v City of East Lansing, Court of Appeals Case Nos. 
361105, 361138. The Court of Appeals reversed earlier decisions of the 
Ingham County Circuit Court, which had granted summary disposition to 
plaintiff James Heos and other similarly situated Board of Water and Light 
customers. The Court of Appeals directed the circuit court to instead enter 
summary disposition in favor of the City on remand.

In reaching this decision, the Court of Appeals held that plaintiff’s claim under 
the Headlee Amendment to the Michigan Constitution and his similar 
equitable claims were untimely because they were not filed within one year 
after the franchise ordinance was adopted. The Court of Appeals further held 
that plaintiff could not bring an action under the 1905 Foote Act because the 
Foote Act only applies to electric utility providers, not electric customers. 
Consequently, the City was entitled to dismissal of all of plaintiff’s claims. The 
opinion is available online here.

Implementing a development and finance plan for improvements to two 
major roads that resulted in nearly $10 million of public improvements at no 
cost to the taxpayers, including as the Township's bond counsel for nearly $7 
million of special assessment bonds.

Negotiating and implementing an action plan to avoid substantial fines levied 
by the EGLE for violating ground water discharge limitations.

Negotiating a settlement of zoning litigation on favorable terms that also 
extended sanitary sewer service to an adjacent subdivision at a substantial 
reduction in cost to the homeowners.

Getting involved in litigation arising from the Township's sewer expansion 
through the County Board of Public Works which had the effect of ending 
protracted and costly litigation.

Working with the Fire Chief to achieve a lower interest rate for financing the 
Township's aerial platform truck saving taxpayer dollars.

U.S. Supreme Court



Michael D. Homier 

Bid for 6

Honors & Recognition
Former Member of Foster Swift Executive Committee

"Top Lawyer", Grand Rapids Magazine, 2022 and 2023 in Municipal Law

"Top Lawyer", Grand Rapids Magazine, 2023 in Land Use & Zoning

Memberships & Affiliations

Legal Affiliations:

American Bar Association

State Bar of Michigan

Grand Rapids Bar Association

Ingham County Bar Association

ACADEMIC POSITION: Western Michigan University Thomas M. Cooley Law 
School, Adjunct Professor of Zoning and Land Use Planning

Industry & Professional Associations:

National Association of Bond Lawyers

Michigan Association of Municipal Attorneys

Community Involvement:

Caledonia Planning Commission, Former Member

Caledonia Zoning Board of Appeals, Former Member

News & Resources

Publications

April 22, 2024 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News E-blast
Q&A: New DOJ Rule Requires State & Local Government Websites, Apps to be 
ADA Accessible

January 22, 2024 | Municipal Law News E-blast
Summary Language Approved for Proposed Ballot Initiative to Repeal 
Renewable Energy Siting Law

December 6, 2021 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News E-blast
Eligible Municipalities Encouraged to Register in Historic Opioid Settlement



Michael D. Homier 

Bid for 7

February 2020 | Michigan Township Focus Magazine
Zoning for Dollars

Events

April 26, 2022
Small Box Discount Retailers & Big Dollar Zoning Issues

April 21, 2021
Meeting Myths, Mysteries and Misconceptions

News

January 30, 2025 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News E-blast
Michigan Municipalities Demand Action: Support for House Bills 4027 and 
4028 to Restore Local Zoning and End State Overreach in Renewable Energy 
Development

November 22, 2024 | Globe Newswire
Foster Swift Files Motion for Preliminary Injunction to Block MPSC’s Unlawful 
October 10 Order

November 8, 2024 | Meltwater Newswire
Foster Swift Files Appeal on Behalf of Over 70 Michigan Municipalities to 
Protect Local Control Over Renewable Energy Regulations

April 14, 2023
City of East Lansing Prevails in Electric Franchise Fee Appeal

July 18, 2022 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News
Foster Swift Wins Victory for City in Marihuana Ordinance Appeal

February 16, 2020 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News
Foster Swift Participates at the 2020 MTA Conference



Bid for 8 

Overview
Leslie Abdoo is a member of Foster Swift's Municipal and General Litigation 
Practice Groups. Leslie advises the firm's public entity clients including cities, 
townships, counties, villages, libraries and local health departments on 
compliance with applicable state and federal laws. Matters she regularly 
handles for clients include:

Municipal Prosecution - misdemeanor and civil infraction ordinance and code 
violations 

Zoning, Planning and Land Use

Ordinance Drafting - police power and zoning ordinances including 
regulations for medical marijuana, wind energy, solar energy, short-term 
rentals, and broadband internet

Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) and Open Meetings Act (OMA) Compliance

Inter-local Agreement Negotiation and Drafting
.

In addition to her work with municipalities and local governments, Leslie also 
handles a wide range of commercial litigation matters where she has 
represented businesses, health care entities, property owners and insurance 
companies. She also regularly handles administrative appeals, such as from 
zoning ordinance interpretations or other administrative agencies.

Leslie is a graduate of the University of Michigan and Notre Dame Law School 
where she received the Dean's Award in Notre Dame's Intensive Trial Advocacy 
Course. She was also selected to participate in Notre Dame's Advanced 
Criminal Justice Externship where she represented criminal defendants 
charged with lower-level felonies.

Practices

Municipal Prosecution

Municipal & Public Entity 
Law

Litigation

Education
University of Notre Dame 
Law School, J.D., 2014

University of Michigan, B.A., 
2011, with distinction,
Political Science and 
Communication Studies

Bar & Court 
Admissions
Michigan

U.S. District Court for the 
Western District of Michigan

U.S. Sixth Circuit Court of 
Appeals

Leslie A. Abdoo 
Shareholder

Grand Rapids, MI
616.726.2232
labdoo@fosterswift.com



Leslie A. Abdoo 

Bid for 9

Honors & Recognition
3 in 10 Award, Grand Rapids Bar Association, 2020

Best Lawyers in America© "One to Watch" (Municipal Law), 2021-2025

Best Lawyers in America© "One to Watch" (Commercial Litigation), 2024-2025

Memberships & Affiliations

Legal Affiliations:

State Bar of Michigan

Grand Rapids Bar Association

Women Lawyers Association of West Michigan 

Member of the Board of Directors, Treasurer
.

Community Involvement:

Grand Rapids Ballet Company 

Member of the Board of Directors

News & Resources

Publications

February 2, 2023 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News
Distribution of Michigan’s $81M Share of Opioid Settlement to Begin

March 23, 2021 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News E-blast
American Rescue Plan Act Provides Federal Funding for Michigan Local 
Governments

October 19, 2020 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News E-blast
An Update on OMA Legislation Amendments

October 14, 2020 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News E-blast
Pending OMA Legislation: What You Need to Know

Events

June 7, 2023
Innovative Approaches to Wind and Solar



Leslie A. Abdoo 

Bid for 10

April 26, 2022
Best Practices for Townships for Complying with ADA & Fair Housing Act

October 28, 2021
What You Need to Know Now About Renewable Energy Ordinances

September 24, 2021
Marijuana Petitions Ballot Proposals

November 10, 2020
Meeting Virtually: Amendments to the Open Meetings Act

April 27, 2020
FOIA and OMA Updates

News

January 30, 2025 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News E-blast
Michigan Municipalities Demand Action: Support for House Bills 4027 and 
4028 to Restore Local Zoning and End State Overreach in Renewable Energy 
Development

November 8, 2024 | Meltwater Newswire
Foster Swift Files Appeal on Behalf of Over 70 Michigan Municipalities to 
Protect Local Control Over Renewable Energy Regulations

February 16, 2020 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News
Foster Swift Participates at the 2020 MTA Conference



Bid for 11

Overview
Courtney Gabbara Agrusa is a municipal law attorney, and she has been since 
the day she began her legal career as a staff attorney for a local City Attorney 
office. Based in Foster Swift’s Southfield office, Courtney’s practice focuses 
exclusively on working with Michigan counties, cities, villages, townships, and 
other governmental entities to provide counsel in municipal corporate and 
public sector labor matters. Having stood in her clients’ shoes and sat 
shoulder to shoulder with them, Courtney knows first-hand the unique 
business and legal needs of municipal entities.

In her capacity as a municipal law attorney, Courtney works tirelessly to help 
her clients navigate the ever changing demands faced by local governments. 
As an insider and a community member, she recognizes the impact, directly 
and indirectly, a municipal entity’s decisions and actions have on all members 
of those communities.

Municipal Law

“Municipal law” covers a wide range of issues including, but not limited to, 
elections, labor & employment, governance, ordinance reviews, taxes, special 
assessments, planning, codes & compliance, human resources, public safety, 
emergency services, civil rights, animal control, environmental, public works, 
drafting and reviewing contracts of all types (e.g., software, construction, 
affiliation agreements, urban cooperation contracts, and cell towers), 
libraries, tribal law, parks, and parking.

Courtney’s direct experience in a local City Attorney’s office, including serving 
as Interim City Clerk; at a boutique municipal law firm for almost six years; 
and at Foster Swift includes advising and representing municipal entities in 
the areas described above and more.

Courtney believes collaboration is the key to success when working with 
municipalities. Taking the approach that her client contacts are subject matter 

Practices

Election & Campaign 
Finance Law

Employment Law

Firearm Regulation Law

Freedom of Information Act

Labor Relations

Municipal & Public Entity 
Law

Open Meetings Act

Zoning & Land Use

Education
Michigan State University 
College of Law, J.D., 2012

Michigan State University, 
B.S. in Psychology, 2009

Bar & Court 
Admissions
Michigan

U.S. District Court for the 
Western District of Michigan

U.S. District Court for the 
Eastern District of Michigan

Courtney 
Gabbara Agrusa 
Senior Attorney

Southfield, MI
248.538.6326
cagrusa@fosterswift.com



Courtney Gabbara Agrusa 

Bid for 12

experts in their own respective lines of work (e.g., tax, public works, code 
compliance, finance, and zoning), Courtney works closely with her clients to 
ensure she understands their needs, goals, and perspectives. This type of 
collaboration and work dynamic allows Courtney to build strong working 
relationships with her clients and to provide the high-quality legal services her 
clients need.

A typical week includes attending council, commission, and board meetings; 
meeting with, talking with, and advising her clients; reviewing and revising 
contracts, ordinances, and millages; researching and drafting opinions and 
memoranda; appearing in court; and negotiating public employer labor and 
employment matters.

Some of the statutes Courtney regularly deals with include:

Freedom of Information Act (FOIA)

Open Meetings Act (OMA)

Michigan Zoning Enabling Act (MZEA)

Michigan Planning Enabling Act (MPEA)
.

Municipal Employment & Labor Matters

One of Courtney’s sub-niches within municipal law is the navigation and 
litigation of labor and employment matters. These include employee 
disciplinary matters, labor negotiations, grievance arbitrations, unfair labor 
practices, Equal Employment Opportunity Commission Charges, Michigan 
Department of Civil Rights Complaints and Unemployment Insurance Agency 
Appeals.

Her public employer clients also call on her for a vast range of hands-on 
support, from facilitating meetings between unhappy employees, their union 
representatives, their direct supervisors, and HR, to preparing last chance 
agreements, disciplinary agreements, and termination documents, 
negotiating resignations in lieu of termination, and actually terminating 
employment. She regularly drafts, reviews, and revises both employment and 
personnel policies, procedures, and handbooks.

Employment related statutes Courtney regularly deals with include:

Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA)

Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA)

Paid Medical Leave Act (PMLA)

Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA)

Earned Sick Time Act (ESTA)



Courtney Gabbara Agrusa 

Bid for 13

Improved Workforce Opportunity Wage Act (IWOWA)

Bullard Plawecki Employee Right-to-Know Act
.

Michigan Election Law

Having served, by necessity, as an Interim City Clerk during a challenging 
election year, Courtney recognizes first-hand the scrutiny municipal entities 
face, and the personal toll it takes on individuals, when it comes to matters 
involving elections.

She is now routinely retained to help municipalities with full-time or part-time 
Clerks get through and survive turbulent election scenarios under intense 
time constraints. Courtney consults clients on recall issues, recounts, and 
other election challenges, resulting in the litigation of recall appeals and 
oversight of recounts. She also consults with them before election cycles in a 
preventive law capacity.

Honors & Recognition
Jurisprudence Achievement Award, Michigan State University College of Law, 
2012

Memberships & Affiliations
Legal Affiliations:

State Bar of Michigan 

Government Law Section

Insurance and Indemnity Law Section

Labor and Employment Law Section

Municipal Law Committee

Chaldean American Bar Association 

Member (2017-Present)

Michigan State University College of Law Alumni Association 

President (2022-2025)

Vice President (2019-2022)

Board of Directors, Ms. JD 

Board Member (2011-2015)

Women Lawyers Association of Michigan 

Member (2021 – Present)
.



Courtney Gabbara Agrusa 

Bid for 14

Community Affiliations:

Chaldean Americans for Whitmer Leadership Council 

Member (2022)

Chaldeans Advisory Counsel for Biden/Harris 

Member (2020)

Planned Parenthood Advocates of Michigan 

Board of Directors (2024 – Present)

News & Resources

Publications

June 23, 2025 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News
What Does SCOTUS Stance on Assault Weapons Mean for Firearm 
Regulations?

April 28, 2025 | Foster Swift Labor & Employment Law News
New Law Changes in Effect for Employers Hiring Minors

February 21, 2025 | Foster Swift Labor & Employment Law E-blast
What Employers Need to Know About Michigan's Amended Earned Sick Time 
Act

January 15, 2025 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News
New Laws Prohibit Firearms at Polling Places and Other Election Locations

October 3, 2024 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News
Polling Place and Voter Etiquette Guidelines: Election Day Q&A

July 31, 2024 | Labor & Employment Law News E-blast
Michigan Employers Alert: Major Changes to Sick Leave & Minimum Wage 
Effective Feb 2025!

July 23, 2024 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News
Extreme Risk Protection Orders: Q&A on Michigan’s Red Flag Gun Laws

March 25, 2024 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News
Lindke v. Freed: When Public Officials Can Be Held Liable for Blocking 
Individuals on Social Media

January 30, 2024 | Labor & Employment Law News E-blast
Independent Contractor Final Rule Could Have Major Impact on Select 
Industries

November 30, 2023 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News E-blast
Update: Whitmer Signs Energy Bills, Restricting Facilities



Courtney Gabbara Agrusa 

Bid for 15

November 16, 2023 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News E-blast
Proposed Bills to Affect Energy Facilities

Events

September 17, 2025
Labor & Employment Law Update: 2025 Recap and Insights for 2026

May 14, 2025
New Law Changes in Effect for Employers Hiring Minors

April 2, 2025
Nip It in the Bud: The Importance of Strong Policies and Handbooks

February 25, 2025
What Employers Need to Know About Michigan's Amended Earned Sick Time 
Act

October 30, 2024
Writing Policy — Liability Considerations

September 18, 2024
2024 Virtual Labor & Employment Law Update

September 11, 2024
An Overview Guide to Michigan's Gun Laws

August 14, 2024
Election Day 2024: A Guide to Essential Polling Etiquette

News

January 30, 2025 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News E-blast
Michigan Municipalities Demand Action: Support for House Bills 4027 and 
4028 to Restore Local Zoning and End State Overreach in Renewable Energy 
Development

Blog Posts

August 22, 2024 | Michigan Election Law Blog
An Election Day Guide to Essential Polling Etiquette

July 11, 2024 | Michigan Election Law Blog
A Guide to Regulating Petition Circulators: Best Practices and Key 
Considerations



Bid for 16

Overview
Mackenzie Almassian is an associate and a member of Foster Swift’s municipal 
practice group in the firm’s Grand Rapids office where she assists in Municipal 
and Public Entity Law, Municipal Litigation, and Administrative Law.

"Growing up, I never thought I would go to law school. I have several lawyers in my 
family and always thought “that’s just not for me.” says Mackenzie. "When I was 
in my senior year of college and had to start thinking seriously about a career, I 
made a list of all things I like to do: read, write, learn, and talk. Turns out, that’s 
what lawyers do!" 

Mackenzie received both her undergraduate and law degrees from Michigan 
State University. Graduating with her B.A. in Comparative Cultures and Politics 
in 2021 from Michigan State’s James Madison College. During undergrad, she 
fostered three service dogs in training, one of which, Nemo, “dropped out” and 
now lives happily as a couch potato.

While attending MSU College of Law, she was a part of the Michigan State Law 
Review, Moot Court, and Great Lakes First Amendment Clinic.

Received a Best Oral Advocate Award at a national Moot Court Competition

Jurisprudence Awards in: First Amendment Clinic and Labor & Employment 
Law

.

Outside of work, Mackenzie enjoys cooking, reading a good book, and staying 
up to date on all things True Crime.

She was featured as a Co-Author in the publication Algorithms, Addiction, and 
Adolescent Mental Health: An Interdisciplinary Study to Inform State-level Policy 
Action to Protect Youth from the Dangers of Social Media, American Journal of Law 
& Medicine, Feb 12, 2024.

Practices

Administrative Law

Equine Law

Municipal & Public Entity 
Law

Municipal Litigation

Education
Michigan State University 
College of Law, J.D., 2024

Michigan State University, 
B.A. Comparative Cultures 
and Politics, 2021

Bar & Court 
Admissions
Michigan

U.S. District Court for the 
Western District of Michigan

Mackenzie M. 
Almassian 
Associate

Grand Rapids, MI
616.726.2204
malmassian@fosterswift.com



Mackenzie M. Almassian 

Bid for 17

Memberships & Affiliations
GR Bar Association 

Western Michigan Federal Bar Association

News & Resources

Publications

June 28, 2023 | Finance Real Estate & Bankruptcy News
What are the Different Types of Easements?

June 14, 2023 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News
Proposed Changes to PACE: What You Need to Know

Events

April 2, 2025
Social Media Pitfalls

March 31, 2025
Municipal Case Law Review

News

January 30, 2025 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News E-blast
Michigan Municipalities Demand Action: Support for House Bills 4027 and 
4028 to Restore Local Zoning and End State Overreach in Renewable Energy 
Development



Bid for 18

Overview
A former teacher and performer, Keith T. Brown has held many leadership 
roles and understands the importance of accessible communication, empathy, 
and storytelling. These skills and traits are invaluable in Keith’s practice at 
Foster Swift. Keith aids clients in all sorts of municipal matters, such as the 
METRO Act, constitutional questions, employment matters, the Open 
Meetings Act, the Freedom of Information Act, zoning, election law, litigation, 
and a variety of other concerns that leaders may be faced with.

Municipal Law

As a member of Foster Swift’s municipal group, Keith works with a team of 
highly experienced and devoted attorneys that represent municipal clients of 
all sizes and characteristics throughout Michigan and has likely encountered 
the same situation you are facing.

Keith brings his experience in the classroom, meeting room, and the 
performance hall to the practice of law. Keith understands that the keys to 
success for local leaders is knowing how to fully evaluate the situation at hand, 
including the applicable rules, processes, and personalities; how to effectively 
communicate a vision and plan; and how to guide those visions and plans to 
adoption and implementation. Accordingly, he aims to model these skills and 
guide elected and appointed officials, at all levels, to be the best 
representatives of their constituents and leaders of their communities that 
they can be. 

As an educator, Keith understood that his students would reach their goals in 
their own ways and at their own pace, and he knew that his role was to provide 
guidance, advice, knowledge, and expertise, but not to make the final decision 
or chose the specific direction a student took. Keith knows that the role of 
municipal attorney is quite similar. His role is to help officials work out details 
while remembering the big picture, and to provide guidance about what is 

Practices

Administrative Law

Appellate Practice

Municipal & Public Entity 
Law

Municipal Litigation

Education
Western Michigan 
University Thomas M. 
Cooley Law School, magna 
cum laude J.D., 2020

Grand Valley State 
University, B.S., 2012

Clerkships
Michigan Court of Appeals

Bar & Court 
Admissions
Michigan

Western District of Michigan

Keith T. Brown 
Associate

Grand Rapids, MI
616.726.2211
kbrown@fosterswift.com



Keith T. Brown 

Bid for 19

legally required or permitted in order to aid the officials to make the best 
decisions for their constituents and communities to lower the legal risk.

Appellate Law

A successful appellate practice requires knowledge of how the appellate 
system works, how to navigate it, how to apply both old and new law, and how 
to persuade appellate judges. Keith has worked on all manners of appeals-
from municipal law, including zoning, to general civil and administrative 
appeals to criminal cases. 

Before joining the firm, Keith learned each of these things firsthand, working 
first as a Research Attorney and then as a judicial law to the Honorable 
Christopher P. Yates at the Michigan Court of Appeals. Keith brings both his 
experience as an educator and as an attorney with the court to appellate 
practice. He understands that carefully choosing the issues to appeal and how 
to present them- and how to present a story of the case- to a panel of 
appellate judges is a major key to success. 

Appeals, like trials, are about storytelling. They are mostly decided on the 
standard of review (the level of deference the appellate court must give to the 
trial court’s decision) and the briefs, and Keith takes great care to write in the 
most clear and persuasive manner possible about the most fruitful issues. He 
also understands what judges expect from oral argument and how to best 
frame the case to the panel.

A good appellate practitioner speaks the language of appellate courts, and can 
both translate that language to the client and translate the client’s story to the 
court. Keith understands both sides of that equation and works tirelessly to 
do both.

Outside of Law

Keith was raised in the most quintessential Michigan way, as the son of an 
autoworker and school bus driver, growing up in Wayne County. In high 
school, he was a drum major of his marching band and became an Eagle Scout. 
Then he attended Grand Valley State University where he was a leader in the 
marching band and founded and led an award-winning chapter of a student 
organization. He has lived in West Michigan ever since.

Before joining the legal profession, Keith served as a K-12 educator in districts 
throughout Michigan, where he taught middle and high school social studies, 
served as a substitute in a variety of settings, directed an after-school program 
for disadvantaged students, and for nearly a decade coached high school 
marching band.



Keith T. Brown 

Bid for 20

Keith attended Western Michigan University Thomas M. Cooley law school in 
Kalamazoo and Grand Rapids. There, he served as a teaching assistant, 
president of the student bar, and as a member of numerous student 
leadership boards. He won awards for “best brief” and for being the “top 
advocate” in moot court competitions. He also interned as a law clerk in the 
United States District Court for the Western District of Michigan.

Keith now lives in Holland, Michigan, with his wife Sarah and his two 
stepchildren. They share their home with two Siberian Huskies, two cats, and 
a pet chicken. The family enjoys taking trips to museums, comic-cons, fairs, 
and the beach. Keith loves to study history and politics, roots for Detroit sports 
teams (he has a jar of dirt he collected near first base at old Tiger Stadium and 
autographed baseballs from, among others, Ernie Harwell and Al Kaline), and 
marches with the Laker Alumni Marching Band at GVSU, of which he is a 
founder and has served on the leadership team since 2012.

Experience
In Pegasus Wind LLC v. Tuscola County, on April 10th, 2024, the Michigan 
Supreme Court upheld Tuscola County and the Tuscola Area Airport Zoning 
Board of Appeals (ZBA) previous decision blocking Pegasus Wind LLC’s 
request to expand a wind farm after evidence showed that additional 
windmills would have posed a safety risk to aviators at a nearby airport. 
Brown was part of the team that represented Tuscola County and the ZBA 
Board and praised the court’s decision.

In re Petition of Muskegon County Treasurer for Foreclosure (Muskegon County 
Treasurer v Beeman et al), ___ Mich App ___ (2023) (Docket No. 363764) 
(upholding as constitutional Section 78t of the Michigan General Property Tax 
Act (MCL 211.78t), which requires former owners of tax-foreclosed property 
to file a notice of intent to claim any remaining proceeds by July 1).

Memberships & Affiliations
Professional Affiliations:

Institute of Continuing Legal Education (ICLE) 

New Lawyers Advisory Board
.

Community Affiliations:

Grand Valley State University 

Laker Alumni Marching Band, Board Member

National Eagle Scout Association 



Keith T. Brown 

Bid for 21

Member

Kappa Kappa Psi National Honorary Band Fraternity 

Member

News & Resources

Publications

September 30, 2024 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News E-blast
Foster Swift Prevails at Michigan Supreme Court in Major Victory for County 
Treasurers

January 22, 2024 | Municipal Law News E-blast
Summary Language Approved for Proposed Ballot Initiative to Repeal 
Renewable Energy Siting Law

September 19, 2023 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News
Carbon Sequestration Wells: A New Land Use to Consider in Zoning 
Ordinances

September 18, 2023 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News
The Next Controversial Land Use: Utility-Scale Battery Facilities

June 15, 2023 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News
What Does Tyler v Hennepin County Mean for Foreclosures in Michigan?

April 10, 2023 | Spring 2023 Michigan Appellate Practice Journal
Focus Orders & Tentative Opinions: Ways to Make Oral Argument More 
Efficient

Events

April 2, 2025
Social Media Pitfalls

March 31, 2025
Municipal Case Law Review

April 22, 2024
Municipal Case Law Review

October 4, 2023
Controversial Land Uses

April 17, 2023
Municipal Case Law Review



Keith T. Brown 

Bid for 22

News

January 30, 2025 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News E-blast
Michigan Municipalities Demand Action: Support for House Bills 4027 and 
4028 to Restore Local Zoning and End State Overreach in Renewable Energy 
Development

October 26, 2023 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News E-blast
Foster Swift Wins Major Victory for County Treasurers

Blog Posts

November 21, 2022 | Michigan Election Law Blog
Michigan Voters Pass Two Election-Related Constitutional Amendments



Bid for 23

Overview
Laura Genovich is a shareholder in the Foster Swift’s Grand Rapids office. 
Laura practices municipal law, appellate law, and bankruptcy/commercial law 
and is the Chair of the firm’s Appellate Practice Group.

MUNICIPAL AND LAND USE LAW

Counsel for Municipalities

Laura serves as general counsel for counties, cities, villages, and townships 
across the state and is known for her legal expertise, responsiveness, and 
ability to communicate clearly to clients and their constituents. Her areas of 
municipal law expertise include:

Land use and zoning

Election law and campaign finance issues

Marihuana/cannabis ordinances

Parliamentary procedure/Robert’s Rules of Order (as a member of the 
National Association of Parliamentarians)

Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) and Open Meetings Act (OMA) compliance

Alternative energy (wind and solar) regulations

Labor/employment matters

Real estate transactions

Special assessments and property tax exemptions

Contract drafting and negotiation
.

Counsel for Private Clients

Laura also works with both public entities and private clients (including 
developers and neighborhood groups) on land use matters, including 

Practices

Appellate Practice

Bankruptcy & Restructuring

Litigation

Collections / Creditor - 
Debtor Rights

Municipal & Public Entity 
Law

School Law Services

Election & Campaign 
Finance Law

Finance & Real Estate 
Development

Governmental Relations

Property Tax

Real Estate Development

Renewable Energy

Zoning & Land Use

Education
Thomas M. Cooley Law 
School, J.D., 2008, summa 
cum laude

Laura J. 
Genovich 
Shareholder

Grand Rapids, MI
616.726.2238
lgenovich@fosterswift.com



Laura J. Genovich 

Bid for 24

development agreements, annexations, Act 425 agreements, and zoning 
approvals (such as special land use permits and rezonings).

LITIGATION & APPELLATE LAW

A seasoned advocate, Laura regularly represents local governments and 
private clients in trial-level and appellate cases. Recent appellate victories 
include:

Beeman et al v Muskegon County Treasurer (Michigan Court of Appeals, 2023) 
(upholding decision in favor of county treasurer and holding as a matter of 
first impression that Section 78t of the General Property Tax Act is 
constitutional).

Heos v City of East Lansing (Michigan Court of Appeals, 2023) (holding in favor 
of city in Headlee Amendment class action lawsuit).

Let Them Breathe v Health Department of Northwest Michigan (Michigan Court of 
Appeals, 2023) (upholding dismissal of challenge to local health department 
order).

Cary Investments, LLC v City of Mount Pleasant (Michigan Court of Appeals, 2022) 
(upholding dismissal of challenge to city’s marihuana regulation ordinance 
and competitive process).

.

In addition to her extensive experience in Michigan's trial and appellate 
courts, Laura has argued before the United States Court of Appeals for the 
Sixth Circuit and co-authored a merits-stage amicus brief in the Supreme 
Court of the United States on behalf of a township client.

COMMERCIAL LITIGATION & BANKRUPTCY LAW

Laura represents individuals and businesses in contract and collection 
disputes in her commercial law practice, with a specialty in representing 
creditors and trustees in bankruptcy cases. Her depth of experience comes 
from more than a decade of service as a Chapter 7 and Chapter 12 bankruptcy 
trustee in the Western District of Michigan. Her areas of expertise include:

Defending creditors against preference demands by bankruptcy trustees

Preparing and substantiating proofs of claims

Filing actions in Bankruptcy Court to determine that certain debts are 
nondischargeable

Obtaining relief from the automatic stay

Determining creditors' status as critical vendors

Defending creditors in cases alleging violations of the automatic stay and 
discharge injunction

.

Ohio University, B.S., 2005, 
summa cum laude, 
Communications

Bar & Court 
Admissions
Michigan

U.S. District Court for the 
Western District of Michigan

U.S. District Court for the 
Eastern District of Michigan

U.S. Sixth Circuit Court of 
Appeals



Laura J. Genovich 

Bid for 25

WRITING AND SPEAKING

In addition to her full-time service to clients, Laura is committed to improving 
the practice of law, and she has published a book on clear legal writing ("The 
Plain Language Practice"), which is also a frequent topic on her popular 
LinkedIn page. She has appeared on legal podcasts, including the XL Legal 
Podcast and the Thought Leadership Podcast, and she is an adjunct professor 
at Cooley Law School. 

Experience
In Pegasus Wind LLC v. Tuscola County, on April 10th, 2024, the Michigan 
Supreme Court upheld Tuscola County and the Tuscola Area Airport Zoning 
Board of Appeals (ZBA) previous decision blocking Pegasus Wind LLC’s 
request to expand a wind farm after evidence showed that additional 
windmills would have posed a safety risk to aviators at a nearby airport. 
Genovich was part of the team that represented Tuscola County and the ZBA 
Board and praised the court’s decision.

In a unanimous opinion issued April 13, 2023, the Michigan Court of Appeals 
held in favor of the City of East Lansing in a class-action lawsuit related to 
electric franchise fees. Heos v City of East Lansing, Court of Appeals Case Nos. 
361105, 361138. The Court of Appeals reversed earlier decisions of the 
Ingham County Circuit Court, which had granted summary disposition to 
plaintiff James Heos and other similarly situated Board of Water and Light 
customers. The Court of Appeals directed the circuit court to instead enter 
summary disposition in favor of the City on remand.

In reaching this decision, the Court of Appeals held that plaintiff’s claim under 
the Headlee Amendment to the Michigan Constitution and his similar 
equitable claims were untimely because they were not filed within one year 
after the franchise ordinance was adopted. The Court of Appeals further held 
that plaintiff could not bring an action under the 1905 Foote Act because the 
Foote Act only applies to electric utility providers, not electric customers. 
Consequently, the City was entitled to dismissal of all of plaintiff’s claims. The 
opinion is available online here. 

Represented bankruptcy trustee in corporate Chapter 7 case and filed more 
than 40 avoidance lawsuits against preference recipients, resulting in the 
recovery of more than $500,000 for the bankruptcy estate. 

Served as co-counsel for township in taxpayer's appeal of more than $3 
million in corrected and supplemental special assessments, which resulted in 
judgment favorable to the township.

Represented township in a local resident's Chapter 11 bankruptcy case to 
enforce township's zoning ordinance.



Laura J. Genovich 

Bid for 26

Represented creditor against trustee's demand for more than $170,000 in 
alleged preference payments. 

Successfully defended public employer in arbitration, resulting in the denial 
of multiple grievances.

Honors & Recognition
Michigan Assessors Association’s (MAA) Michigan Property Tax Achievement 
Award, 2017-2018

Best Lawyers® 2022 Litigation - Bankruptcy "Lawyer of the Year" in Grand 
Rapids

Best Lawyers in America®, for Bankruptcy and Creditor Debtor Rights / 
Insolvency and Reorganization Law, 2018-2026

Best Lawyers in America® - (Litigation - Bankruptcy, Municipal Law), 2021-2026

"Top Lawyer", Grand Rapids Magazine, 2022 and 2023 in Municipal Law

"Top Lawyer", Grand Rapids Magazine, 2019 in Bankruptcy and Creditor/Debtor 
Rights Law

Michigan Super Lawyers "Rising Star," Bankruptcy: Business, 2012-2023

Michigan Lawyers Weekly, "Women in the Law", 2017

Grand Rapids Bar Association "3-in-10" Award, 2017

Memberships & Affiliations

Legal Affiliations:

Federal Bar Association Bankruptcy Section (Western District of Michigan), 
Steering Committee Member

Grand Rapids Bar Association

Michigan State Bar Foundation 

Fellow

State Bar of Michigan 

Council, Appellate Practice Section
.

Industry & Professional Associations:

American Bankruptcy Institute



Laura J. Genovich 

Bid for 27

National Association of Bankruptcy Trustees

National Association of Parliamentarians

Grand Rapids Young Professionals

Inforum
.

Community Involvement:

Michigan Ballet Academy 

Board of Directors, 2024-present

Grand Rapids Symphony Chorus 

Board of Directors, 2011-2012

News & Resources

Publications

September 30, 2024 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News E-blast
Foster Swift Prevails at Michigan Supreme Court in Major Victory for County 
Treasurers

July 19, 2024 | Township Focus (MTA)
Boosting Board Engagement

January 22, 2024 | Municipal Law News E-blast
Summary Language Approved for Proposed Ballot Initiative to Repeal 
Renewable Energy Siting Law

November 16, 2023 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News E-blast
Proposed Bills to Affect Energy Facilities

June 15, 2023 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News
What Does Tyler v Hennepin County Mean for Foreclosures in Michigan?

June 14, 2023 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News
Proposed Changes to PACE: What You Need to Know

February 23, 2022 | Contract Nerds Blog
Ten Tips for Writing Clear Contracts

Events

April 24, 2024
Campaign Finance Act: What Can We Say?

April 24, 2024
Can They FOIA That?



Laura J. Genovich 

Bid for 28

October 5, 2023
Boosting Board Engagement and Ground Rules for Great Meetings

July 29, 2023
Case Law Update

June 22, 2022
Property Tax Exemptions

May 11, 2022
State Corporate Rights in Bankruptcy

April 27, 2022
What to Do with a Marijuana Initiative Referendum

March 16, 2022
The Latest on Marihuana in Michigan

February 21, 2022
Municipal Ordinances

November 11, 2021
Case Law Update

October 28, 2021
What You Need to Know Now About Renewable Energy Ordinances

September 24, 2021
Case Law Update

July 19, 2021
Best Practices for Navigating Our Virtual World

November 11, 2020
Consumer Case Law Update

April 28, 2020
What to Do with a Marijuana Initiative Referendum

January 20, 2020
Debtor's Bar of West Michigan 10th Annual Conference

News

January 30, 2025 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News E-blast
Michigan Municipalities Demand Action: Support for House Bills 4027 and 
4028 to Restore Local Zoning and End State Overreach in Renewable Energy 
Development

November 8, 2024 | Meltwater Newswire
Foster Swift Files Appeal on Behalf of Over 70 Michigan Municipalities to 
Protect Local Control Over Renewable Energy Regulations



Laura J. Genovich 

Bid for 29

October 26, 2023 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News E-blast
Foster Swift Wins Major Victory for County Treasurers

April 14, 2023
City of East Lansing Prevails in Electric Franchise Fee Appeal

July 18, 2022 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News
Foster Swift Wins Victory for City in Marihuana Ordinance Appeal

February 16, 2020 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News
Foster Swift Participates at the 2020 MTA Conference

Blog Posts

September 2, 2022 | Michigan Election Law Blog
Supreme Court Offers Additional Guidance on Sign Restrictions

March 14, 2022 | Michigan Election Law Blog
Can We Ban That Sign?

July 9, 2021 | Michigan Election Law Blog
Michigan House Bill to Require Training for All Election Challengers

May 20, 2021 | Michigan Election Law Blog
Township Clerk Arraigned After Ballot Mishap

September 17, 2020 | Michigan Election Law Blog
Bill Passes Michigan Senate, Allowing Qualifying Cities and Townships to 
Process Absentee Ballots Prior to Election Day

August 27, 2020 | Michigan Election Law Blog
Judge Feeney to Appear on Ballot as Incumbent, with Separate Listing

August 26, 2020 | Michigan Election Law Blog
Election Guidelines for Public Bodies in Compliance with MCFA



Bid for 30

Overview
Mark Koerner focuses his practice in two niche areas -- Transit Authority Law 
and Environmental Law. As he has from the start of his legal career, he also 
counsels and represents a range of other clients on litigation, business law, 
and information technology matters. 

Regardless of the legal area, Mark strives to find practical solutions that keep 
clients moving forward. He has been a speaker at the Michigan Township 
Association's annual conference and at the Rural Transit Manager's workshop. 
His experience includes the following: 

Transit: Having started with one transit authority in 2012, Mark now functions 
as outside General Counsel for more than 20 transit authorities. His transit 
work includes advising on a wide range of general operations matters as well 
as contract and policy drafting and review; negotiations; public financing; 
construction of new transit facilities; and compliance with state and federal 
laws. 

negotiation and drafting of collective bargaining agreements

grievance defense

mediation and arbitration

advising on employment practices

drafting employment policy and procedure manuals

contract review

Environmental: Mark’s environmental work includes: environmental 
litigation; air, water, waste, natural resource permitting and approval; air, 
water, soil, ground water, surface water, natural resource, negotiation of 
contracts, insurance, review of due diligence for transactions, investigation 
and cleanup of contaminated sites, sewer authorities, and recycling.

Practices

Business & Tax

Cybersecurity and Data 
Privacy

Employment Law

Environmental Law

Litigation

Municipal & Public Entity 
Law

Technology Law

Education
University of Illinois 
Chicago, J.D., 2000

University of Illinois 
Chicago, LL.M., 2000, 
Information Technology Law

Michigan State University, 
B.A., 1996 

Bar & Court 
Admissions
Illinois

Michigan

U.S. District Court for the 
Western District of Michigan

Mark T. Koerner 
Shareholder

Lansing, MI
517.371.8226
mkoerner@fosterswift.com



Mark T. Koerner 

Bid for 31

General and Commercial Litigation: Mark has handled litigation for 
businesses, other entities, and individuals since his first year as a lawyer. 
Regardless of the kind or size of case, he takes a practical, strategic approach 
to pursuing, defending against, and resolving litigation. His approach starts 
with asking about the client’s goals. It includes balancing risk and being ever 
mindful of providing cost-effective representation and clear, timely 
communication. Mark has experience in all levels of state courts in Michigan. 

Business and Information Technology: Many businesses have found Mark’s 
knowledge of information technology and privacy law instrumental in helping 
them keep their assets secure. He has helped businesses with: electronic 
discovery, e-commerce, software licensing, IT document drafting, health 
information privacy, start-up entity formation, corporate governance, 
contracts and negotiations, leases, other business matters

Drain: Mark has significant legal experience advising public entities on county 
and inter-county drain issues and flooding and lake level matters. He also 
represents businesses and other private property owners on drain-related 
matters. 

Experience
Transit

Contract Drafting/Review/Negotiation; Reviews and revises various contracts, 
including, but not limited to: Interagency Agreements, facilities repair and 
maintenance agreements, purchase of service agreements, MDOT and FTA 
agreements;

Defense of FTA Complaints: Successfully defended an FTA complaint from a 
private charter operator as well as successfully defended an FTA complaint 
that a transit agency was providing school bus service in violation of the 
federal law;

Public financing for construction of new transit facilities;

Contract review and development related to the construction of new transit 
facilities;

Contract development for various transit-related issues including bus 
procurement, facilities repair, master plan development and vehicle service.

.

Municipal

Issuing Legal Opinions: Regularly issues legal opinions on various issues 
including use of public funds, disposal of public property, weapons and the 
right to carry, and issues surrounding millages;

U.S. District Court for the 
Eastern District of Michigan



Mark T. Koerner 

Bid for 32

Legislative Updates and Review: Provides general legislative updates on a 
regular basis;

Freedom of Information Act Requests and Compliance: Regularly assists in 
responding to FOIA requests;

Open Meetings Act Compliance: Answers questions and assists with Open 
Meetings Act Compliance on a regular basis; and

Millage Issues: Regularly provides legal guidance concerning millages 
including drafting Board resolutions and millage language for ballots.

.

Drain

Petitions drain projects pursuant to the Michigan Drain Code of 1956 as 
amended;

Establishes Lake Levels;

Defense of flooding litigation; and

Public financing for public Drain projects pursuant to the Michigan Drain Code 
of 1956 as amended.

.

Employment

Labor/Employment Law: Handled grievances on behalf of a Charter Township; 
provided counseling during negotiations of a renewed collective bargaining 
agreement; negotiated and drafted new collective bargaining agreement for 
transit authority; Currently counsels with day-to-day employment issues for 
various transportation authority clients; and

Policy Drafting and Review: Review and revise employee policy manuals, 
operations and managerial procedures manuals and employment/job 
descriptions for various transit authorities.

.

General Litigation

Provides General Corporate Counsel including business formation, contracts, 
mergers and acquisitions and real estate matters;

Litigation Avoidance Through Best Practices; and

Litigation/Alternative Dispute Resolution.
.

Business 

Provide General Counsel; and

Counsel on data security.



Mark T. Koerner 

Bid for 33

Honors & Recognition
Best Lawyers in America®, Municipal Law, 2025-2026

Memberships & Affiliations

Legal Affiliations:

Ingham County Bar Association

State Bar of Michigan

State Bar of Illinois 

.

Community Affiliations:

Sparrow Foundation 

Dapper Dad Campaign 

2019, 2021, 2022

Small Talk Children's Advocacy Center, Vice Chair

News & Resources

Publications

July 31, 2024 | Labor & Employment Law News E-blast
Michigan Employers Alert: Major Changes to Sick Leave & Minimum Wage 
Effective Feb 2025!

February 16, 2023 | Foster Swift Labor & Employment Law News
Compliance and Regulation Issues of the Family Medical Leave Act: A 2023 
Update

January 27, 2023 | Labor & Employment Law News E-blast
Court of Appeals Ruling Halts Pending Minimum Wage Increase and New 
Earned Sick Time Act – For Now

December 28, 2022 | Foster Swift Labor & Employment Law News E-blast
Don't Forget! Michigan's Minimum Wage Increases on January 1, Additional 
Hike Expected

June 3, 2022 | Foster Swift Business & Tax Law News
Litigation 101 - What Happens in a Lawsuit?



Mark T. Koerner 

Bid for 34

Events

September 18, 2024
2024 Virtual Labor & Employment Law Update

April 23, 2024
Substance Use Policies and Your Township

October 12, 2023
Fall 2023 Labor & Employment Law Update

October 12, 2023
Employee Drug Testing

February 7, 2023
Implementing ESTA and IWOWA: Understanding the Major Changes in 
Michigan's New Minimum Wage and Sick Leave Regulations

October 12, 2022
What Employers Need to Prepare for in 2023

October 12, 2022
ADA and FMLA Compliance and Regulation Issues

News

August 15, 2024 | Best Lawyers in America
Koerner Named to Best Lawyers in America 2025

Blog Posts

December 13, 2024 | Michigan Labor & Employment Law Blog
Concerns for Employers Surrounding Employee Drug and Alcohol Testing 
Policies

July 17, 2024 | Michigan Labor & Employment Law Blog
DOT Issues Final Rule: Revised Procedures for Workplace Oral Drug Testing

July 10, 2023 | Michigan Labor & Employment Law Blog
USDOT Approves Oral Fluid Drug Testing

April 3, 2023 | Michigan Labor & Employment Law Blog
An Employer’s Introduction to the Americans with Disabilities Act



Bid for 35

Overview
Mallory Reader is an associate with Foster Swift’s Municipal Practice Group in 
the firm’s Grand Rapids office. Mallory’s role is to help local officials help their 
communities, whether that be as general counsel on day-to-day matters or 
representing the local government in litigation. “The most rewarding part of 
my career is getting to know people all across the state and learning what 
makes their communities special.” In addition to general municipal law, 
Mallory also practices in the areas of election law, property law, and related 
litigation.

Mallory’s time at Foster Swift has included:

Winning a property dispute for a township

Ensuring the placement of a candidate on a local ballot

Negotiating settlements for cities and townships

Drafting ordinances specific to the needs of each community

Successfully defending the decisions of zoning authorities
.

Before entering private practice, Mallory worked for a prominent Washington, 
D.C. think-tank where she authored amicus briefs for consideration by the U.S. 
Supreme Court. She then worked in education policy as a government 
relations associate for a charter school organization spanning nine states.

Mallory is a graduate of Notre Dame Law School. While earning her law 
degree, she served as President of the Public Interest Law Forum and as an 
articles editor for the Journal of Legislation. As a student, she missed just one 
home football game. Go Irish! Mallory earned her undergraduate degree in 
political science from Hope College in Holland, Michigan. While at Hope, 
Mallory was awarded the Robert Elder, Jr. Award for demonstrating unusual 
promise during her semester “abroad” in Washington, D.C.

Practices

Administrative Law

Election & Campaign 
Finance Law

Governmental Relations

Licensing - Professional - 
Business - Government

Municipal & Public Entity 
Law

Education
University of Notre Dame 
Law School, J.D., 2020

Hope College, B.A., 2017, 
cum laude, Political Science 
and Communication

Bar & Court 
Admissions
Michigan

U.S. District Court for the 
Western District of Michigan

Mallory E. 
Reader 
Associate

Grand Rapids, MI
616.726.2250
mreader@fosterswift.com



Mallory E. Reader 

Bid for 36

Away from work, Mallory loves to run, ski, mountain bike, and golf. She is an 
avid reader and an amateur potter. Mallory and her partner, David, live in 
Grand Rapids with Stevie the cat and Scottie the GSP.

Memberships & Affiliations
Legal Affiliations

Grand Rapids Bar Association

Women Lawyers Association of Michigan (WLAM) 

Member, WLAM Journal Editorial Board, Vol. 2, Issue 1
.

Community Involvement

Girls on the Run West Michigan 

Board Member

West Michigan Mountain Bike Alliance

Notre Dame Club of Grand Rapids

News & Resources

Publications

March 20, 2024 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News
Short-Term Rental Regulation Act: What Local Governments Need to Know

August 25, 2023 | Foster Swift Labor & Employment Law News
New NLRB Rule Speeds Up Union Election Process

Events

April 22, 2024
Municipal Case Law Review

March 5, 2024
What Can My Business Contribute to a Campaign?

October 4, 2023
Controversial Land Uses



  

 

  37 

Overview 
Anne has been practicing with Foster Swift's Administrative and Municipal 
Practice Group since her arrival at the firm. She currently serves as the firm 
President and Chair of the Executive Committee. Her entire career has focused 
on the representation of municipalities and public entities. Anne has extensive 
experience in drafting and reviewing ordinances and policies, serving as 
general counsel, counseling clients on Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) and 
Open Meetings Act issues, and working with communities on millage and 
Michigan Campaign Finance Issues. Anne also has an expertise in library law. 

To promote her belief that the best legal strategy is a proactive strategy, Anne 
assists communities with policy drafting and adoption. She is also a frequent 
speaker at seminars and conferences where the educational focus is on 
municipal and library law. She often speaks for the Michigan Library 
Association, Library of Michigan and library cooperatives. 

Prior to this leadership role, Anne was the Chairperson of the Recruiting 
Committee and was active on the firm's Diversity Committee. Currently, she 
also serves as a fellow of the Michigan State Bar Association and previously 
served on the Advocacy Committee for JDRF West Michigan. She currently 
serves on the Board of the Library of Michigan Foundation and also as 
Treasurer for the Forest Hills Central High School Academic Boosters.

Experience
 Drafting intergovernmental agreements and service contracts with other 

municipal entities. 

 Assisting communities with zoning issues such as drafting and amending sign 
ordinances and assisting townships with special use permit requests for 
telecommunication towers. 

 Drafting millage proposal and educating library boards regarding the 
application of the Michigan Campaign Finance laws. 

Practices

Administrative Law 

Library Law 

Freedom of Information Act 

Open Meetings Act 

School Law Services 

Election & Campaign 
Finance Law 

Municipal & Public Entity 
Law 

Education 
University of Wisconsin Law 
School, J.D., 1996 

University of Michigan, B.A., 
1993 

Bar & Court 
Admissions 
Michigan 

U.S. District Court for the 
Western District of Michigan

U.S. District Court for the 
Eastern District of Michigan 

U.S. Sixth Circuit Court of 
Appeals 

Anne M. 
Seurynck  
President and Shareholder 

Grand Rapids, MI
616.726.2240 
aseurynck@fosterswift.com 



Anne M. Seurynck 

Bid for 38

Addressing board governance issues, including the application of the Open 
Meetings and the FOIA.

Successfully defend clients in FOIA cases

Drafting district library agreements and assisting with all aspects of the district 
library formation process.

Amending existing district library agreements, including adding participating 
municipalities to existing districts.

Assisting libraries with request for information by law enforcement agencies 
and private entities, including the application of the Library Privacy Act and 
Patriot Act.

Honors & Recognition
Notable Woman in Law, Crain's Grand Rapids Business, 2024
Notable West Michigan Lawyer, Grand Rapids Business Journal, 2023

Memberships & Affiliations

Legal Affiliations:

State Bar of Wisconsin

State Bar of Michigan

American Bar Association

Fellow, Michigan State Bar Foundation 
.

Industry & Professional Associations:

Michigan Association of Municipal Attorneys, Member

Library of Michigan Foundation, Member

Forest Hills Central High School Academic Boosters, Treasurer

News & Resources

Publications

November 17, 2020 | Foster Swift Library Law News E-blast
Recent Developments Require Libraries to Adopt New Procedures and Policies

October 26, 2020 | Foster Swift Library Law News E-blast
New Requirements for the Open Meetings Act – SB 1108

June 5, 2020 | Foster Swift Legal Update E-blast
New Executive Orders Lift Some Restrictions on Libraries in Northern Michigan 
and the UP



Anne M. Seurynck 

Bid for 39

June 1, 2020 | Foster Swift Library Law News E-blast
Libraries may reopen on June 8, 2020

April 28, 2020 | Foster Swift Library Law News E-blast
Frequently Asked Questions by Public Libraries During COVID-19

March 23, 2020 | Foster Swift Library Law News E-blast
Impact of 2020-21 on Public Libraries in Michigan

February 14, 2020 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News
Five Ways to Avoid Violating the Open Meetings Act

Events

October 1, 2025 | The Conference Center at Saginaw Valley State University
Ask the Attorney with Anne Seurynck

July 22, 2025
Back to Basics: Understanding Michigan's Library Privacy Act

June 24, 2025 and July 8, 2025
Back to Basics: FOIA & OMA Compliance Made Simple

June 8, 2020
Now That the Stay at Home Order is Lifted, What do Municipalities Need to 
Know?

April 28, 2020
Technology and Social Media Pitfalls for Townships

News

February 16, 2020 | Foster Swift Municipal Law News
Foster Swift Participates at the 2020 MTA Conference

February 13, 2020
Foster Swift Elects Anne Seurynck as President of the Firm

Blog Posts

August 3, 2020 | Michigan Election Law Blog
Primary Election Day 2020: Your Guide to Navigating Masks, Selfies, and Other 
Election Day Rules

August 2, 2020 | Michigan Election Law Blog
Campaigning during COVID-19: Rules for Absentee Ballots



  

 

 Bid for  40 

5. MUNICIPAL LAW EXPERIENCE 
law. The 

this , and judges. We 
 

 Township

 
 

 

 

 
 

 Township -
 

 Serving as Township 
 

 Township Boards of Commissioners and other Township 
 

 

 
 

 
 

  

 

. 

 
 

 
 

 Township 

Order. 

 

Supreme Court. 



  

 

 Bid for  41 

 
- Township Board and 

 

 
 

 

-on-one 
- -blasts. 

  

  

  

 Preparing millage and ballot proposals. 

  

 
 

 

 

  

  

MUNICIPAL AND PUBLIC ENTITY AREAS OF PRACTICE 

Township. 

’
well   

 

-

 

’ O
 

 



  

 

 Bid for  42 

Major Cases

 
 

, 

Court of Appeals Nos. 
3456707, 357862, 2022 (  

 , Case No. 17- - – 
 

  – 
 

 
 

 
 

  

 
 

’s favor.  

 
-

’

’ 
dismissed -   

 
 ing and reviewing 

’

 

 

 

-



  

 

 Bid for  43 

- -

-  

response issues. 

,  are reviewing 
’

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
Board (“NLRB”  

  

  

 ’  

  

  

  

 -  

  

  

  

  

 -
“FMLA” “FLSA”) 

  

  

 Up-to- “AI”
 



  

 

 Bid for  44 

 
 

 T (“CBA”) 

-  
 

o “FOPLC”) – 
 

o “ ” “IUOE”
–  

o -April 
30, 2028 

o “FOPLC”) – 
 

o “ ” – 
 

o Cit  - – CBAs 
 

o 
 

o 
 

o  assisted in the 
 

o  
 

o  
 

o  assisted in the 
 

 T

 

 T  

 T “VPA”) hearings. 

 T
(“MERC” . 



  

 

 Bid for  45 

 

 

 

  on PFAS and PFOS, solid waste planning under Part 115 of the 
“NREPA”  

 

 

 – Part 111 of NREPA. 

 – Part 115 of NREPA. 

 – Part 31 of NREPA. 

 – Part 55 of NREPA. 

 – Part 303 of NREPA. 

 – Part 301 of NREPA. 

 – Part 615 of NREPA. 

 

- ar 
 

 

“MTT”) involving 

defended a $50 milli
“ ” 

 

 



  

 

 Bid for  46 

 

’s Freedom of 
“FOIA”

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

 “ ” 

 

 
“OMA”

law’
 

  

 disputes. 

  

  

  

’

 

 

 

named in 
the “ ’ ” “Red 

” -



  

 

 Bid for  47 

 

  

  

  

 -  

 Libraries. 

  

 ,  

  
 

 

-

 

   design and form 
“ ” 

ts. 

 

-
-jur $22 

ents to ensure long-
-sharing arrangements 

 

, and real estate 
 

 

’ 
“IFTs”

“PILOTs”



  

 

 Bid for  48 

 

’  

 

We have represented 

those in 
the 

,  

 

6. SERVICES 
- the 

 

7. HOURLY RATE AND COST 
Township

 

 

 

T  
 

O E  
Out-of-

-of-
 

L R  

 



  

 

 Bid for  49 

T  

Township Township 
Township 

 

 

-
 

the Township -
. 

8. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
-

for the role of Township Township 
 

   

 

  

 

 -

 

 -

 

  The Firm’

 turmoil, but – 
–  

 - . ’
them. We do this through 

and on-



  

 

 Bid for  50 

  - -
and- - -group.html. 

 -
-mail, video- - -

 

CONCLUSION 

-

 

Legal ’

[Proposed Client Name]
 

 

 

 

FOSTER SWIFT COLLINS & SMITH, PC 

 

 
202120178-1 





























































 

 

 

 

DATE OF MEETING: November 11, 2025 
 
TITLE: Revisit Mead&Hunt Contracts  

SUMMARY: At the Oct. 14, 2025, regular Tuscarora Township Board meeting, the Board 
elected to re-visit the 2 contracts with M&H in November. The contracts include: (1) WWTP 
Tuscarora Expansion 2025 Consulting, end date 2/28/2026; (2) Tuscarora WW O&M 2025, 
with expanded scope of services (see contract p.2), end date 2/28/2026.   

FINANCIAL IMPACT: Consulting contract is time -&-expenses per attached rate sheet, 
used on an as-needed basis. 

O&M with expanded Scope of Services, $9,800/month (up from $6,800 per month), until 
2/28/2026. We may need a full-time operator once both phases and the plant are operational, 
which is why the contract may expire 2/28/2026. 

RECOMMENDATION: Discuss. 

PREPARED BY:   Supervisor 

DEPT/BOARD/COMMISSION: Board of Trustees 

ATTACHMENTS:   two M&H contract proposals 

 



FORM AMD 01-2025 

AMD 01-2025 Page 1 of  

CLIENT CONTRACT AMENDMENT 

October 1 , 2025 

Trudy Maves Project Name: Tuscarora Expansion 2025 

Tuscarora Township Project Location: Indian River 

3546 S. Straits Highway Project Number: 4540800-172102.07 

Indian River, MI 49749 Mead & Hunt Manager: Tammi Gall 

Subject:  Amendment No. 2 

Dear Trudy: 

The above-referenced PROJECT requires an Amendment. The work in this Amendment is in addition to 

the Scope of Services stated in the contract between the Tuscarora Township (the �CLIENT�) and Mead 

and Hunt, Inc. (the �CONSULTANT�) dated October 24, 2024 (the �CONTRACT�).  

The CLIENT agrees that the CONSULTANT shall provide professional consulting services for the 

PROJECT as set forth in this Amendment and the CLIENT shall provide payment for those services as 

provided for in this Amendment.   

A detailed description of our understanding of the Amended PROJECT Scope of Services, Schedule, and 

Compensation is provided below. 

Reason for Amendment 

Increase budget for additional operator support and engineering consultation and to extend contract 

schedule for current contract schedule with an end date of 12/31/2025. 



FORM AMD 01-2025 

AMD 01-2025 Page 2 of  

Amended Scope of Services 

The Scope of Services for the PROJECT is amended as follows: 

No change

Amended Schedule 

The CONSULTANT proposes the following revised dates to complete the work for this PROJECT: 

End Date: February 28, 2026

Amended Compensation 

Form of compensation for work in this Amendment will be in accordance with the CONTRACT. The 

CLIENT will pay the CONSULTANT on a time-and-expenses basis with a rate of $90.00/hour for the work 

performed under this Amendment for operation support with an additional increased budget of $10,000.00 

and the CLIENT will pay the CONSULTANT on a time-and-expense basis in accordance with the attached 

billing rates. This Amendment results in a revised contract budget of $40,000.00 for the total project 2025 

costs. 

Amended Responsibilities of the CLIENT 

In addition to those responsibilities listed in the original CONTRACT and previous amendments (if 

applicable), this Amendment is based on the CLIENT performing or providing the following: 

No change



FORM AMD 01-2025

AMD 01-2025 Page 3 of 

Authorization for Amendment 

The Amended Scope of Services, Schedule, and Compensation stated in this amendment are valid for a 

period of thirty (30) days from date of issuance. If authorization to proceed is not received during this 

period, this amendment may be reviewed and modified by CONSULTANT.  Provided, however, if a signed 

copy of this Authorization is not received by CONSULTANT within seven (7) days from the date of 

issuance, CONSULTANT. may stop work on the above services until receipt of the signed Amendment. 

Signatures of authorized representatives of CLIENT and CONSULTANT shall amend the CONTRACT, 

and receipt of one signed copy shall be considered authorization to proceed with the work described in 

this Amendment.  All services will be performed in accordance with the CONTRACT and amendments, if 

applicable.   

Respectfully submitted,

MEAD AND HUNT, INC. Approved by: MEAD AND HUNT, INC. 

By: By:

Author Authorized Signer Review 

Name: Tammi Gall Name: Manish Shrestha 

Title: Project Manager Title: Business Unit Leader 

Date: Date:

Attachment(s) 

Accepted by: TUSCARORA TOWNSHIP

By:

The above person is authorized to sign for Client and bind the 
Client to the terms hereof. 

Name:  

Title:

Date:



MEAD & HUNT, Inc.

Standard Billing Rate Schedule

Effective January 1, 2025

Standard Billing Rates

Archaeologist/Historian Technician, Project Assistant I, Technical Editor I ...............................................$ .00 / hour

Archaeologist/Historian I.......................................................................................................................... .$ 00 / hour

Archaeologist/Historian II........................................................................................................................ ..$ .00 / hour

Archaeologist/Historian III, Project Assistant II, Technical Editor II, Technician I ................. ...

Project Assistant III, Technical Editor III, Technician II ............................................................................$ .00 / hour

Engineer I, Architect I, Interior Designer I, Planner I, Scientist I ........................................ ......$ .00 / hour

Archaeologist/Historian, Project Assistant IV, Technical Editor IV, Technician III ....... ................$ .00 / hour

Registered Land Surveyor........................................................................................................................$177.00 / hour

Engineer II, Architect II, Interior Designer II, Planner II, Scientist II ..........................................$ .00 / hour

Project Archaeologist/Historian, Technician IV ........................................................................................$1 00 / hour

Senior Technician .....................................................................................................................................$1 .00 / hour

Engineer III, Architect III, Interior Designer III, Planner III, Scientist III ....................................................$ .00 / hour

Senior Engineer, Architect, Interior Designer, Planner and Scientist .......................................................$227.00 / hour

Project Engineer, Architect, Interior Designer, Planner and Scientist ......................................................$2 .00 / hour

Senior Project Engineer, Architect, Interior Designer, Planner and Scientist...........................................$2 .00 / hour

Senior Associate, Senior Client/Project Manager .....................................................................$ .00 / hour

Principal ....................................................................................................................................................$3 .00 / hour

Expenses

Geographic Information or GPS Systems ................................................................................................. $110.00 / day

Total Station Survey Equipment ................................................................................................................ $220.00 / day

Charges for other equipment may appear in a proposal

Out-Of-Pocket Direct Job Expenses......................................................................................................... cost plus 15%

Such as reproductions, sub-consultants / contractors, etc.

Travel Expense

Company or Personal Car Mileage .......................................................................................................... IRS rate / mile

Air and Surface Transportation................................................................................................................. cost plus 15%

Lodging and Sustenance.......................................................................................................................... cost plus 15%

Billing & Payment

Travel time is charged for work required to be performed out-of-office.  

Invoicing is on a monthly basis for work performed.  Payment for services is due within 30 days from the date 

of the invoice.  An interest charge of 1.5% per month is made on the unpaid balance starting 30 days after the 

date of invoice.

This schedule of billing rates is effective January 1, 2025, and will remain in effect until December 31, 2025,

unless unforeseen increases in operational costs are encountered.  We reserve the right to change rates to reflect 

such increases.



FORM AMD 01-2025 

AMD 01-2025 Page 1 of  

CLIENT CONTRACT AMENDMENT 

October 1 , 2025 

Trudy Maves Project Name: Tuscarora WW O&M 2025 

Tuscarora Township Project Location: Indian River 

3546 S. Straits Highway Project Number: 4540800-172102.06 

Indian River, MI 49749 Mead & Hunt Manager: Tammi Gall 

Subject:  Amendment No. 1 

Dear Trudy: 

The above-referenced PROJECT requires an Amendment. The work in this Amendment is in addition to 

the Scope of Services stated in the contract between the Tuscarora Township (the �CLIENT�) and Mead 

and Hunt, Inc. (the �CONSULTANT�) dated October 24, 2024 (the �CONTRACT�).  

The CLIENT agrees that the CONSULTANT shall provide professional consulting services for the 

PROJECT as set forth in this Amendment and the CLIENT shall provide payment for those services as 

provided for in this Amendment.   

A detailed description of our understanding of the Amended PROJECT Scope of Services, Schedule, and 

Compensation is provided below. 

Reason for Amendment 

To extend contract schedule and increase monthly fee to cover additional work with new plant/collection 

system for current contract schedule with an end date of 12/31/2025.  



FORM AMD 01-2025 

AMD 01-2025 Page 2 of  

Amended Scope of Services 

The Scope of Services for the PROJECT is amended to include the following: 

Monitor 5 new pump stations, as stated below, in Phase 1 Expansion

o PS-100 6209 Lake

o PS-200 6314 Arthur

o PS-300 6560 Oak Glen

o PS-400 3775 Pier

o PS-500 3406 S Prospect

Assist in monitoring grinder and ejector pumps installed in Phase 1 Expansion
Assist Township with setting up new asset management program Silver Smith
Update preventive maintenance program to include new equipment installed as part of Phase 1
Expansion and incorporate into the asset management program Silver Smith
Coordinate with contractors for the Phase 1 expansion work
Coordinate with contractors to repair issues with Phase 1 expansion
Update MISS DIG boundaries in MISS Dig system

Amended Schedule 

The CONSULTANT proposes the following revised dates to complete the work for this PROJECT: 

End Date: February 28, 2026

Amended Compensation 

Form of compensation for work in this Amendment will be in accordance with the CONTRACT. The  

CLIENT will pay the CONSULTANT a lump sum monthly fee of $9,800.00 for the work performed. 

Callouts and additional work will be billed at a time-and-expense rate of $90.00/hour for the work 

performed under this Amendment with a budget of $10,000.00. This Amendment results in an increase 

contract budget of $29,600.00 to the total project 2025 costs. 

Amended Responsibilities of the CLIENT 

In addition to those responsibilities listed in the original CONTRACT and previous amendments (if 

applicable), this Amendment is based on the CLIENT performing or providing the following: 

No change



FORM AMD 01-2025

AMD 01-2025 Page 3 of 

Authorization for Amendment 

The Amended Scope of Services, Schedule, and Compensation stated in this amendment are valid for a 

period of thirty (30) days from date of issuance. If authorization to proceed is not received during this 

period, this amendment may be reviewed and modified by CONSULTANT.  Provided, however, if a signed 

copy of this Authorization is not received by CONSULTANT within seven (7) days from the date of 

issuance, CONSULTANT. may stop work on the above services until receipt of the signed Amendment. 

Signatures of authorized representatives of CLIENT and CONSULTANT shall amend the CONTRACT, 

and receipt of one signed copy shall be considered authorization to proceed with the work described in 

this Amendment.  All services will be performed in accordance with the CONTRACT and amendments, if 

applicable.   

Respectfully submitted,

MEAD AND HUNT, INC. Approved by: MEAD AND HUNT, INC. 

By: By:

Author Authorized Signer Review 

Name: Tammi Gall Name: Manish Shrestha 

Title: Project Manager Title: Business Unit Leader 

Date: Date:

Attachment(s) 

Accepted by: TUSCARORA TOWNSHIP

By:

The above person is authorized to sign for Client and bind the 
Client to the terms hereof. 

Name:  

Title:

Date:



DATE OF MEETING: November 11, 2025

TITLE: Boiler Repair Options

SUMMARY: Discuss boiler options; option #1: repair, $26,410/3=$8,803.33 each. OR 
option #2: replace, $$46,205/3=$15,401.67/ea.

FINANCIAL IMPACT: TBD 

RECOMMENDATION: Discuss. 

PREPARED BY: Supervisor/Chief Temple 

DEPT/BOARD/COMMISSION: Board of Trustees 

ATTACHMENTS:  Warranty Letter, Control Solutions estimate







 

 

 

 

DATE OF MEETING: November 11, 2025 
 
TITLE:  Change in trash service companies & purchase of dumpster  

SUMMARY: Changing from GFL to PAC for trash. $1,375 to purchase dumpster. Dumpster 
has been picked up and new service has begun. Savings of approx.. $1,500 a year, after the 
purchase of the dumpster @ $1,375. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  TBD 

RECOMMENDATION:  Discuss.  

PREPARED BY:   Supervisor 

DEPT/BOARD/COMMISSION: Board of Trustees 

ATTACHMENTS:   None 

 



 

 

 

 

DATE OF MEETING: November 11, 2025 
 
TITLE:  CIP Update 

SUMMARY: Do we have any CIP updates? 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  TBD 

RECOMMENDATION:  Discuss. 

PREPARED BY:   Supervisor 

DEPT/BOARD/COMMISSION: Board of Trustees 

ATTACHMENTS:   None 

 



DATE OF MEETING: November 11, 2025 

TITLE: Update WWTP Cold Storage & screen. 

SUMMARY: Waiting for Performance Engineering. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: TBD 

RECOMMENDATION: Discuss. 

PREPARED BY:  Supervisor 

DEPT/BOARD/COMMISSION: Board of Trustees 

ATTACHMENTS:  None



 

 

 

 

DATE OF MEETING: November 11, 2025 
 
TITLE:  Policy for health Insurance for Deceased Employees  

SUMMARY: Update health insurance policy in Township Policy Manual and Employee 
Handbook.  

FINANCIAL IMPACT: TBD  

RECOMMENDATION: Discuss 

PREPARED BY:   Trustee Hutchison 

DEPT/BOARD/COMMISSION: Board of Trustees 

ATTACHMENTS:   None 

 



 

 

 

 

DATE OF MEETING: November 11, 2025  
 
TITLE:  Fireworks 2026 

SUMMARY: Date set for July 3, 2026, waiting for Great Lakes Fireworks to confirm date 
and price. Price may need to be increased due to tariffs. Budgeted $15,000. Advised we may 
need to increase our budget a minimum $1,315 to enjoy the same show as in 2025. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  $1,315  

RECOMMENDATION:  Discuss 

PREPARED BY:   Supervisor 

DEPT/BOARD/COMMISSION: Board of Trustees 

ATTACHMENTS:   None 

 



 

 

 

 

DATE OF MEETING: November 11, 2025 

 
TITLE: Review July 8, 2025 Budget Amendments 

SUMMARY: Excerpt from July 8, 2025, Minutes,  

 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: Reduce Parks cost center and increase Boat Launch cost center for 
salaries and wages, employer social security for a total of $7,212, to account for salaries and 
wages and employer social security for services performed at the Boat Launch. 

RECOMMENDATION: Discuss 

PREPARED BY:   Supervisor 

DEPT/BOARD/COMMISSION: Board of Trustees 

ATTACHMENTS:   None 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

New Business 



Sewer 



Performance Engineers, Inc. 
Civil  ◦  Structural  ◦  Site Design 

06972 US-31 S, Charlevoix, MI 49720   ◦   www.performanceeng.com   ◦   231.547.2121 

 

Memo 
To:   Trudy Maves      Date:  10-28-25 

From:   Steve Corporon 

Re:   Tuscarora Township WWTP Expansion, Pay Request #15  

 

Attached for consideration by the Board of Trustees is pay request #15 from Grand Traverse 
Construction for the Tuscarora Township WWTP Expansion project in the amount of 
$61,657.20.  This pay request reflects all the work performed to date.  Work this period 
included fabrication and installation of the access steps and grating modifications to the 
catwalks, expansion of the gravel driveway and construction of the foundation and walls of 
the building addition for housing blower #3.  Completion of the building addition and 
installation of blower #3 and the associated controls is expected to be reached by mid 
December.  
 
The  WWTP project has funding from the USDA and EGLE as part of Phase I and from the 
USDA & EPA as part of Phase II.  This pay request includes items from just two of the four 
funding sources, the EPA and USDA Phase II.  Please note that with the recent addition of 
$1M in supplemental grant funding from the EPA their cost share for pay requests has 
increased from 62.95% to 68.6% which results in the cost share for USDA Phase II funding 
decreasing a commensurate proportion from 37.05% to 31.4%. 
 
Utilizing the revised percentages the EPA share of this pay request is $42,296.84 and the 
USDA Phase II share of this pay request at $19,360.36. 
 
You will need to submit separate requests to the USDA and the EPA and subsequently 
provide two separate checks to Grand Traverse Construction once funds are received from 
each agency.  I have annotated GTC’s pay request in red to assist both you and the agencies 
in confirming the respective amounts. 
 
Please advise me if you have any questions regarding this pay request. 
 
 
Sincerely,  
 

Steve Corporon 
Performance Engineers, Inc. 

 













Jack Becker

Credit Manager

8/4/2025

Jack.Becker
Jack's signature



GRAHD TRAVERSE CONSTRUCTION
1714 Northern Star Drive
Traverse City, M|49696
Phone: 231-929-1000

PARTIAL UNCONDITIONAL WAIVER

I / We have a contract with Grand Traverse Construction to provide Material and/or Services
for the improvement to the property described as

Tuscarora WWTP Expansion

GTC Job # 1-24106

and by signing this Cumulative waiver, hereby waive my/our construction lien to the amount
of $5,687.77 for labor/materials provided through 1t3t2025

lf the owner or lessee of the property or the owner's or lessee's designee has received a
notice of furnishing from me/one of us or if l/we are not required to provide one, and the
owner, lessee, or designee has not received this waiver directly from me/one of us, the owner,
lessee, or designee may not rely upon it without contacting me/one of us, either in writing, by
telephone, or personally, to verify that it is authentic.

Halliday Products, lnc
6401 Edgewater Drive
Orlando, FL 32810

Signature:

Printed:

Title:

Date:

s tl,
') I

{5 "ac* 1

tls lt6II
EMAIL WAIVERS TO : waivers@grandtraverseconstruction.com

DO NOT SIGN BLANK OR INCOMPLETE FORMS. RETAIN A COPY.









GRAND TRAVERSE CONSTRUCTION
1714 Northern Star Drive
Traverse City, MI 49696
Phone: 231-929-1000

T/We have a contract with Grand Traverse Construction to provideMaterial andlor Services
for the improvement to the property described as

Tuscarora WWTP Expansion

1-24106GTC Job #

PARTIAL UNCONDITIONAL WAIVER

and by signing this Cumulative waiver, hereby waive my/our construction lien to the amount
of $84,689.79 for labor/materials provided through 8/21/2025

If the owner or lessee of the property or the owner's or lessee's designee has received a
notice of furnishing from melone of us or if lwe are not required to provide one, and the
owner, lessee, or designee has not received this waiver directly from melone of us, the owner,
lessee, or designee may not rely upon it without contacting me/one of us, either in writing, by
telephone, or personally, to verify that it is authentic.

Striker Supply
90 N US Hwy 31 S
Traverse City, MI 49685

Signature:

Printed:

Title:

Date:

EMAIL WAIVERS TO: waivers@grandtraverseconstruction.com

DO NOT SIGN BLANK OR INCOMPLETE FORMS. RETAIN ACCOPY.



Lisa Bruinekool

Project Coordinator
10-6-25



Performance Engineers, Inc. 
Civil  ◦  Structural  ◦  Site Design 

06972 US-31 S., Charlevoix, MI 49720   ◦   www.performanceeng.com   ◦   231.547.2121 

 

Memo 
To:   Trudy Maves      Date:  10-28-25 

From:   Steve Corporon 

Re:   Tuscarora Township Sewer Extension Phase I - LPS, Pay Request #12  

 

Attached for consideration by the Board of Trustees is pay request #12 from Matt’s 
Underground for the Tuscarora Township Sewer Extension Phase I - LPS project in the 
amount of $32,050.02.  This pay request reflects all the work performed to date. 
 
Work during this period consisted of installation of individual grinder pumps at individual 
residences, some additional restoration work and completion of several punch list items. 
 
The remaining work will continue to be focused on the installation of individual grinder pumps 
at residences.  
 
Please advise me if you have any questions regarding this pay request. 
 
 
Sincerely,  
 

Steve Corporon 
Performance Engineers, Inc. 

 





22-5797B
22-5797B

2024-7107

12  From 09/30/25 to 10/27/25 10/28/25

A C D E F G H I J K L

Item Quantity Units
Unit Price

($)

Value of Bid Item
(C X E)

($)

Estimated 
Quantity 

Incorporated in 
the Work

Value of Work 
Completed to Date

(E X G)
($)

1 1.0                     LS  $      140,000.00                140,000.00                        1.00                140,000.00                140,000.00 100%                                  -   
2 1.0                     LS  $        12,750.00                   12,750.00                        1.00                   12,750.00                   12,750.00 100%                                  -   
3 1.0                     LS  $          8,750.00                     8,750.00                        1.00                     8,750.00                     8,750.00 100%                                  -   
4 29.0                   STA  $          1,850.00                   53,650.00                      28.20                   52,170.00                   52,170.00 97%                     1,480.00 
5 40.0                   FT  $               45.00                     1,800.00                                  -                                    -   0%                     1,800.00 
6 30.0                   FT  $               35.00                     1,050.00                                  -                                    -   0%                     1,050.00 
7 1,200.0              SYD  $               10.00                   12,000.00                    332.28                     3,322.80                     3,322.80 28%                     8,677.20 
8 95.0                   SYD  $               13.00                     1,235.00                                  -                                    -   0%                     1,235.00 
9 3.0                     EA  $          2,200.00                     6,600.00                                  -                                    -   0%                     6,600.00 

10 1,100.0              SYD  $               35.50                   39,050.00                1,100.00                   39,050.00                   39,050.00 100%                                  -   
11 900.0                 CYD  $               73.50                   66,150.00                    386.83                   28,432.01                   28,432.01 43%                   37,717.99 
12 40.0                   SYD  $               16.00                        640.00                                  -                                    -   0%                        640.00 
13 40.0                   FT  $               65.00                     2,600.00                                  -                                    -   0%                     2,600.00 
14 1,200.0              FT  $               45.00                   54,000.00                    637.00                   28,665.00                   28,665.00 53%                   25,335.00 
15 1,300.0              FT  $               28.00                   36,400.00                    974.50                   27,286.00                   27,286.00 75%                     9,114.00 
16 800.0                 FT  $               32.00                   25,600.00                1,147.00                   36,704.00                   36,704.00 143%                 (11,104.00)
17 2,800.0              FT  $               38.00                106,400.00                2,661.00                101,118.00                101,118.00 95%                     5,282.00 
18 675.0                 FT  $               75.00                   50,625.00                    660.50                   49,537.50                   49,537.50 98%                     1,087.50 
19 75.0                   FT  $             125.00                     9,375.00                                  -                                    -   0%                     9,375.00 
20 1,700.0              FT  $               36.00                   61,200.00                1,596.00                   57,456.00                   57,456.00 94%                     3,744.00 
21 1,900.0              FT  $               55.00                104,500.00                    816.00                   44,880.00                   44,880.00 43%                   59,620.00 
22 2,900.0              FT  $             125.00                362,500.00                2,614.50                326,812.50                326,812.50 90%                   35,687.50 
23 2.0                     EA  $        15,375.00                   30,750.00                        2.00                   30,750.00                   30,750.00 100%                                  -   
24 3.0                     EA  $        16,100.00                   48,300.00                        3.00                   48,300.00                   48,300.00 100%                                  -   
25 2.0                     EA  $          1,750.00                     3,500.00                        2.00                     3,500.00                     3,500.00 100%                                  -   
26 8.0                     EA  $          5,818.00                   46,544.00                        8.00                   46,544.00                   46,544.00 100%                                  -   
27 2.0                     EA  $        86,385.00                172,770.00                        2.00                172,770.00                172,770.00 100%                                  -   
28 1.0                     LS  $        20,000.00                   20,000.00                 0.00975                        195.00                        195.00 1%                   19,805.00 
29 26.0                   EA  $          7,400.00                192,400.00                      26.00                192,400.00                192,400.00 100%                                  -   
30 25.0                   EA  $        14,295.00                357,375.00                      14.50                207,277.50                207,277.50 58%                150,097.50 
31 30.0                   FT  $               85.00                     2,550.00                                  -                                    -   0%                     2,550.00 
32 95.0                   SYD  $               89.00                     8,455.00                      91.56                     8,148.84                     8,148.84 96%                        306.16 
33 625.0                 TON  $             175.00                109,375.00                    763.34                133,584.50                133,584.50 122%                 (24,209.50)
34 1.0                     LS  $        75,675.00                   75,675.00                        0.95                   71,891.25                   71,891.25 95%                     3,783.75 

2,224,569.00$        1,872,294.90$        -$                           1,872,294.90$        84% 352,274.10$            

SEWER, PVC (SDR-21), 8 INCH

2 INCH FORCEMAIN CLEANOUT ASSEMBLY, COMPLETE
SAN STRUCTURE, 48 INCH DIA.
LIFT STATION WITH VALVE VAULT, COMPLETE

SAN STRUCTURE, 60 INCH DIA., CLEANOUT, COMPLETE

Contractor:
Project:
Contract:

Contractor's Application for PaymentProgress Estimate - Unit Price Work

Owner's Project No.:
Engineer's Project No.:
Contractor's Project No.:

Tuscarora Township
Performance Engineers, Inc.
Matt's Underground
Tuscarora Township Sewer Phase I
Tuscarora Township Sewer Extension Phase I - LPS

Owner:
Engineer:

Bid Item 
No.

PAVT, REM

Description

Application Date:Application Period:Application No.:

B

MACHINE GRADING

Original Contract

% of 
Value of 

Item
 (J / F)

(%)

Balance to Finish (F 
- J)
($)

MOBILIZATION, MAX. 10%
TRAFFIC CONTROL

CULV, REM, LESS THAN 24 INCH

CONSTRUCTION STAKING SP

HMA, 4E1, MOD, TOP
SITE RESTORATION

ELECTRICAL ALLOWANCE
CURB STOP ASSEMBLY, COMPLETE
PUMP STATION, INDIVIDUAL, COMPLETE
CURB AND GUTTER, CONC, DET C4

SEWER, HPDE (SDR-11), 4 INCH, DRILLED

SEWER, HDPE (SDR-11), 3 INCH, DRILLED
SEWER, HDPE (SDR-11), 3 INCH, OPEN CUT
SEWER, PVC (SDR-21), 3 INCH

SIGN, TYPE III, ERECT, SALV

Work Completed

Materials Currently 
Stored (not in G)

($)

Work Completed 
and Materials 
Stored to Date 

(H + I)
($)

Contract Information

DRIVEWAY, NONREINF CONC, 6 INCH

SAN STRUCTURE, 60 INCH DIA., AIR RELIEF, COMPLETE

SEWER, HPDE (SDR-11), 2 INCH, DRILLED
SEWER, HPDE (SDR-11), 1.5 INCH, DRILLED

CURB AND GUTTER, REM
HMA, SURFACE, REM

DEWATERING SYSTEM, TRENCH

AGGREGATE BASE, REPLACE ONSITE MATERIALS, 6 INCH
AGGREGATE BASE, 6 INCH
SHOULDER CL II, 4 INCH
CULV, CL B, 12 INCH

SEWER SERVICE, PVC (SCHD 40), 4 INCH

Original Contract Totals

Unit Price
EJCDC C-620 Contractor's Application for Payment

(c) 2018 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 9  of 11



22-5797B
22-5797B

2024-7107

12  From 09/30/25 to 10/27/25 10/28/25

A C D E F G H I J K L

Item Quantity Units
Unit Price

($)

Value of Bid Item
(C X E)

($)

Estimated 
Quantity 

Incorporated in 
the Work

Value of Work 
Completed to Date

(E X G)
($)

Contractor:
Project:
Contract:

Contractor's Application for PaymentProgress Estimate - Unit Price Work

Owner's Project No.:
Engineer's Project No.:
Contractor's Project No.:

Tuscarora Township
Performance Engineers, Inc.
Matt's Underground
Tuscarora Township Sewer Phase I
Tuscarora Township Sewer Extension Phase I - LPS

Owner:
Engineer:

Bid Item 
No. Description

Application Date:Application Period:Application No.:

B

% of 
Value of 

Item
 (J / F)

(%)

Balance to Finish (F 
- J)
($)

Work Completed

Materials Currently 
Stored (not in G)

($)

Work Completed 
and Materials 
Stored to Date 

(H + I)
($)

Contract Information

35                4,600.00  SYD                        3.20                   14,720.00                4,600.00                   14,720.00                   14,720.00 100%                                  -   
36                    900.00  SFT                      12.50                   11,250.00                1,488.00                   18,600.00                   18,600.00 165%                   (7,350.00)
37                        1.00  EA                4,970.00                     4,970.00                        1.00                     4,970.00                     4,970.00 100%                                  -   
38                        1.00  EA                5,980.00                     5,980.00                        1.00                     5,980.00                     5,980.00 100%                                  -   
39                        2.00  EA                2,720.00                     5,440.00                        2.00                     5,440.00                     5,440.00 100%                                  -   
40                        1.00  EA                3,541.00                     3,541.00                        1.00                     3,541.00                     3,541.00 100%                                  -   
41                        4.00  EA                    850.00                     3,400.00                                  -                                    -   0%                     3,400.00 
42                    750.00  CYD                      12.00                     9,000.00                    395.32                     4,743.84                     4,743.84 53%                     4,256.16 
43                        1.00  LS                7,851.64                     7,851.64                        1.00                     7,851.64                     7,851.64 100%                                  -   

                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   

66,152.64$              65,846.48$              -$                           65,846.48$              100% 306.16$                    

2,290,721.64$        1,938,141.38$        -$                           1,938,141.38$        85% 352,580.26$            

HMA, SURFACE, PULVERIZE
CONCRETE SIDEWALK, REMOVE & REPLACE
INCREASE LIFT STA STRUCTURE TO 5 FT

Change Orders

INCREASE VALVE VAULT STRUCTURE TO 5 FT

 Project Totals

Change Order Totals

Original Contract and Change Orders

INCREASE CLEAN OUT STRUCTURE TO 5 FT
INCREASE AIR RELEASE STRUCTURE TO 5 FT
BOLLARD
SUBGRADE UNDERCUTTING, TYPE II
AT&T CHARGES

Unit Price
EJCDC C-620 Contractor's Application for Payment

(c) 2018 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 10  of 11



Performance Engineers, Inc. 
Civil  ◦  Structural  ◦  Site Design 

06972 US-31 S, Charlevoix, MI 49720   ◦   www.performanceeng.com   ◦   231.547.2121 

 

Memo 
To:   Trudy Maves      Date:  11-5-25 

From:   Steve Corporon 

Re:   Tuscarora Township Sewer Extension Phase II - Gravity, Pay Request #4  

 

Attached for consideration by the Board of Trustees is pay request #4 from Walton Contracting 
for the Tuscarora Township Sewer Extension Phase II - Gravity project in the amount of 
$290,919.77. 
 
Work this period included the installation of sewer main & laterals on Doris Pl and W Dorothy 
Ave and the paving of Doris Pl, W Dorothy Ave and Barbara Ave.  The associated restoration 
work along those streets was also completed. 
 
During the next month Walton had planned to excavate and install the concrete structures for 
the lift stations at the end of South Ave and Mack Ave; however, due to the ongoing Federal 
Government shutdown, they have temporarily suspended  work on the project. 
 
Phase II projects have both USDA and EPA funding.  With the award of the supplemental 
$1M in EPA grant funding the EPA grant agreement has been revised to increase the EPA 
cost share from 62.95% to 68.60% of the project costs up to a maximum of $4.5M; therefore, 
the EPA share of this pay request is $199,570.96.  This means the USDA Phase II cost share 
has been decreased from 37.05% to 31.40%; therefore, the USDA Phase II share of this pay 
request is $91,348.81. 
 
Please advise me if you have any questions regarding this pay request. 
 
 
Sincerely,  
 

Steve Corporon 
Performance Engineers, Inc. 

 





22-6003A
22-6003A
24-1024-E

4  From 09/29/25 to 10/27/25 10/28/25

A C D E F G H I J K L

Item Quantity Units
Unit Price

($)

Value of Bid Item
(C X E)

($)

Estimated 
Quantity 

Incorporated in 
the Work

Value of Work 
Completed to Date

(E X G)
($)

1 1 LS  $      225,000.00                225,000.00          0.50000000                112,500.00                112,500.00 50%                112,500.00 
2 1 LS  $        69,000.00                   69,000.00                        0.33                   22,770.00                   22,770.00 33%                   46,230.00 
3 1 LS  $        42,500.00                   42,500.00                        0.33                   14,025.00                   14,025.00 33%                   28,475.00 
4 95 STA  $             663.15                   62,999.25                      22.16                   14,695.40                   14,695.40 23%                   48,303.85 
5 240 FT  $                 4.68                     1,123.20                                  -                                    -   0%                     1,123.20 
6 45 FT  $               25.00                     1,125.00                                  -                                    -   0%                     1,125.00 
7 1,100 SYD  $                 9.60                   10,560.00                    191.08                     1,834.37                     1,834.37 17%                     8,725.63 
8 20,300 SYD  $                 1.75                   35,525.00                5,242.00                     9,173.50                     9,173.50 26%                   26,351.50 
9 150 SYD  $               27.60                     4,140.00                      14.00                        386.40                        386.40 9%                     3,753.60 

10 45 EA  $             250.00                   11,250.00                        3.00                        750.00                        750.00 7%                   10,500.00 
11 12,200 SYD  $                 7.60                   92,720.00                4,924.00                   37,422.40                   37,422.40 40%                   55,297.60 
12 2,100 CYD  $               43.60                   91,560.00                    177.00                     7,717.20                     7,717.20 8%                   83,842.80 
13 100 CYD  $               18.50                     1,850.00                                  -                                    -   0%                     1,850.00 
14 240 FT  $               38.00                     9,120.00                                  -                                    -   0%                     9,120.00 
15 8,500 FT  $               30.00                255,000.00                1,482.00                   44,460.00                   44,460.00 17%                210,540.00 
16 3,400 FT  $               11.65                   39,610.00                    293.00                     3,413.45                   11,658.00                   15,071.45 38%                   24,538.55 
17 600 FT  $               24.30                   14,580.00                                  -                       8,479.00                     8,479.00 58%                     6,101.00 
18 1,200 FT  $               50.00                   60,000.00                                  -                                    -   0%                   60,000.00 
19 5,500 FT  $               40.81                224,455.00                    935.00                   38,157.35                   27,340.69                   65,498.04 29%                158,956.96 
20 9,300 FT  $               58.00                539,400.00                2,148.50                124,613.00                116,748.30                241,361.30 45%                298,038.70 
21 24 EA  $          5,355.00                128,520.00                        8.00                   42,840.00                   10,947.68                   53,787.68 42%                   74,732.32 
22 3 EA  $        16,243.00                   48,729.00                                  -                                    -   0%                   48,729.00 
23 4 EA  $        80,000.00                320,000.00                        0.50                   40,000.00                   13,871.36                   53,871.36 17%                266,128.64 
24 4 EA  $        10,000.00                   40,000.00                                  -                                    -   0%                   40,000.00 
25 1 EA  $          4,510.00                     4,510.00                                  -                                    -   0%                     4,510.00 
26 1 EA  $      110,350.00                110,350.00                                  -                                    -   0%                110,350.00 
27 45 FT  $             110.00                     4,950.00                                  -                                    -   0%                     4,950.00 
28 150 SYD  $             131.00                   19,650.00                                  -                                    -   0%                   19,650.00 
29 2,350 TON  $             131.00                307,850.00                    676.45                   88,614.95                   88,614.95 29%                219,235.05 
30 1 LS  $      143,880.00                143,880.00                        0.25                   35,970.00                   35,970.00 25%                107,910.00 

                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   

2,919,956.45$        639,343.02$            189,045.03$            828,388.05$            28% 2,091,568.40$        Original Contract Totals

Work Completed

Materials Currently 
Stored (not in G)

($)

Work Completed 
and Materials 
Stored to Date 

(H + I)
($)

Contract Information

LIFT STATION WITH VALVE VAULT, COMPLETE

SEWER, HDPE (SDR-11), 3 INCH, OPEN CUT, COMMON TRENCH
DEWATERING SYSTEM, TRENCH, OTHER

CURB AND GUTTER, REM
HMA, SURFACE, REM

CULV, CL B, 12 INCH

SIGN, TYPE III, ERECT, SALV
AGGREGATE BASE, REPLACE ONSITE MATERIALS, 6 INCH
AGGREGATE BASE, 6 INCH
SUBGRADE UNDERCUTTING, TYPE II

SAN STRUCTURE, 48 INCH DIA.

CONSTRUCTION STAKING SP

DRIVEWAY, NONREINF CONC, 6 INCH
HMA, 4E1, MOD, TOP
SITE RESTORATION

SEWER, PVC (SDR-26), 8 INCH

SEWER, HDPE (SDR-11), 4 INCH, OPEN CUT, COMMON TRENCH
SEWER, HPDE (SDR-11), 4 INCH, DRILLED
SEWER SERVICE, PVC (SCHD 40), 4 INCH

PAVT, REM

Bid Item 
No.

HMA, SURFACE, PULVERIZE

Description

Application Date:Application Period:Application No.:

B

MACHINE GRADING, MOD

Original Contract

% of 
Value of 

Item
 (J / F)

(%)

Balance to Finish (F 
- J)
($)

MOBILIZATION, MAX. 10%
TRAFFIC CONTROL

CULV, REM, LESS THAN 24 INCH

Walton Contracting
Tuscarora Township Sewer Phase II
Tuscarora Township Sewer Extension Phase II - Gravity

Owner:
Engineer:
Contractor:
Project:
Contract:

Contractor's Application for PaymentProgress Estimate - Unit Price Work

Owner's Project No.:
Engineer's Project No.:
Contractor's Project No.:

Tuscarora Township
Performance Engineers, Inc.

SAN STRUCTURE, 60 INCH DIA., CLEANOUT, COMPLETE

SAN TIE INTO EX. STRUCTURE, COMPLETE
LIFT STATION , UPGRADES, COMPLETE
CURB AND GUTTER, CONC, DET C4

ELECTRICAL ALLOWANCE

Unit Price
EJCDC C-620 Contractor's Application for Payment

(c) 2018 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 9  of 11



22-6003A
22-6003A
24-1024-E

4  From 09/29/25 to 10/27/25 10/28/25

A C D E F G H I J K L

Item Quantity Units
Unit Price

($)

Value of Bid Item
(C X E)

($)

Estimated 
Quantity 

Incorporated in 
the Work

Value of Work 
Completed to Date

(E X G)
($)

Work Completed

Materials Currently 
Stored (not in G)

($)

Work Completed 
and Materials 
Stored to Date 

(H + I)
($)

Contract Information

Bid Item 
No. Description

Application Date:Application Period:Application No.:

B

% of 
Value of 

Item
 (J / F)

(%)

Balance to Finish (F 
- J)
($)

Walton Contracting
Tuscarora Township Sewer Phase II
Tuscarora Township Sewer Extension Phase II - Gravity

Owner:
Engineer:
Contractor:
Project:
Contract:

Contractor's Application for PaymentProgress Estimate - Unit Price Work

Owner's Project No.:
Engineer's Project No.:
Contractor's Project No.:

Tuscarora Township
Performance Engineers, Inc.

                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    -   

                                 -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -   
                                 -                                    -                                    -   

-$                           -$                           -$                           -$                           -$                           

2,919,956.45$        639,343.02$            189,045.03$            828,388.05$            28% 2,091,568.40$         Project Totals

Change Order Totals

Original Contract and Change Orders

Change Orders

Unit Price
EJCDC C-620 Contractor's Application for Payment

(c) 2018 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 10  of 11



Owner: 22-6003A
Engineer: 22-6003A
Contractor: 24-1024-E
Project:
Contract:

Application No.: 4 Application Period:  From 09/29/25 to 10/27/25 10/28/25

A B C D E F G H I J K L M

Previous Amount 
Stored

($)

Amount Stored this 
Period

($)

Amount Stored to 
Date (G+H)

($)

Amount Previously 
Incorporated in the 

Work
($)

Amount 
Incorporated in the 

Work this Period
($)

Total Amount 
Incorporated in the 

Work
(J+K)
($)

16 T043175 4-6.02.A.5 HDPE PIPE 3" 6517 HOLDEN 2                  12,755.00                  12,755.00                    1,097.00                    1,097.00                  11,658.00 
17 T043175 4-6.02.A.5 HDPE PIPE 4" 6517 HOLDEN 2                    8,479.00                    8,479.00                                 -                                   -                      8,479.00 
19 T044419 9-7.02.B PVC SCHD 40 PIPE 4" 6517 HOLDEN 2                    5,274.30                    5,274.30                        443.00                        506.37                        949.37                    4,324.93 
19 T043175 9-7.02.B PVC SCHD 40 PIPE 4" 6517 HOLDEN 2                  28,068.00                  28,068.00                    2,357.00                    2,695.24                    5,052.24                  23,015.76 
20 T044450 6-6.02.A.2 PVC (SDR-26) PIPE 8" 6517 HOLDEN 2                128,291.00                128,291.00                  14,753.47                  12,187.64                  26,941.11                101,349.89 
20 T044398 7-6.02.B.1 PVC (SDR-26) FITTINGS 8" 6517 HOLDEN 2                    1,707.66                    1,707.66                        196.38                        162.23                        358.61                    1,349.05 
20 T043175 7-6.02.B.2 PVC (SDR-26) WYES 8" 6517 HOLDEN 2                  17,784.00                  17,784.00                    2,045.15                    1,689.49                    3,734.64                  14,049.36 
23 T044173 14-7.02 LIFT STATION HATCHES 6517 HOLDEN 2                  15,853.36                  15,853.36                    1,982.00                    1,982.00                  13,871.36 
21 98340 15-7.02 SAN STRUCTURE, 48" 6517 HOLDEN 4                  10,947.68                  10,947.68                                 -                    10,947.68 

                                -                                   -                                   -   
                                -                                   -                                   -   
                                -                                   -                                   -   
                                -                                   -                                   -   
                                -                                   -                                   -   
                                -                                   -                                   -   
                                -                                   -                                   -   
                                -                                   -                                   -   
                                -                                   -                                   -   
                                -                                   -                                   -   
                                -                                   -                                   -   

218,212.32$           10,947.68$              229,160.00$           22,874.00$              17,240.97$              40,114.97$              189,045.03$           

Stored Materials Summary

Totals

Storage Location
Description of Materials or 

Equipment Stored

Submittal No. 
(with 

Specification 
Section No.)

Supplier 
Invoice No.

 Item No.
(Lump Sum Tab) 
or Bid Item No.
(Unit Price Tab)

Application Date:

Contractor's Application for Payment

Materials Stored Incorporated in Work

Tuscarora Township Sewer Phase II

Materials 
Remaining in 

Storage
(I-L)
 ($)

Application 
No. When 
Materials 
Placed in 
Storage

Walton Contracting

Tuscarora Township Sewer Extension Phase II - Gravity

Tuscarora Township
Performance Engineers, Inc.

Owner's Project No.:
Engineer's Project No.:
Contractor's Project No.:

Stored Materials
EJCDC C-620 Contractor's Application for Payment

(c) 2018 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 11 of 11





Performance Engineers, Inc. 
Civil  ◦  Structural  ◦  Site Design 

06972 US-31 S., Charlevoix, MI 49720   ◦   www.performanceeng.com   ◦   231.547.2121 

 

Memo 
To:   Trudy Maves      Date:  11-4-25 

From:   Steve Corporon 

Re:   Tuscarora Township WWTP Expansion, Change Order #8  

 

Attached for consideration by the Board of Trustees is change order #8 to the Grand Traverse 
Construction contract for the Tuscarora Township WWTP Expansion project.  This change 
order contains 2 items summarized as follows: 
 

1. Add  Reroute Decant Lines             $48,211.85 
Reason for Change:  To provide freeze protection for decant lines from the sludge 
holding tanks to the fermentation tanks. 
 

2. Add  2-Inch Waterline                   $29,630.37 
Reason for Change:  To provide a water line and hydrant with adequate volume and 
pressure to perform wash downs of all tanks in the WWTP. 
 

The total net increase in cost to the contract is $77,842.22 with the recommended funding 
source being the Phase II contingency fund which currently has $259,055.32 available. 
 
PEI recommends approval of change order #8 in the amount of $77,842.22 for a revised 
contract amount of $4,369,017.71 with funding from the available Phase II project 
contingency. 
 
Please advise me if you have any questions regarding this change order. 
 
 
Sincerely,  
 

Steve Corporon  

Performance Engineers, Inc. 

 



EJCDC® C-941, Change Order EJCDC® C-941, Change Order, Rev.1. 
Copyright© 2018 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies 

and American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights reserved. 
Page 1 of 2 

CHANGE ORDER NO.: 8 

Owner: Tuscarora Township Owner’s Project No.: 22-6036 
Engineer: Performance Engineers, Inc. Engineer’s Project No.: 22-6036 
Contractor: Grand Traverse Construction Contractor’s Project No.: 1-24106 
Project: Tuscarora Township Sewer Phase I & II 
Contract Name: Tuscarora Township WWTP Expansion 
Date Issued: 11-11-25 Effective Date of Change Order: 11-11-25 

 

  The Contract is modified as follows upon execution of this Change Order: 

  Description: 

  Item   Change    Description                       Cost  

1. Add  Reroute Decant Lines                $48,211.85 

Reason for Change:   To provide freeze protection for decant lines from the sludge holding tanks to 
the fermentation tanks.  The cost of this item will be funded from the Phase II project contingency. 

 

2. Add  2-Inch Waterline                                              $29,630.37 

Reason for Change:   To provide a water line and hydrant with adequate volume and pressure to 
perform wash downs of all tanks in the WWTP.  The cost of this item will be funded from the Phase 
II project contingency. 

 

Attachments: GTC RCO #18 dated 10/30/25, PEI drawing C301 updated 10/13/25 

 

Change in Contract Price Change in Contract Dates 
Original Contract Price: Original Contract Dates: 
 Substantial Completion: 5-2-25 
$ 4,565,700.00 Ready for final payment: 7-1-25 
  [Increase] [Decrease] from previously approved Change 
Orders No. 1 to No.7: 

[Increase] [Decrease] from previously approved 
Change Orders No.1 to No.7: 

 Substantial Completion: 139 days 
$ (274,524.51) Ready for final payment: 241 days 
  Contract Price prior to this Change Order: Contract Dates prior to this Change Order: 
 Substantial Completion: 9-26-25 
$ 4,291,175.49 Ready for final payment: 1-30-26 
  [Increase] [Decrease] this Change Order: [Increase] [Decrease] this Change Order: 
 Substantial Completion: N/A 
$ 77,842.22 Ready for final payment: N/A 
  Contract Price incorporating this Change Order: Contract Dates with all approved Change Orders: 
 Substantial Completion: 9-26-25 
$ 4,369,017.71 Ready for final payment: 1-30-26 
   

 

 

 

 





Change Request

  To: Tuscarora Township Number: 18
Date: 10/30/2025 
Job: Tuscarora WWTP Expansion

Phone: (231) 929-1000

Description: RCO #18 - Decant Route & Optional Waterline

We are pleased to offer the following specifications and pricing to make the following changes:

DECANT ROUTE  ADD $48,211.85
1. Remove concrete stoops.
2. Excavate decant lines at 4 locations outside equilization / surge tank.
3. Directionally drill 2 ea. 2" SDR-11 pipes around south end of new treatment tanks, aprox 255'.
4. Install 2" SCH 8- fittings to hook up decant lines.
5. Back fill & compact.
6. Restoration of gravel, seed & mulch.
7. Mobilization.

ADD $41,650.00
Labor to prep and pour a 6'x6' pad  ADD  $880.00 
Additional Supervision (1 week)  ADD  $2,600.00 
Sub OHP  $2,082.50
GTC OHP  $522.00
Bonding  $477.35

OPTIONAL 2" WATERLINE  ADD  $29,630.37
1. Excavate 6' C-900 water main North of WW Plant.
2. Install 2" tapping saddle & corp.
3. Tap water main.
4. Directionally drill approx. 175' of 2" SDR 9 CTS water service
5. Install curb stops (12ea.) and 1 Kupferle #77 mainguard post hydrant with 60" bury depth.
6. Back fill & flush.
7. Restoration of gravel, topsoil, seed & mulch.
8. Mobilization.
ADD $27,940.00
Sub OHP  $1,397.00
Bonding  $293.37

The total amount to provide base scope is .........................................................................................  $48,211.85

1714 Northern Star Drive
Traverse City, Michigan 49696

Ph : (231) 929-1000

Page 1 of 1

The total amount to provide Optional 2" Waterline scope is ...................................................................  $29,630.37

Submitted by: Approved by:

Date:

Ashley Meeuwes
Line



PROPOSAL PAGE NO. PAGESOF

PROPOSAL SUBMITTED TO

STREET

CITY, STATE, ZIP

ATTENTION

PHONE DATE

FAX #

JOB NAME

JOB LOCATION

WE HEREBY SUBMIT SPECIFICATION AND ESTIMATES FOR:

“PLAN YOUR WORK, WE’LL WORK YOUR PLAN”

PO Box 6914 Traverse 
City, MI 49696 

TERMS: PAYMENT DUE UPON RECEIPT. A SERVICE 
CHARGE OF 1.5% PER MONTH OR 18% PER YEAR 
APR, WILL BE ASSESSED ON ALL ACCOUNTS OVER 30 
DAYS FROM THE INVOICE DATE. MINIMUM CHARGE 
$1.00 PER MONTH.

We propose hereby to furnish material and labor - complete in accordance with above 
specifications. All material is guaranteed to be as specified. All work to be completed in 
a workmanlike manner according to standard practices. Any alteration or deviation from 
above specifications involvng extra costs will become an extra charge over and above 
the estimate. All agreements are contingent upon strikes, accidents or delays beyond 
our control. Owner to carry fire, tornado and other necessary insurance. Our workers 
are fully covered by Workman’s Compensation Insurance. 

AUTHORIZED
SIGNATURE

NOTE: THIS PROPOSAL MAY BE WITHDRAWN BY US IF NOT ACCEPTED WITHIN DAYS.

DATE OF ACCEPTANCE

SIGNATURE

SIGNATURE

ACCEPTANCE OF PROPOSAL     The above prices, specifications and conditions are 
satisfactory and are hereby accepted. You are authorized to do the work as specified. 
payments will be made as outlined avove. 

Excavating, Sewer, Water, Concrete, Trucking, Snow Removal & Misc.

TRAVERSE CITY / TEL: 231 - 929 - 7498

Provide Labor, Materials & Equipment for the following:

Grand Traverse Construction 231-929-1000 10/23/2025

1714 Northern Star Dr

Traverse City MI 49696 2" Waterline

Tuscarora Twp WWTP 

1. Excavate 6' C-900 watermain North of WW Plant.
2. Install 2" tapping saddle & corp.
3. Tap watermain.

5. Install curb stops (12ea.) and 1 Kupferle #77 mainguard post hydrant with 60" bury depth.
6. Back fill & flush.
7. Restoration of gravel, topsoil, seed & mulch.
8. Mobilization.

TOTAL BID  $27,940.00

4. Directionally drill aprox. 175' of 2" SDR 9 CTS water service.

egrody@grandtraverseconstruction.com



PROPOSAL PAGE NO. PAGESOF

PROPOSAL SUBMITTED TO

STREET

CITY, STATE, ZIP

ATTENTION

PHONE DATE

FAX #

JOB NAME

JOB LOCATION

WE HEREBY SUBMIT SPECIFICATION AND ESTIMATES FOR:

“PLAN YOUR WORK, WE’LL WORK YOUR PLAN”

PO Box 6914 Traverse 
City, MI 49696 

TERMS: PAYMENT DUE UPON RECEIPT. A SERVICE 
CHARGE OF 1.5% PER MONTH OR 18% PER YEAR 
APR, WILL BE ASSESSED ON ALL ACCOUNTS OVER 30 
DAYS FROM THE INVOICE DATE. MINIMUM CHARGE 
$1.00 PER MONTH.

We propose hereby to furnish material and labor - complete in accordance with above 
specifications. All material is guaranteed to be as specified. All work to be completed in 
a workmanlike manner according to standard practices. Any alteration or deviation from 
above specifications involvng extra costs will become an extra charge over and above 
the estimate. All agreements are contingent upon strikes, accidents or delays beyond 
our control. Owner to carry fire, tornado and other necessary insurance. Our workers 
are fully covered by Workman’s Compensation Insurance. 

AUTHORIZED
SIGNATURE

NOTE: THIS PROPOSAL MAY BE WITHDRAWN BY US IF NOT ACCEPTED WITHIN DAYS.

DATE OF ACCEPTANCE

SIGNATURE

SIGNATURE

ACCEPTANCE OF PROPOSAL     The above prices, specifications and conditions are 
satisfactory and are hereby accepted. You are authorized to do the work as specified. 
payments will be made as outlined avove. 

Excavating, Sewer, Water, Concrete, Trucking, Snow Removal & Misc.

TRAVERSE CITY / TEL: 231 - 929 - 7498

Provide Labor, Materials & Equipment for the following:

Grand Traverse Construction 231-929-1000 10/23/2025

1714 Northern Star Dr

Traverse City MI 49696

Tuscarora Twp WWTP 

Decant Reroute

1.  Remove concrete stoops.
2.  Excavate decant lines at 4 locations outside equilization / surge tank.
3.  Directionally drill 2 ea. 2" SDR-11 pipes around south end of new treatment tanks, aprox 255'.

6.  Restoration of gravel, seed & mulch.
5.  Back fill & compact.

7.  Mobilization.

                                                                                             TOTAL BID  $41,650.00

4.  Install 2" SCH 8- fittings to hook up decant lines.

egrody@grandtraverseconstruction.com



Pipe" PVC
IE 663.14

Pipe" PVC
IE 662.61

Pipe" PVC
IE 662.67

6" PVC
IE 664.47

6" PVC
IE 664.32

GP GP

SET BM IN 24" DEAD TREE
ELEV: 669.20

SET BM IN POWER POLE
ELEV: 671.27

ASPHALT

665

665

665

666

667

668

667

666

665

665

666

66
8

672

671
67

0
669

66
8

668

66
9

67
0

670

TREELINE

25' DOUBLE
SWING GATE

EX. MW #5

APPROX. 8" DIP. DISCHARGE LOCATION

HEADWORKS
BUILDING

AEROMOD
TREATMENT

TANKS

CELL # 1 CELL # 2

CELL # 5

GENERATOR

664 664

664

664

66
4

664
664

665

666
666

66
6

66
6

2" WATER SERVICE

LIGHT POLE (TYP.)

RIB ZONE VALVES

EFFLUENT FLUME &
COMPOSITE SAMPLER

6-INCH PVC FM

SAN
SAN

SAN

664.83 664.70

664.77

I.E. 664.15

MW-6A

I.E. 667.00

WM

I.E. 667.00

12
'

33.75'

90.0'

R30'

R100'

15
'

SAN SAN SAN

SA
N

8" WYE

CUT EXISTING 8" DIP EFFLUENT
PIPE, SET MANHOLE STRUCTURE AND
TIE-IN 8" EFFLUENT FROM CLARIFIERS.
(SEE DETAIL, SHEET D400)

8" DIP EFFLUENT LINE8" DIP EFFLUENT LINE

EXISTING 8" DIP DISCHARGE LINE

I.E = 667.0I.E = 667.0 I.E = 664.15

48" DIA. MANHOLE

S

2" DECANT LINE

TIE-IN TO EXISTING
DECANT DISCHARGE

TOP OF TANK
ELEV. = 672.00

PROPOSED GRADE

8" DIP
REPAIR

COUPLING

8" DIP MJ8" DIP MJ

I.E. = 665.97'

APPROX.FINISH GRADE
ELEV. = 669.90'

3' M
IN3' M
IN

CUT EXISTING 8" DIP DISCHARGE PIPE
AND TIE-IN 8" EFFLUENT FROM CLARIFIER
WITHIN 48" STRUCTURE.

I.E. = 664.20'

8" DIP INFLUENT

14
.5

"

NOTE:
1. CONTRACTOR TO FIELD VERIFY LOCATION

AND ELEVATION OF EXISTING 8" DIP EFFLUENT
LINE PRIOR TO INSTALLATION OF NEW PIPING
FROM CLARIFIER.

2. CONTRACTOR TO SUPPORT EX. 8" DIP
EFFLUENT PIPE AS NECESSARY TO INSTALL
NEW INFLUENT LINE UNDERNEATH.

EFFLUENT CONNECTION MANHOLE.
(SEE DETAIL SHEET D400)

TIE-IN TO EX. 2-INCH
DECANT DISCHARGE

2-INCH DECANT
DISCHARGE

3' TY
P

BLUEBOARD
IF NEEDED

CO
NS

UL
TA

NT
S

C
:\U

S
E

R
S

\A
A

R
O

N
N

O
R

D
M

A
N

\P
E

R
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E

 E
N

G
IN

E
E

R
S

\P
E

R
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E

 E
N

G
IN

E
E

R
S

 - 
P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\6

03
6\

D
R

A
W

IN
G

S
\6

03
6 

S
IT

E
.D

W
G

 - 
4 

C
30

1_
S

IT
E

 P
LA

N
 - 

P
LO

TT
E

D
 1

0/
13

/2
02

5 
1:

16
 P

M
 B

Y 
A

A
R

O
N

 N
O

R
D

M
A

N

A

B

C

D
D

C

B

A

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

SHEET TITLE

SHEET OF

PROJECT NO:

CAD DWG FILE:

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

SEAL

O
W

NE
R

C
O

P
YR

IG
H

T:
 P

E
R

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E
 E

N
G

IN
E

E
R

S
, I

N
C

 2
02

3

TU
SC

AR
O

RA
 T

O
W

NS
HI

P

W
W

TP
 E

XP
AN

SI
O

N
46

49
 B

RU
DY

 R
D.

IN
DI

AN
 R

IV
ER

, M
I 4

97
49

TU
SC

AR
O

RA
 T

O
W

NS
HI

P
CH

EB
O

YG
AN

 C
O

UN
TY

, M
IC

HI
G

AN

23-6036
6036 SITE.DWG
PEI
AEN

SITE PLAN

C301
4 35

40
6 

P
et

o
sk

ey
 A

ve
n

u
e

C
h

ar
le

vo
ix

, M
ic

h
ig

an
 4

97
20

P
h

o
n

e:
 (

23
1)

 5
47

-2
12

1
F

ax
: 

(2
31

) 
54

7-
00

84

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

n
g

in
ee

rs
, I

n
c.

w
w

w
.p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
en

g
.c

o
m

C
iv

il 
/ S

tr
u

ct
u

ra
l E

n
g

in
ee

ri
n

g

1":20'

SITE PLAN LAYOUT

A
er

o 
- M

od
, I

nc
.

M
an

ha
tta

n,
 K

an
sa

s 
66

50
2

79
27

 U
.S

. H
ig

hw
ay

 2
4

(7
85

) 5
37

-0
81

3
PH

O
N

E:
 (7

85
) 5

37
-4

99
5

FA
X:

SITE INFORMATION

0 20' 40'

GRAPHIC SCALE

EXISTING RIBs TO REMAIN
(190,000 GPD)

NEW EQUALIZATION/SURGE
TANK (150,000 GAL)

NEW AEROMOD
TREATMENT TANKS
(95,000 GPD CAPACITY)

8-INCH DIP TO NEW
FERMENTATION TANK

EXISTING TREATMENT TO
REMAIN IN SERVICE
(95,000 GPD CAPACITY)

CONNECT NEW DISCHARGE
PIPING TO EX. DISCHARGE PIPE

(SEE DETAIL, THIS SHEET)

INSTALL GRAVEL
ACCESS DRIVE SEE
DETAIL SHEET C200

ASPHALT

1. THE EXISTING WWTP WILL REMAIN OPERATIONAL DURING THE PROPOSED
CONSTRUCTION.  CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE WITH OPERATOR FOR ALL
ACTIVITIES THAT MAY IMPACT ACCESS TO THE EXISTING FACILITY, EQUIPMENT,
AND/OR UTILITY DISRUPTIONS.

2. THE SITE IS SECURED WITH FENCING AND GATED ACCESS.  CONTRACTOR SHALL
PROTECT THESE STRUCTURES DURING THE CONSTRUCTION.  SITE SHALL NOT
BE LEFT UNSECURED.

3. THE CONSTRUCTION INCLUDES AN APPROXIMATE DOUBLING OF THE
TREATMENT PLANT CAPACITY AND TANKS.  THE SAME AEROMOD TECHNOLOGY
WILL BE USED FOR THE NEW EXPANSION.

4. THE CONSTRUCTION INCLUDES A NEW 150,000 GAL SIDE-LINE SURGE TANK AS
PART OF THE PLANT EXPANSION.

5. THE CONSTRUCTION WILL INCLUDE HEADWORKS IMPROVEMENTS IN TWO
PHASES.  THE FIRST PHASE INCLUDES REPLACEMENT OF THE EXISTING
MECHANICAL FINE SCREEN WITHIN THE EXISTING FLOW CHANNEL FOOTPRINT.

6. THE SECOND PHASE INVOLVES A BUILDING ADDITION TO EXTEND THE GABLE
END BY 12' WESTERLY TO CREATE A NEW CHEMICAL STORAGE AREA AND A
GENERAL STORAGE AREA.  UPON COMPLETION OF THE BUILDING ADDITION, THE
CHEMICAL STORAGE WILL BE RELOCATED.

7. THE CONSTRUCTION INCLUDES A NEW 150,000 GAL SIDE-LINE SURGE TANK AS
PART OF THE PLANT EXPANSION.

8. THE EXISTING RIBs WILL REMAIN IN THE EXISTING CONFIGURATION.

FLOW CONTROL
STRUCTURE
(SEE DETAIL,

SHT. D400)

REPLACEMENT
MONITORING WELL
MW-6A

(TYP.) NEW POLE
MOUNTED LIGHTING
W/ OUTLET AT BASE

CONDUIT FOR PNEUMATIC
LINES TO JUNCTION BOX

(SEE SHEET C310)

CONC.
SIDEWALK

12'x28'
BUILDING
ADDITION

T.W. 672.0'
B.W. 670.5'

T.W. 672.0'
B.W. 670.5'

T.W. 672.0'
B.W. 670.0'

T.W. 672.0'
B.W. 669.5'

T.W. 672.0'
B.W. 669.0'

T.W. 672.0'
B.W. 669.5'

12'

669.25'

1":5'

EFFLUENT TIE-IN DETAIL

NORTH

N
O

R
T
H

1":5'

EFFLUENT TIE-IN SECTION

EXISTING 8" DIP EFFLUENT
LINE AT 0.75%

T.W. 672.0'
B.W. 670.0'

8" DIP INFLUENT LINE

AIRLINE CONDUIT

CUT TEE INTO EX. 8-INCH
GALV. AIR SUPPLY FROM
BLOWERS

8-INCH GALV. AIR SUPPLY
FROM BLOWER TO TANK

(SEE SHEET C306)

NOTES:

1. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD VERIFY THE LOCATION, DEPTH
AND ORIENTATION OF ALL EXISTING PIPING THAT REQUIRES
CONNECTION.  ENGINEER SHALL BE NOTIFIED OF ANY
DISCREPANCIES PRIOR TO PROGRESSING WITH THE WORK.

2. CONNECTION TO EXISTING AIR SUPPLY FROM BLOWER WILL
REQUIRE DISRUPTION TO THE EXISTING PLANT AIR SUPPLY.
CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE THIS WORK WITH ENGINEER
AND PLANT OPERATOR TO MINIMIZE DISRUPTION.  IT IS
ANTICIPATED THAT THIS WORK WILL REQUIRE A SHUTDOWN OF
THE EXISTING PLANT AIR SUPPLY FOR NOT MORE THAN 8
HOURS.

3. CONNECTION TO THE EXISTING INFLUENT LINE FROM SCREEN
ROOM WILL REQUIRE DISRUPTION TO THE EXISTING PLANT
FLOW.  THIS WORK MAY REQUIRE WORK OUTSIDE OF NORMAL
BUSINESS HOURS AND COORDINATION WITH THE OPERATOR TO
SHUTDOWN AND MONITOR DOWNSTREAM LIFT STATIONS.

4. THE GRAVITY DIP PIPING SHALL BE LOW-PRESSURE AIR TESTED
IN ACCORDANCE WITH ASTM C924 AND APPLICABLE PORTIONS
OF SECTION 6.03.M OF THE PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS.  NOTE
THAT THE INFLUENT LINE HAS A SUBMERGENCE, WHICH MUST
BE ADDED TO THE TEST PRESSURE.

5. CONCRETE SLAB ON WEST SIDE OF NEW TANK AND ALL
WALKWAY ACCESSES AROUND THE TANK SHALL BE PROVIDED
WITH A CONCRETE SIDEWALK WITH INTEGRAL CURB, SEE
DETAIL, SHT. C200, A4.

6'x40' CONC.

6'x5' CONC.

6'x3' CONC.

6'x5' CONC.

M
A

R
K

D
A

TE
D

E
S

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

0
7/

28
/2

3
PE

RM
IT

 S
UB

M
IT

TA
L

1
1/

5/
24

RE
VI

SE
D 

PE
R 

EG
LE

 R
EV

IE
W

2
1/

26
/2

4
BI

D 
IS

SU
E

3
1/

31
/2

4
AD

DE
ND

UM
 1

4
8/

12
/2

4
CO

NS
TR

UC
TI

O
N 

SE
T

5
4/

25
/2

5
BU

IL
DI

NG
 A

DD
IT

IO
N

31
'

47.75'

11'x14' ADDITION
CUT & CAP EX.,
CONNECT NEW
DECANT ROUTE

CUT & CAP EX.,
CONNECT NEW
DECANT ROUTE

200' OF 2" PVC, SCHD40
DECANT DISCHARGE
(36" MIN DEPTH GREEN
SPACE, 60" MIN. DEPTH
UNDER ROADWAYS)

CONNECT TO EX.
DECANT DISCHARGE

CONNECT TO EX.
DECANT DISCHARGE

200' OF 2" PVC, SCHD40
DECANT DISCHARGE
(36" MIN DEPTH GREEN
SPACE, 60" MIN. DEPTH
UNDER ROADWAYS)



 

 

 

 

DATE OF MEETING: November 11, 2025 
 
TITLE: NorthStar Proposed Road Abandonment 

SUMMARY:  NorthStar has requested road abandonment of the last 530’ of Sturgeon 
Avenue/Old Trail Lane.  

FINANCIAL IMPACT: TBD   

RECOMMENDATION: Discuss. 

PREPARED BY:   Supervisor 

DEPT/BOARD/COMMISSION: Board of Trustees 

ATTACHMENTS:   Site plan, email w/ proposed resolution language, Cheboygan County 
Zoning Ordinance for parking (link: https://www.cheboygancounty.net/wp-
content/uploads/2021/06/fs06-1554120602-89906.pdf 

 

https://www.cheboygancounty.net/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/fs06-1554120602-89906.pdf
https://www.cheboygancounty.net/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/fs06-1554120602-89906.pdf


S
I
T
E 
P
L
A
N R

E
V
I
E
W AP

P
L
I
C
A
T
I
O
N

CHEBOYGAN COUNTY

PLANNING & ZONING DEPARTMENT

870 S. MAIN ST., RM. 103 PO Box 70 CHEBOYGAN, MI 49721

PHONE: (231)627-8489 FAX: (231)627-3646

PROPERTY LOCATION

Address

4148 S. Straits Highway

Property Tax I.D. Number

161-025-200-001-00

APPLICANT

Jeff Jakeway

Address

4104 S. Straits Highway

OWNER (If different from applicant)

Name

Address

City/Village

Indian River

Plat or Condo Name /Lot or Unit No.

City, State & Zip

Indian River MI 49749

Twp/Sec.

Tuscarora, 25

Zoning District

D-CM

P-LS

Telephone

231-420-2651

Fax

E-Mail

jeff@northstargardens.com

Telephone Fax

City, State & Zip E-Mail

PROPOSED WORK

Type (check all that apply) Building/Sign Information See Typical detached motel

☑New Building Reconstruction Overall Length:
unit plans feet

Addition Relocated Building
Overall Width: feet

Floor Area:
Change in Use or
Additional Use

Sign, Typе: sq. feet

other: Overall Building Height: feet

Sign Area: sq. feet

Sign Height feet

PROPOSED USE (check all that apply)

Single-Family Residence Expansion /Addition Office Agricultural

Duplex Garage or Accessory Commercial Institutional

Multi-Family, # of units _ Storage Industrial Utility

Other: Motel

Has there been a Site Plan or Special Use Permit approved for this parcel before? ☐ YES ☑ NO

If YES, date of approval: Approved Use:

300' South of intersection of Barbara Ave. and S. Straits Highway on North
Directions to site: side of river and west side of S. Straits Highway, then 175' NW



S
I
T
E P

L
A
N R

E
V
I
E
W AP

P
L
I
C
A
T
I
O
N

СHЕBOYGAN COUNTY

PLANNING & ZONING DEPARTMENT

870 S. MAIN ST., RM. 103 PO ВоX 70 CHEBOYGAN, MI 49721

PHONE: (231)627-8489 FAX: (231)627-3646

1. Describe all anticipated activities (e.g. type of business, hours of operation, number of employees, etc). Attach
additional sheets if needed.

12 detached motel rental units for short-term rental only

No on-site employees (managed by Northstar)

2. Site Plan Standards.

a.

PLEASE EXPLAIN HOW YOUR REQUEST MEETS EACH OF THE FOLLOWING STANDARDS

The site plan shall be designed so that there is a limited amount of change in the overall natural contours of

the site and shall minimize reshaping in favor of designing the project to respect existing features of the site
in relation to topography, the size and type of the lot, the character of adjoining property and the type and
size of buildings. The site shall be developed so as not to impede the normal and orderly development or
improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in this Ordinance.

Site design respects existing grades to extent possible.

b. The landscape shall be preserved in its natural state, insofar as practical, by minimizing tree and soil
removal, and by topographic modifications which result in smooth natural appearing slopes as opposed to

abrupt changes in grade between the project and adjacent areas.
Where possible, existing natural vegetation to be maintained. Applicant to install additional landscaping

c. Special attention shall be given to proper site drainage so that removal of storm waters will not adversely
affect neighboring properties.

d.

e.

f.

All stormwater to be collected on-site and filtered to remove sediment/oils before discharge to river

The site plan shall provide reasonable, visual and sound privacy for all dwelling units located therein. Fences,
walls, barriers and landscaping shall be used, as appropriate, for the protection and enhancement of property
and for the privacy of its occupants.
Natural buffer to residential use to east and owner to add additional landscaping

All buildings or groups of buildings should be so arranged as to permit emergency vehicle access by some
practical means.
Emergency vehicle circulation within site; secondary access to public road provided

Every structure or dwelling unit shall have access to a public street, walkway or other area dedicated to
common use.

Site has direct access to Old Trail Road (County public) and secondary access to S. Straits Highway

g. For subdivision plats and subdivision condominiums, there shall be a pedestrian circulation system as
approved by the Planning Commission.

h. Exterior lighting shall be arranged as follows:

yes
i. It is deflected away from adjacent properties.

ii. It does not impede the vision of traffic along adjacent streets. yes

iii. It does not unnecessarily illuminate night skies. yes



S
I
T
E 
P
L
A
N R

E
V
I
E
W AP

P
L
I
C
A
T
I
O
N

j.

CHEBOYGAN COUNTY

PLANNING & ZONING DEPARTMENT

870 S. MAIN ST., RM. 103 PO BoxX 70 СHEBOYGAN, MI 49721

PHONE: (231)627-8489 FAX: (231)627-3646

i. The arrangement of public or common ways for vehicular and pedestrian circulation shall respect the pattern
of existing or planned streets and pedestrian or bicycle pathways in the area. Streets and drives which are
part of an existing or planned street pattern which serves adjacent development shall be of a width

appropriate to the traffic volume they will carry and shall have a dedicated right-of-way equal to that specified
in the Master Plan.

See existing public roads and access points

Site plans shall conform to all applicable requirements of state and federal statutes and the Cheboygan

County Master Plan, and approval may be conditioned on the applicant receiving necessary state and federal
permits.

3. Size of property in sq. ft. or acres:

4. Present use of property: Vacant

1.60 acres

5. Does the proposed use of the property include or involve either:

Junk or salvage yard (Section 3.6) ☐ YES ☑ NO

• Mineral extraction (Section 17.17) ☐ YES ☑ NO

If YES, this application must include a written plan as described in the Zoning Ordinance.

6. Attach a copy of Warranty Deed or other proof of ownership.

7. Attach a copy of certified Property Survey or dimensioned property land plat.

AFFIDAVIT

The undersigned affirms that the information and plans submitted in this application are true and correct to the best of

the undersigned's knowledge.

David C. Drews
Applicant's Signature Date 8/27/25

Does the property owner give permission for County zoning officials to enter his or her property for inspection

purposes?

☑Yes No

Owner's Signature
8/27/25

Date



S
I
T
E P

L
A
N R

E
V
I
E
W AP

P
L
I
C
A
T
I
O
N

Date Received:

Fee Amount Received:

СHЕBOYGAN COUNTY

PLANNING & ZONING DEPARTMENT

870 S. MAIN ST., RM. 103 РО ВOX 70 CHEBOYGAN, MI 49721

PHONE: (231)627-8489 - FAX: (231)627-3646

Receipt Number:

Public Hearing Date:

Planning/Zoning Administrator Approval:

FOR PLANNING /ZONING DEPT. USE ONLY

Notes:

Signature Date



TROUT TOWN MOTEL UNITS SITE PLAN REQUIREMENT CHECKLIST
(TO BE SUBMITTED WITH APPLICATION AND SITE PLAN)

ALL ITEMS LISTED BELOW MUST BE SUBMITTED IN ORDER FOR THIS APPLICATION TO BE DEEMED COMPLETE. INCOMPLETE

APPLICATIONS WILL NOT BE REVIEWED OR PROCESSED. EACH SITE PLAN SHALL DEPICT THE ITEMS LISTED BELOW, EXCEPT

FOR THOSE ITEMS DETERMINED DURING THE PRE-APPLICATION CONFERENCE TO NOT BE APPLICABLE.

PLACE A CHECK MARK NEXT TO EACH REQUIREMENT TO SHOW THAT THE INFORMATION HAS BEEN SUPPLIED OR THAT A

WAIVER IS BEING REQUESTED. IF A WAIVER IS BEING REQUESTED PLEASE NOTE ON THE NEXT PAGE THE REASON FOR THE

WAIVER. SIGN AND DATE THIS CHECKLIST WHEN ALL ITEMS HAVE BEEN COMPLETED. PLEASE SUBMIT THIS CHECKLIST WITH

YOUR APPLICATION.

INFORMATION

SUPPLIED

WAIVER

REQUESTED

X

S
I
T
E P

L
A
N R

E
V
I
E
W AP

P
L
I
C
A
T
I
O
N

X

X

X

☑

X

X

☑

X

X

X

REQUIREMENT

a. North arrow, scale and date of original submittal and last revision. Site plan is to be
drawn at a scale of 1 inch = 100 ft. or less.

b. Seal of the registered engineer, architect, landscape architect, surveyor, planner, or
other site plan preparer. Location of proposed and/or existing property lines, dimensions,

legal descriptions, setback lines and monument locations.

c. Location of existing and proposed public roads, rights-of-way and private easements of

record and abutting streets.

d. Topography at maximum five foot intervals or appropriate topographic elevations to

accurately represent existing and proposed grades and drainage flows.

e. Location and elevations of existing water courses and water bodies, including county
drains and man-made surface drainage ways, stormwater controls, flood plains, and
wetlands.

f. Location of existing and proposed buildings and intended uses thereof.

g. Details of entryway and sign locations should be separately depicted with an elevation
view.

h. Location, design, and dimensions of existing and/or proposed curbing, barrier free

access, carports, parking areas (including indication of all spaces and method of
surfacing), fire lanes and all lighting thereof.

i. Location, size, and characteristics of all loading and unloading areas.

j. Location and design of all sidewalks, walkways, bicycle paths and areas for public use as

approved by the Planning Commission.

k. Location of allother utilities on the site including but not limited to wells, septic systems,

stormwater controls, natural gas, electric, cable TV, telephone and steam and proposed

utility easements.

I. Proposed location, dimensions and details of common open spaces and common

facilities such as community buildings or swimming pools if applicable.



S
I
T
E P

L
A
N R

E
V
I
E
W AP

P
L
I
C
A
T
I
O
N

INFORMATION

SUPPLIED

WAIVER

REQUESTED

X

X

X 0.

X

X

X

X

SITE PLAN REQUIREMENT CHECKLIST
(TO BE SUBMITTED WITH APPLICATION AND SITE PLAN)

REQUIREMENT

m. Location and specifications for all fences, walls, and other screening features.

n. Location and specifications for all existing and proposed perimeter and internal
landscaping and other buffering features.

Exterior lighting locations with area of illumination illustrated as well as the type of
fixtures and shielding to be used.

p. Location, size and specifications for screening of all trash receptacles and other solid
waste disposal facilities.

q. Elevation drawing(s) for proposed commercial and industrial structures.

r. Location and specifications for any existing or proposed above or below ground storage
facilities for any chemicals, salts, flammable materials, or hazardous materials as well

s. Floor plans, when needed to determine the number of parking spaces required.

PLEASE LIST THE REQUIREMENT FOR WHICH A WAIVER IS BEING REQUESTED. ALSO PROVIDE AN EXPLANATION/REASON FOR

THE WAIVER REQUEST.

SECTION REASON FOR WAIVER REQUEST

g. Signage T.B.D. - Owner to submit at future date

n. Owner/Developer is a landscape company - T.B.D.

r. No on-site storage of hazardous materials proposed

AFFIDAVIT

I CERTIFY THAT ALL SITE PLAN REQUIREMENTS (A THROUGH S) ARE DRAWN ON THE SITE PLAN, ATTACHED TO THIS

APPLICATION AND/OR | AM REQUESTING A WAIVER. I CERTIFY THAT ALL INFORMATION AND DATA ATTACHED TO AND

MADE PART OF THIS SPECIAL LAND USE PERMIT APPLICATION ARE TRUE AND ACCURATE TO THE BEST OF MY

KNOWLEDGE.

David C. Drews President, NME

SIGNATURE

8/27/25

DATE



The Badlands
a luxurious recreational retreat

Fun FactThe Lakota originallycalled it "Mako Sica"or "Land that is Bad"
due to the weird weather
changes, lay out of theland and absenceof water.

Modern Stule

With its uniquely layered roof and different siding materials, The Badlands tiny home

gives off the same feeling as the beautiful Badlands National Park landscape. You can

watch the sunrise or host a BBQ on the large wrap around porch. Due to the uniquely

roof shape, the house opens up allowing for a large living room area and loft space.

For those of us who need that extra space for clothes, the master bedroom has a

sizable closet. There are 2 spacious bedrooms in the tiny home and an upstairs open

space room you can use for a cozy loft or even an office space.

Unique Features

• 400 sa. ft, 168 sq. ft loft

• 226 sq. ft deck

• Staircase leading to the loft area

•Main floor bedroom

• Second floor bedroom

• Bedroom closet storage

⚫Large wrap around porch

•Loft space

• Variety of exterior wall textures

• Open concept kitchen and living room

• "Spa" like bathroom with a walk in shower

•Multiple roof lines

•Patio doors leading to the porch area

• Ample outdoor lighting

and much more...

Plans and elevations may contain options

which are not standard on all models

Front View

Deck View

KOHLER GAF Pella Dow

MASONITE. Whirlpool ZIPsystem
TAPE

Dow Building Solutions C AMBRIA
OWENS

CORNINGORNING

SHERWIN
WILLIAMS. SCHLAGE

3123 S. Memorial Drive | Mt. Pleasant, WI 53403 | 101 Parr Avenue

P: 414.762.0950IF: 414. 762.0955
UTOPIANVILLAS

sales@utopian-villas.com | utopian-villas.com

| Spicewood, TX 78669

f ? RVIA
Rev. 01-22





















 

 

 

 

DATE OF MEETING: November 11, 2025 
 
TITLE: Sewer Ordinance, No. 28, Article 2.1b 

SUMMARY: Clarify the date of connection to the sewer main by property owners in Phase I 
and II.  

FINANCIAL IMPACT: TBD 

RECOMMENDATION: Discuss. 

PREPARED BY:   Supervisor 

DEPT/BOARD/COMMISSION: Board of Trustees 

ATTACHMENTS:   Ordinance No. 28. 













































DATE OF MEETING: November 11, 2025

TITLE: A/P Process

SUMMARY: Review the account payable process, responsibilities, checks/balances, post 
audit for prevention of late fees and interest.

FINANCIAL IMPACT: TBD 

RECOMMENDATION: Discuss. 

PREPARED BY: Trustee Hutchison 

DEPT/BOARD/COMMISSION: Board of Trustees 

ATTACHMENTS:  PNC cc statement 9-25-28



ffipNIBANK

Previous balance
Payment received

Purchases

Credits

Cash advances

Late and overlimit fees

Finance charges

Heceived
,d

ocT09 2025"t

,u$carora Townshrp

Business Card
Account #

Statement closing date
Hew balance

Total amount due
Due date

%

Freviourtotal
Earned thir period

xxxxxxxx xxxxaD
a9n$l2s

110,478.90

$391.00
10t24t25

6
**

Visa Signature' Businecs0ptionS Ca nd

iYour account summary

$6.781.48
$0.00

$3,664.90
$ 187.21

$0.00

$49.00

__ I1r!l:
$10,478.90

t67.00
$3z4.oo

Your 1187,21 reward has p6ted as a crrEdlt to
your statB next-

1132.24
*sa.sz

lssued this periad l1?7-?'!

-N€lJrr total - 10"00

Eam a 'l .5% cash rebate for wery purchase made on

your Businessoptions card'
Hew balance

Past due arnount - due now
Minimum payment

s
$
ffi

Total minimum Payment
Total amount due

Due date

Total credit limit
Total available credit
Carh advance available credit

139'1.00

s391.00

$ft{n5
$2s.000,00
114439.00
,6,2s0.00

Your rewardt summary

IRANS DATE

4928
0928

POsT DATE

09{78

09t28

REFERENCE NUMBER DESCRIPTION

IATE FEE

*FINANCE CHA86E'

AMOUNI

549.00

170.73

(continued on next page)

*pNcsANx
PO Box 1802
Dayton OH 454O'l

Account #
New balance
Total amount due

rccfi xxxxxxxdl)
110,478'90

$391.00s
6

i Orxk here if eddrers, phme tr *mail
*.. :ctrugcs ge irdk*ed on .sr3e 3rde

Due date 
'A'MENT 

ENcLosED 14124125

$
TUSCARORA TOWNSHIP
TUSCARORA TOWNSHIP
PO BOX 220
INDIAN RIVER MI 4974}0220

,, l1[sslll,,lllslll,,llll,llltl'lll,,p,glll,llLgl,llgltllllltl

55Zl

tl0z
Make check payable to:

PNC BANK
P0 Box 71335
Philadelphia PA 191 76-I335

lllllll,llllrr hllll;111lL111lg1ll,111lL1llrll1rll1lr',rrllllll

l

-t



VOUCHER NO

TUSCAROR

APPROVED BY THE STATE BOARD OF ACCOUNTS FOR THE TUSCAROM TOWNSHIP-2oo,1 City/Town Form 201/39 (Rev.1995)

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE VOUCHER PAGE: 1

3697 42WARRANT NO DATE ALLOWED 10 24 2025 IN THE SUM OF $

Mo, Day Yr

ORA TOWNSHIP

Payee PNC VISA

V W

VENDOR # OO78O

PNC VISA
316 N MAIN ST

CHEBOYGAN, MI 49721

Purchase Order No.

Terms

Due Date 1012412025

09t28t2025 09282025
09t28t2025 09282025
09128t2025 09282025
09t28t2025 09282025
09t28t2025 09282025
09t28t2025 09282025
09t28t2025 09282025
09t28t2025 09282025
09t28t2025 09282025
09t28t2025 09282025
09t28t2025 09282025
09t28t2025 09282025
09t28t2025 09282025
09t28t2025 09282025
09t28t2025 09282025
09t28t2025 09282025

207-301 -91 5.00
207-301-752.00
101-101-752.00
101-253-916.00
271-790-750 00
271-790-751.00
271-790-752.00
271-790-752.13
271-790-850 00
271 -790-880.00
271 -790-91 5.00
271-790-752.05
271 -790-933.00
271-790-754 00
1 01-1 01-809.00
207-301 -964.00

DUES AND MEMBERSHIPS
OPERATING SUPPLIES
TWP BD OFFICE SUPPLIES
TREASURER EDUCATION AND TRAINING
OFFICE SUPPLIES
MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES
BOOKS . ADULTS
CHILDREN BOOK
COMMUNICATIONS
COMMUNITY PROMOTION - PROGRAMMIN
MEMBERSHIP & DUES
YOUNG ADULT BOOKS
SOFTWARE MAINT AGREEMENT
COMPUTER AND TECHNOLOGY SUPPLIES
TWP BD FEES
REFUNDS AND REBATES

1 15.00
35 53

203 17
549.82
120.42
26 97

518.90
242.82

75.31
107.67

17 84
24.54
26.95

1,599.96
219.73
(73.60)

TUSCARORATOWNSHIP

Favor Of

PNC VISA

lotal Amount of Voucher
Deductions

s

Toirl Amorrnl of Warrani s

Month of

VOUCHER RECORD ACCT #

Total

I hereby certify that the attached invoice(s), or bill(s), is (are) true and correct and that the materials or services itemized theron for which charge is made
were ordered and received except

-To-avvr Signature Officer/Title

I hereby certify that the attached invoice(s), or bill(s), is (are) true and correct and I have audited same in accordance with lC 5-1 1 -1 0-1 .6.

Mo. Day Yr

Board/Council Members

Signature Officer/Title



APPROVED BY THE STATE BOARD OF ACCOUNTS FOR THE TUSCARORA TOWNSHIP-2.'1

VOUCHER NO,

TUSCARORA

WARRANT NO

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE VOUCHER

DATEALLOWED 1O 242025

Mo. Day Yr.

CityiTown Form 201/39 (Rev. 1995)

PAGE: 2

IN THE SUM OF $ 3697.42

TOWNSHIP

Payee PNC VISA

VENDOR # OOTBO

PNC VISA

316 N MAIN ST

CHEBOYGAN MI 49721

Purchase Order No.

Terms

Due Date 10t24t2025

09t28t202s
09t2812025
09t28t2025

09282025
norarnaa
09282025

1 01 -000-687.00
271-790-964.00
101-000-687 00

TUSCARORA TOWNSHIP

Favor Of

PNC VISA

otal Amount of Voucher
Deductions

$

Total Amount of Warrant $
Month of

I hereby certify that the attached invoice(s), or biil(s), is (are) true and correct and
were ordered and received except

REFUNDS/REBATES
REFUNDS AND REBATES
REFUNDS/REBATES

VOUCHER RECORD ACCT #

Total

that the materials or services itemized theron for which charge is made

Officer/Title

(1 2.55)
(6s 56)
(31 s0)

-To5ay Yl Signature

I hereby certifythatthe attached invoice(s), or bill(s), is (are) true and correct and I have audited same in accordance with lc 5-1 1-jo-1.6

-m.DE ll Signature

som

Officer/Title



VENDOR NO: OO78O

VENDOR NAME: PNC VISA

49128125 0?282025 V|SA CHARGE WrTH CLOSTNG OF 912812025

CHECK No: 368r ' 
03681 7

CHECK DATE: 1OI17I2O25

$3,697.42

Check Tolol: 53,697.42



DATE OF MEETING: November 11, 2025

TITLE: Election workers and rate of pay.

SUMMARY: Per MCL 168.28, twp board determines compensation to be paid to election 
workers.

FINANCIAL IMPACT: TBD 

RECOMMENDATION: Discuss. 

PREPARED BY: Clerk 

DEPT/BOARD/COMMISSION: Board of Trustees 

ATTACHMENTS:  None



DATE OF MEETING: November 11, 2025

TITLE: Office Coverage

SUMMARY: Coverage of the front office when Office Assistant is unavailable, decision to 
close the office for election.

FINANCIAL IMPACT: TBD 

RECOMMENDATION: Discuss. 

PREPARED BY:  Supervisor 

DEPT/BOARD/COMMISSION: Board of Trustees 

ATTACHMENTS:  None


	Insert from: "C694.pdf"
	Economic Development
	Plan for Success
	Example Goals for Economic Development
	Build Stronger and Better, Together : Key Participants
	Next Steps

	Insert from: "85E1.pdf"
	Cheboygan County Hazard Mitigation Plan Adoption Resolution

	Insert from: "bills.pdf"
	Slide 1
	Slide 2




